Learning Materials in Biosciences

Cornelia Kasper · Verena Charwat Antonina Lavrentieva *Editors*

Cell Culture Technology





Learning Materials in Biosciences

Learning Materials in Biosciences textbooks compactly and concisely discuss a specific biological, biomedical, biochemical, bioengineering or cell biologic topic. The textbooks in this series are based on lectures for upper-level undergraduates, master's and graduate students, presented and written by authoritative figures in the field at leading universities around the globe.

The titles are organized to guide the reader to a deeper understanding of the concepts covered.

Each textbook provides readers with fundamental insights into the subject and prepares them to independently pursue further thinking and research on the topic. Colored figures, step-by-step protocols and take-home messages offer an accessible approach to learning and understanding.

In addition to being designed to benefit students, Learning Materials textbooks represent a valuable tool for lecturers and teachers, helping them to prepare their own respective coursework.

Cornelia Kasper Verena Charwat Antonina Lavrentieva *Editors*

Cell Culture Technology



Editors Cornelia Kasper Department of Biotechnology University of Natural Resources & Life Sciences Vienna, Austria

Antonina Lavrentieva

Institute for Technical Chemistry Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover, Germany Verena Charwat Department of Biotechnology University of Natural Resources & Life Sciences Vienna, Austria

 ISSN 2509-6125
 ISSN 2509-6133
 (electronic)

 Learning Materials in Biosciences
 ISBN 978-3-319-74853-5
 ISBN 978-3-319-74854-2
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74854-2
 (eBook)
 (eBook)
 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018946536

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer International Publishing AG part of Springer Nature.

The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Cell culture technology has rapidly evolved over the past half century and thus cannot be "limited" any more to the classical fermentation and animal production cell line culture technologies. Nowadays, methods comprise also of modern 3D techniques for cell expansion and/or differentiation. The approaches for tissue engineering and cell-based therapies have woken the demand of cultivation strategies beyond standard cell culture methods. These include the development and establishment of suitable protocols for cultivating cells – especially primary cells – under physiological conditions.

This textbook is structured into 10 different chapters: brief history of the developments in mammalian cell culture technology until today including stem cell cultivation; introduction to relevant equipment and consumable materials as well as standard techniques used in cell culture labs; outline on requirements, developments, and current status in media design; summary of tumor cell line and tissue cultivation; introduction of 3D culture techniques for tissue engineering and cell-based testing systems; overview on relevant biomaterials and their characteristics; demonstration of mechanisms and effects involved in cell-surface interaction; definition and discussion on physiological conditions with focus on oxygen in cell culture procedures; overview on different co-culture systems; and an introduction to suitable strategies for automation of cell culture procedures.

This textbook is a unique collection of chapters relevant for modern cell culture technology, providing an excellent overview of the "essentials" and the current paradigms, as well as insights into relevant methods underlying modern cell culture technology. The chapters are based on lectures and teaching material of the authoring teams, thus making the textbook excellently suitable for teaching and to support bachelor, master, and doctoral theses.

Notwithstanding, if the reader already has experience in mammalian cell culture, or he or she is a novice to this field, this book will be a valuable reading, which will deepen knowledge and expand the understanding how modern cell culture works.

We thank all authors of this book who in addition to their daily chores and academic work helped us with their brilliant and outstanding contributions.

Antonina Lavrentieva Hannover, Germany

Cornelia Kasper Vienna, Austria June 2018

Contents

1	Cell Culture Bioprocess Technology: Biologics and Beyond Sofie O'Brien, Yonsil Park, Samira Azarin, and Wei-Shou Hu	1
2	Essentials in Cell Culture	23
	Antonina Lavrentieva	
3	Cell Culture Media	49
	Reinhard Henschler	
4	Establishment of Tumor Cell Lines: From Primary Tumor Cells to a Tumor Cell Line	61
	Katharina Meditz and Beate Rinner	
5	The Third Dimension in Cell Culture: From 2D to 3D Culture Formats Verena Charwat and Dominik Egger	75
6	Biomaterials Rainer Detsch, Julia Will, Jasmin Hum, Judith A. Roether, and Aldo R. Boccaccini	91
7	Cell–Surface Interactions Megan Livingston and F. Kurtis Kasper	107
8	Mimicking Physiological Oxygen in Cell Cultures Nicholas R. Forsyth, Rachel Steeg, Muhammad Ahmad, Mohammed Al Zubaidi, Rakad Al-Jumaily, Marwan Merkhan, and Tina Dale	129
9	Co-cultures	139
	Roland Jacobs and Ralf Hass	
10	Automation of Cell Culture Processes	155
	Jan Hansmann, Ivo Schwedhelm, Andreas Clementi, Dominik Egger, and Cornelia Kasper	

Contributors

Muhammad Ahmad

Guy Hilton Research Centre Institute of Science and Technology in Medicine Keele University, Stoke on Trent, UK moh1977729@gmail.com

Mohammed Al Zubaidi

Guy Hilton Research Centre, Institute of Science and Technology in Medicine Keele University Stoke on Trent, UK mohmsc82@gmail.com

Rakad Al-Jumaily

Guy Hilton Research Centre, Institute of Science and Technology in Medicine Keele University Stoke on Trent, UK r.m.al-jumaily@keele.ac.uk

Samira Azarin

Department of Chemical Engineering and Materials Science University of Minnesota Minneapolis, MN, USA azarin@umn.edu

Aldo R. Boccaccini

Institute of Biomaterials, Department of Materials Science and Engineering University of Erlangen-Nuremberg Erlangen, Germany aldo.boccaccini@ww.uni-erlangen.de

Verena Charwat

Department of Biotechnology, University of Natural Resources & Life Sciences Vienna, Austria verena.charwat@boku.ac.at

Andreas Clementi

Department of Biotechnology, University of Natural Resources and Life Science Vienna, Austria andreas.clementi@boku.ac.at

Tina Dale

Guy Hilton Research Centre, Institute of Science and Technology in Medicine, Keele University Stoke on Trent, UK t.p.dale@keele.ac.uk

Rainer Detsch

Institute of Biomaterials, Department of Materials Science and Engineering University of Erlangen-Nuremberg Erlangen, Germany rainer.detsch@fau.de

Dominik Egger

Department of Biotechnology, University of Natural Resources and Life Science Vienna, Austria dominik.egger@boku.ac.at

Nicholas R. Forsyth

Guy Hilton Research Centre, Institute of Science and Technology in Medicine, Keele University Stoke on Trent, UK n.r.forsyth@keele.ac.uk

Jan Hansmann

Department Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine (TERM) University Hospital Wuerzburg Wuerzburg, Germany jasmin.hum@fau.de

Ralf Hass

Biochemistry and Tumor Biology Lab, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Hannover Medical School Hannover, Germany Hass.ralf@mh-hannover.de

Contributors

Reinhard Henschler

Blood Transfusion Services SRC Zürich/Chur, Switzerland reinhard.henschler@blutspende-gr.ch

Wei-Shou Hu

Department of Chemical Engineering and Materials Science, University of Minnesota Minneapolis, MN, USA wshu@umn.edu

Jasmin Hum

Institute of Biomaterials, Department of Materials Science and Engineering University of Erlangen-Nuremberg Erlangen, Germany jasmin.hum@fau.de

Roland Jacobs

Department of Clinical Immunology and Rheumatology, Hannover Medical School Hannover, Germany Jacobs.Roland@mh-hannover.de

Cornelia Kasper

Department of Biotechnology, University of Natural Resources and Life Science Vienna, Austria cornelia.kasper@boku.ac.at

F. Kurtis Kasper

Department of Orthodontics, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston School of Dentistry Houston, TX, USA Fred.K.Kasper@uth.tmc.edu

Antonina Lavrentieva

Institute of Technical Chemistry Leibniz University Hannover Hannover, Germany Lavrentieva@iftc.uni-hannover.de

Megan Livingston

Department of Orthodontics, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, School of Dentistry Houston, TX, USA Megan.Livingston@uth.tmc.edu

Katharina Meditz

Division of Biological Research Medical University of Graz Graz, Austria katharina.meditz@medunigraz.at

Marwan Merkhan

Guy Hilton Research Centre, Institute of Science and Technology in Medicine, Keele University Stoke on Trent, UK merkhanmarwan@yahoo.com

Sofie O'Brien

Department of Chemical Engineering and Materials Science, University of Minnesota Minneapolis, MN, USA bluvs002@umn.edu

Yonsil Park

Department of Chemical Engineering and Materials Science, University of Minnesota Minneapolis, MN, USA yonsil.park@gmail.com

Beate Rinner

Division of Biological Research Medical University of Graz Graz, Austria

Division of Biomedical Research, Core Facility Alternative Biomodels and Preclinical Imaging Graz, Austria beate.rinner@medunigraz.at

Judith A. Roether

Institute of Biomaterials, Department of Materials Science and Engineering University of Erlangen-Nuremberg Erlangen, Germany judith.roether@fau.de

Ivo Schwedhelm

Department Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine (TERM) University Hospital Wuerzburg Wuerzburg, Germany ivo.schwedhelm@uni-wuerzburg.de

Rachel Steeg

Guy Hilton Research Centre, Institute of Science and Technology in Medicine, Keele University Stoke on Trent, UK rainer.detsch@fau.de

Julia Will

Institute of Biomaterials, Department of Materials Science and Engineering University of Erlangen-Nuremberg Erlangen, Germany julia.will@fau.de

Abbreviations

AFM	Atomic force microscopy	EPO	Erythropoietin
AIA	Activation-induced apoptosis	ESCs	Embryonic stem cells
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	ETO	Ethylene oxide
APCs	Antigen-presenting cells		
Asn	Asparagine	FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
ATMPs	Advanced therapy medicinal	FAD	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
	products	FBS	Fetal bovine serum
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate	FDA	Food and Drug Administration
		FEM	Finite element method
BAL	Bioartificial liver	FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
BG	Bioactive glasses	FLIM	Fluorescence lifetime imaging
ВНК	Baby hamster kidney		microscopy
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein	FMD	Foot-and-mouth disease
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine	FRET	Förster resonance energy transfer
CAD	Computer-aided design	G6PD	Glucose-6-phosphate
CAR-T cells	Chimeric antigen receptor T cells		dehydrogenase
CD	Cluster of differentiation	G-CSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl		factor
	ester	GCP	Good clinical practice
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide	GFP	Green fluorescent protein
CoC	Ceramic-on-ceramic	GMP	Good manufacturing practice
CFU	Colony forming units	GOI	Gene of interest
СНО	Chinese hamster vary	GVHD	Graft-versus-host disease
μCT/nCT	Micro-/nano-computer tomography	ЦА	Hudrovycopatito
			Hank's buffered salt solution
DAPI	4′,6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole		4 (2 Hydrovyothyl) 1 pipera
DHFR	Dihydrofolatreduktase	HEPES	zineethanesulfonic acid
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium	HFB	Hollow fiber bioreactors
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide	HPV	Human papilloma virus
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	HPI	Human platelet lysate
rDNA	Recombinant DNA	HSCs	Hematopoietic stem cells
DO	Dissolved oxygen	11505	hematopoletic stem cells
DPN	Diphosphopyridine nucleotide	ICM	Inner cell mass
ED\/	Epstein Parryirus	IL	Intraluminal
		iPSCs	Induced pluripotent stem cells
	Extracenular matrix	IMDM	Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's
EDIA	Ethylehediaminetetraacetic acid		Medium
EL	Extra-luminal	ITS	Insulin-transferrin-sodium selenite
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent		
EMEM	Eagle's Minimum Eccontial Modium	LC-MS	Liquid chromatography–mass
			spectrometry
CPI	Epipiast	LCL	Lymphoblastoid cell lines

LCST	Lower critical solution	PSCs	Pluripotent stem cells
LDH	Lactate debydrogenase	tPA	lissue plasminogen activator
LUIT		РММА	Poly(methyl methacrylate)
Mab	Monoclonal antibody	PVC	Polyvinyl chloride
MACS	Magnetic bead-associated cell sorting	RNA	Ribonucleic acid
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts	RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex	SCID	Severe combined immunodeficient
MLC	Mixed lymphocyte culture	SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
MLR	Mixed lymphocyte reaction	SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
МоМ	Metal-on-metal	Ser	Serine
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging	scFv	Single-chain variable fragment
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells,	SCF	Stem cell factor
	mesenchymal stromal cells	STR	Short tandem repeat
MTT	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)- 2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide	ТАА	Tumor-associated antigen
NIZ	Natural killor	ТСР	Tricalcium phosphate
NSCo	Noural stom colls	TE	Tissue engineering
NOCS	Neural stem cens	hTERT	Human telomerase reverse
0 ₂	Oxygen	TGE	Transforming growth factor
OCTGT	Office of Cellular, Tissue, and	TME	Tumor microenvironment
	Gene Therapies		Triphosphopyridine pucleotide
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell	TPO	Thrombonoietin
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline	no	monoopoletin
PE	Polyethylene	UV	Ultraviolet
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2		
PGM	Phosphoglucomutase	VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth
PID controller	Proportional-integral-derivative controller		factor
PrE	Primitive endoderm	WST	Water soluble tetrazolium
PI	Propidium iodide	7AAD	7-Aminoactinomycin
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction	2D	Two-dimensional
PS	Polystyrene	3D	Three-dimensional



Cell Culture Bioprocess Technology: Biologics and Beyond

Sofie O'Brien, Yonsil Park, Samira Azarin, and Wei-Shou Hu

1.1	Cell Culture: A looi for Science – 2
1.1.1	The Making of Cells as a Scientific Tool – 2
1.1.2	Normal Cells, Senescence, and Differentiation – 4
1.1.3	Differentiated Cell Lines – 4
1.1.4	Generating Continuous Cell Lines by Genetic Manipulation – 5
1.1.5	Industrial Cell Culture – 5
1.1.6	Animal Cell Culture in the rDNA Era – 6
1.2	Cell Culture Bioprocess Technology – 6
1.2.1	Construction of the Production Cell Line – 6
1.2.2	Process Engineering of Cell Culture – 7
1.2.3	Cell Culture Biomanufacturing – 10
1.3	Functional Cell Lines – 11
1.3.1	Stem Cells – 11
1.4	Emerging Technology Enabling Regenerative Medicine – 13
1.4.1	Tissue Engineering – 13
1.4.2	Cell Therapy – 14
1.5	Engineering Challenges/NextGen Biomanufacturing – 15
1.5.1	Process Technology for Protein and Viral Biologics – 15
1.5.2	Emerging Cell Therapeutics – 15
1.5.3	Cells and Biomaterials – 16
1.6	Concluding Remarks – 17
	References – 17

1

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

Scientists have been growing vertebrate cells in culture for over a century. Initially, this cell culture involved placing tissues isolated from animals in a nutrient solution for observation. Eventually, some cells grew out from the tissue explant and began to form cell layers. Over the years, scientists developed a better understanding of the nutritional requirements of cells, established methods to isolate them from tissues and to propagate them, and acquired the ability to use them as tools for conducting research to develop new knowledge on cells and organisms. Ultimately, we learned ways to use them to produce vaccines and medicines.

Cells isolated from human tissues or differentiated from human stem cells are poised to treat organ dysfunctions, repair tissues, and fight cancers. In modern science, various stem cells and differentiated cells, like nerve cells, T cells, and natural killer cells, are isolated, expanded—even genetically modified—and used to treat diseases in patients. Cells are not only major tools of scientific inquiries, but also mediators of medical technology. Animal cells are now used to produce over US \$100 bn of therapeutic proteins and viral vaccines.

In this chapter, you will learn how cell culture progressed from a scientist's tool to a major technological medium for manufacturing. You will also learn how a new generation of cell-based therapy is emerging to potentially transform medical technology.

1.1 Cell Culture: A Tool for Science

1.1.1 The Making of Cells as a Scientific Tool

Like any other science, at its beginning cell culture was almost like an art; the skill of practicing it relied much on scientific intuition, experience, inquisitiveness, and perseverance. The cultivation of animal cells originated as tissue culture around the turn of the last century, when an explant of tissue was submerged in the tissue fluid of another animal. As some cells began to grow out of the tissue clump onto the culture surface, one could observe cell behavior for a few days. Subsequently, some cells were isolated and continued to divide for a small number of generations. These primary cells did not grow in culture for long [24]. By the 1930s, scientists were isolating cells of different differentiation lineages, like nerve fibers, fibroblasts, etc. Figure 1.1 depicts a timeline of the discovery of important cell lines and technologies.

The short duration that primary cells isolated from tissue were maintainable in the lab limited their use in research. By dissecting the cells after they had grown out of a tissue explant on a dish, some cells could be transferred to a new glass surface to grow further. Using this technique, continuous cell lines, among the first of them the mouse L cell [17], were maintained in culture.

Maintaining these early cell lines required continuous passaging. At that time, cells were grown in a balanced salt solution supplemented with serum, ascitic fluid, and chicken embryo extract [63]. To supply the cell culture medium, animal tissue fluid had to be isolated regularly since no microfiltration membrane for medium sterilization was yet available. Imagine the difficulty of maintaining those cultured cells contamination-free! Then came the use of trypsin to dissociate cells from the surface, and trypsin thus replaced dissection as the means of passaging cells, relieving scientists from many lab routines in maintaining cells. The first human cell line, HeLa, was derived from human cervical cancer but still had to be continuously propagated in culture in order to be maintained in the lab [19, 63].

2





With the ability to passage and expand the cell population, scientists grew interested in studying the cell's nutritional requirements. However, since the beginning of cell culture, autoclaving has been used for sterilizing any liquid, supplies, and equipment. Besides salt solutions, the other components, including tissue fluid nutrient mixtures, could not be easily sterilized because they were heat labile. The commercialization of nitrocellulose membranes for ultrafiltration allowed complex nutrient mixtures to be sterilized by membrane filtration and contributed to the advances in cell research. The development of a chemical nutrient medium consisting of glucose, amino acids, vitamins, and balanced salts in 1955 reduced the burden of isolating tissue fluids [16]. Instead of containing >50% serum or tissue fluids, cell culture medium became >80% basal chemical medium. Another important facilitator of cell culture was the development of cryopreservation. The discovery that animal sperm could be preserved at -79 °C using glycerol as the cryoprotectant [71] led to its use in preserving cultured cells. This alleviated the need for continuous passaging of cells in culture, allowing more researchers to employ cells as a research tool.

1.1.2 Normal Cells, Senescence, and Differentiation

The first established cell lines, e.g., mouse L and HeLa, were derived from cancerous tissues. Efforts to derive cell lines from normal tissues had lagged because those cells underwent senescence. For example, fibroblasts could grow out of chicken embryos and proliferate in culture but quickly lost growth potential after a number of passages. By continuously passaging fibroblasts isolated from a mouse embryo, an apparently normal cell line, 3T3, was derived [80]. 3T3 cells are phenotypically normal and exhibit adhesion dependence and contact inhibition. They do not undergo senescence, but their karyotype is aneuploid, not diploid. Many cell lines from various animal tissues were subsequently isolated, including baby hamster kidney (BHK) [39], Vero [90], and Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) [57], from Syrian hamster, green monkey kidney, and Chinese hamster, respectively. However, unlike 3T3 cells, those cells are not phenotypically normal, and many do not exhibit contact inhibition, nor are they diploidic.

Around the same time, a phenotypically normal human fibroblastic cell strain, WI38, was isolated [26]. These cells were diploid, exhibited contact inhibition, and were anchorage-dependent. But they were not a continuous cell line like 3T3. They underwent senescence after ~40 subculturings. This observation led to what is known as the Hayflick phenomenon, in which normal diploid cells undergo only a limited number of cell divisions before they cease to divide. An exception to the Hayflick limit would not be seen until the isolation of stem cells. Subsequent isolation of primary cell lines MRC-5 [28] and FS4 [85] led to their use for viral vaccine and interferon production, respectively. MRC-5 cells are still used in the manufacturing of many viral vaccines today.

1.1.3 Differentiated Cell Lines

Following HeLa cells, more human cells were isolated from normal or cancerous differentiated tissues. Some cell lines still carried the phenotypic characteristics of the tissue that they were derived from. HepG2 cells derived from hepatocellular carcinoma express many liver markers and secrete albumin [1]. Jurkat cells, a human T lymphocyte cell line isolated from leukemia, express specific markers of T cells such as CD3, CD4, and CD45 [64]. PC12, isolated from a pheochromocytoma of the rat adrenal medulla, can be induced to form dendrites in culture [21]. These and other differentiated cell lines became valuable tools for biomedical research.

Some cell lines can undergo differentiation in vitro when they are exposed to appropriate signals. For example, a subclone of 3T3 cells, designated 3T3-L1, can be induced to differentiate into adipocytes [20]. These cell lines heralded the idea of employing differentiated cells for in vitro testing and eventually for therapy.

1.1.4 Generating Continuous Cell Lines by Genetic Manipulation

Cell lines were also generated by genetic modification to give them immortality. The HEK293 cell line was derived from human embryonic kidney cells by introducing the adenovirus type 5E1 DNA [62]. The simian virus 40 large T antigen (SV40 Tag) and human papillomavirus 16 (HPV16) E6/E7 were used to derive many different cell types such as duct epithelial cells, hepatocytes, and epidermoid carcinoma cells [33, 58]. Human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) was overexpressed to derive cell lines by countering the loss of telomerase. These cells retained a stable genotype and critical phenotypic markers, more closely mimicking the physiology of cells in vivo [38, 43, 75].

Immortalized cells enriched the repertoire of cell lines for biomedical research. Some are used in biomanufacturing. HEK293 cells are used for the commercial production of protein C and are also used in the production of adeno-associated virus for gene therapy [12]. They are also the favorite cell line for transient gene expression in the biotech industry for obtaining an investigation quantity of proteins. However, in terms of differentiated functions, the cell lines, whether they are immortalized or derived from tissues, are less biologically relevant because many of the key characteristics of the original tissue are not retained. For example, key cytochrome P450 enzymes are expressed only at very low levels in HepG2 and other hepatoma cell lines, even though they secrete albumin and other liver proteins [61]. In the subsequent era of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, the cells of choice became stem cells or other primary cells as will be discussed later in this chapter.

1.1.5 Industrial Cell Culture

1.1.5.1 Cell Culture Processes in Classical Industrial Biotechnology

From its beginning, cell culture research was purposeful, with possible applications in mind. Initial cell isolation was partly for observing tumors and malignancy. Soon after their isolation, HeLa cells were used to study the replication of polio virus [63]. Some viral vaccines had been traditionally grown in animals or in chicken embryos within the egg. By the 1940s, foot-and-mouth disease (FMD) virus was produced using primary calf kidney cells [76]. So were many other viral vaccines being produced in primary cells derived from animal tissues, including the polio vaccines in the 1950s [4]. Once scientists started to grow continuous cell lines and serially passage them in culture, vaccines also began to be produced in roller bottles using continuous cell lines, including BHK cells for FMD [49] and Vero cells for polio [34].

In addition to virus production, many differentiated cells are capable of producing functional biologicals. We thus also saw various molecules with beneficial biological functions produced by cultured human cells in the 1970s, such as interferon produced by FS4 cells [85]. However, soon the use of human cells for the production of cytokines was replaced by recombinant DNA (rDNA)-based methods.

1.1.6 Animal Cell Culture in the rDNA Era

The invention of recombinant DNA technology [13] changed the landscape of cell culture technology. Several molecules that were previously isolated from tissues, such as insulin and human growth hormone, were soon produced in *Escherichia coli*. However, many proteins of therapeutic value required posttranslational modifications, such as glycosylation and multiple disulfide-bond formation, that are beyond the natural capabilities of *E. coli* and other microorganisms. These proteins must be produced using cells isolated from mammals.

The early products of recombinant therapeutic proteins, including tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) (FDA approval 1987), erythropoietin (EPO) (1989), and Factor VIII (1992), were native proteins. tPA helps dissolve blood clots in stroke patients, EPO stimulates red blood cell generation, and Factor VIII is used to treat hemophiliac patients. Owing to hybridoma technology [35], starting a decade later and continuing to this day, antibodies became the prevailing class of therapeutic agent. The hybridoma cell was the cell product of fusion between a producing cell of a specific antibody that could hardly proliferate in culture and a myeloma cell. The fused hybridoma cell acquired the specific antibody-producing capability of a B cell and the unlimited proliferation potential of a myeloma. Once a hybridoma cell line producing antibody against a specific antigen was generated, the antibody gene could be cloned to generate a producing cell line using a preferred host cell.

The emergence of antibodies as medicine changed the drug discovery process from the traditional screening-based approach to a design-based process. The discovery of classical bioactive compounds relied on screening a large collection of microorganisms to detect the target biological or binding activity. With recombinant antibody technology, once a target is identified, an antibody can be obtained quickly by immunizing an animal with the antigen. The capability of the antibody to bind to the target molecule is never in doubt. Thus, the success rate in developing antibody products is much higher than the screening of traditional natural products produced by microorganisms. Such design-based approaches to treating diseases fueled the expansion of protein therapeutics in human health care.

1.2 Cell Culture Bioprocess Technology

1.2.1 Construction of the Production Cell Line

Only a small number of host cell lines are used for therapeutic protein production: mouse myeloma (SP2/0, NS0), BHK cells, HEK293 cells, and CHO cells. Among these cell lines, CHO cells have become the predominant host cell for producing protein therapeutics over the years. Auxotrophic mutants, or mutants with additional nutrient requirements, cannot

6

be easily isolated from mammalian cells, as they are diploid and a mutation in one allele is often masked by the other allele. However, for reasons not entirely clear at the time, CHO cells were prone to generate various mutants. They thus became one of the favorite cell lines for cytogenetic research. It was found that a segment of mammalian genome that contains the DHFR gene could be amplified by hundreds of copies upon exposing CHO cells to a very high concentration of a metabolic inhibitor of DHFR [52]. This research was then applied further in a CHO mutant that was partially defective in DHFR, where, upon the introduction of a plasmid vector containing the DHFR gene and its integration into the genome, DHFR could be amplified to hundreds of copies after exposure to a high level of the DHFR inhibitor methotrexate [31]. With a gene of interest (GOI) adjacent to DHFR in the plasmid, the product gene can get amplified to tens or even hundreds of copies, and cell lines producing the product at high levels can be obtained.

After amplification, the resulting cell population is very heterogeneous. Single-cell cloning is then performed to ensure the producing cell line originates from a homogeneous genetic background. A number of production cell lines are then evaluated for their productivity, growth characteristics, and cell stability over long-term culture. The selected production cell line is expanded and cryopreserved in cell banks for use in manufacturing. A typical cell line development process is shown in **•** Fig. 1.2.

The glycan structure on a therapeutic protein affects its pharmacokinetics, circulation half-life, and even its biological function [27]. Cells have a complex pathway to add glycans to the protein molecule, and this gives rise to molecules with diverse glycan structures [74]. A diagram of glycosylation sites on erythropoietin is shown in **•** Fig. 1.3. Different species of animals also produce glycans with somewhat different chemical structures. However, glycans synthesized by CHO cells are structurally similar to those of humans. The ease of obtaining a high level of production in CHO cells, their glycan similarity to humans, and their ready adaptation to grow in suspension make them the production cell line of choice for three-quarters of all therapeutic proteins [88].

1.2.2 Process Engineering of Cell Culture

The process technology for cell culture was first developed for viral vaccine production. In the early days of viral vaccine development, primary cells were used as the production vehicle. The increasing demand for vaccines and the need for large numbers of animals eventually made the process unsustainable. Hence the processes switched to continuous cell lines or cell strains. Since most of the cells employed were adherent, they were grown as monolayers attached to the inside surface of roller bottles, while the bottle rotated slowly to allow cells to be periodically exposed to medium and air (**2** Fig. 1.4a).

To further scale up, some cells were adapted to grow in suspension without surface attachment, such as BHK cells [76]. They could then be cultivated in stirred tank reactors with oxygen being supplied by bubbling air through the medium. This strategy of suspension growth was later adopted for the production of recombinant proteins. However, many primary cells and cell lines, such as Vero monkey kidney cells used in polio virus production, could not be grown in suspension. Scale-up of those processes faced tremendous challenges. The invention of microcarriers allowed cells to attach to the external surface of those small beads and then be suspended in a stirred tank reactor [83]. This innovation facilitated the manufacturing of many human and veterinary vaccines.



Fig. 1.2 Cell line development for the production of biologics. An expression vector containing a product gene of interest and a selection gene is transfected into a host cell line. A selection pressure is then applied to force integration of the vector into the genome. Increasing levels of the selection agent are used to amplify the vector containing both the selection gene and the gene of interest within the genome to get a high-producing cell line. The cells are then subcloned, cell banks are made, and clones are evaluated for their productivity, stability, and growth characteristics



Fig. 1.3 Glycosylation sites on erythropoietin. Erythropoietin has four sites for glycosylation, three N-glycosylation sites on asparagine (Asn), and one O-glycosylation site on serine (Ser). These sugar glycans can influence many properties of the resulting therapeutic molecule, such as its activity, half-life, and efficacy



Fig. 1.4 Reactors for cell culture. a A roller bottle setup. Cells are grown on the roller bottle surface, and the bottles are rotated at ~4 rpm such that the cells maintain periodic contact with the medium.
 b A fed-batch culture. Cells are grown in a bioreactor and feed medium is gradually added over the course of the culture. c A continuous/perfusion culture. Cells are grown in a reactor and medium is being fed continuously. A collection stream continuously removes medium containing cells, product, and other medium components. The effluent is then put through a cell settler to separate the cells from the product. The purge is collected for protein purification, while the recycle stream delivers concentrated cells back to the reactor

The dose of vaccines for immunization is very small. The number of doses that can be produced per culture volume is large compared to therapeutic protein products. Bioreactors used in vaccine manufacturing are thus relatively small and operated in batch mode. For protein therapeutics, especially antibody products, the dose is high. The cell and product concentration per reactor volume has to be high to increase the number of doses that

9

can be produced in each manufacturing run. Because of cells' intolerance to high levels of nutrients and osmotic pressure, the concentration of nutrients in the medium is low; thus the final concentrations of cells and product achievable in a batch operation are also low. Fed-batch operation became commonly practiced for protein production. The culture is operated by starting at ~75% of total culture volume; subsequently, concentrated nutrient feed is gradually added to the full capacity of the reactor to achieve high concentrations of cells and product (**2** Fig. 1.4b).

Some cell culture products, such as the native form of Factor VIII, are unstable in the culture medium. They are produced in continuous cultures with a short holding time. To avoid washing out cells, a cell retention or cell separation device is used to discharge a dilute cell stream and recycle a concentrated cell stream back to the reactor. This operation of a continuous cell culture with cell retention is commonly called perfusion (**•** Fig. 1.4c).

Medium is the heart of cell culture. The drive to better understand the nutritional needs of cultured cells turned to developing serum-free media in the 1970s [7, 22]. In addition to glucose, amino acids, vitamins, nucleoside precursors, lipids, and bulk salts (potassium phosphate, sodium chloride, etc.), cells also require trace elements (e.g., selenium and zinc ions), carrier proteins (e.g., transferrin, albumin), and some growth factors. Despite the progress, animal serum continued to be used in the manufacturing of vaccines and therapeutic proteins until the outbreak of bovine spongiform encephalopathy in the United Kingdom raised grave concerns about using animal serum in biomanufacturing. In modern cell culture processes, compounds derived from animals are not permitted in the medium, so chemically defined media is used in manufacturing. With a chemically defined medium, one aims to enhance the controllability of the process and the product quality.

1.2.3 Cell Culture Biomanufacturing

The volumetric capacity of a cell culture manufacturing plant varies over a very wide range. A vaccine plant is usually small but often produces millions of doses annually. Some antibodies are produced in thousands of kilograms each year. A manufacturing plant for those products has hundreds of tons of volume capacity, and thus the capital investment for its construction is huge. To mitigate the financial risk, many pharmaceutical companies have begun to employ contract manufacturing organizations (CMOs) located in various parts of the world. It is becoming common that a product is manufactured in multiple sites around the globe. To reduce capital investment, some plants are designed to use plastic disposable bioreactors instead of a large stainless steel stirred tank. This is possible because the power input for a cell culture stirred tank reactor is much lower than that in microbial fermentation. However, a plastic bioreactor cannot sustain the high mechanical stress caused by mechanical agitation in scaling up. Thus, the size of a disposable stirred tank reactor is limited. Nevertheless, by using a disposable bioreactor, the cost of plant construction is relatively low and the time for construction is short. Hence emerges a trend of distributed manufacturing, using a number of small facilities based on single-use bioreactors located in different regions to produce the goods. This new way of manufacturing may see its adoption in the manufacturing of cell-based products that we will discuss in the following section.

1.3 Functional Cell Lines

While the biopharmaceutical industry underwent an unprecedented expansion, a fundamental shift was happening in biomedical research. Various growth factors and cytokines became easily attainable through rDNA technology. Parallel to the boom in the biopharmaceutical industry were the advances in analytical technology (PCR, mass spectrometry, microscopy, high-resolution chromatography, etc.). An expansion of the biomedical service industry and its large repertoire of biochemical reagents greatly increased our capabilities for culturing cells. Primary cells that could be isolated from normal human tissues and cultured in vitro extended from fibroblasts and epithelial cells to many other differentiated cell types such as endothelial cells, keratinocytes, melanocytes, mononuclear cells, smooth muscle cells, pre-adipocytes, etc. The primary tissue cells isolated from tissues typically retain many tissue-specific activities. They may be exploited for use to repair or augment tissue functions. However, most differentiated cells have very limited proliferative potential and show phenotypic instability in culture. For many applications the restricted cell source will limit their potential. In contrast, various stem cells offer the possibility of a virtually unlimited cell supply.

1.3.1 Stem Cells

Stem cells are marked by two characteristics: the ability to self-renew and the potential to differentiate into particular cell types in vivo [87]. They are classified by their differentiation potential: totipotent, pluripotent, and multipotent cells. Totipotent cells can become any type of cell including extraembryonic tissues. Cells that can become any type of cell in all three germ layers of ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm are pluripotent (i.e., embry-onic stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells) [48]. Multipotent stem cells can differentiate into multiple types of cells in a limited number of cell lineages. For example, hematopoietic stem cells and mesenchymal stem cells are multipotent [87]. These multipotent stem cells are seen in their home tissue in adults. They may be quiescent in their niche and begin to expand and differentiate only when needed. In their in vitro isolation and expansion, the chemical and physical cues in culture make them enter a proliferative state. They tend to have limited proliferative potential, and after some generations they lose their renewal and differentiation capacity.

1.3.1.1 Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Bone marrow cell transplantation has been practiced for over three decades, taking advantage of the stem cells or progenitor cells in the bone marrow to repopulate blood cells in the recipient. Hematopoietic stem cells have been isolated from bone marrow, peripheral blood, and umbilical cord blood. They can differentiate into all types of blood cells. There is not a single molecular marker exclusively expressed in HSCs. They are usually identified by the expression or absence of surface markers (Lin-, CD34+, CD38-, CD90+, CD45-, Flt3+, CD7-, CD10-). A combination of growth factors, such as stem cell factor (SCF), thrombopoietin (TPO), and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) are employed to induce their population expansion in culture.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) were initially isolated and expanded in culture from adult bone marrow [8]. They were initially known to be adherent fibroblast-like cells

which help to maintain hematopoietic cells in the bone marrow [40]. MSCs are a heterogeneous cell population, mostly consisting of cells with common features in their surface markers including CD90⁺, CD105⁺, CD73⁺, CD14⁻, CD34⁻, and CD45⁻. The classical definition of MSCs are the cells that have moderate self-renewal capacity and are multipotent, with the ability to differentiate mainly into osteogenic, chondrogenic, and adipogenic cells [25].

As MSCs can be found in nearly all tissues, more efforts were expended to identify and localize the cells in situ. It has been proposed that MSCs are pericytes that reside around all blood vessels, and which are in close contact with the basement membrane and surrounding endothelial cells that comprise the microvasculature [9, 70]. Isolated pericytes change into a MSC phenotype depending on the microenvironment or culture conditions. They share several cell surface markers, such as NG2 and CD146, with isolated MSCs [14]. As MSCs also have the capacity to produce a large number of bioactive molecules, their immunomodulatory and trophic properties draw more attention as medicinal signaling cells.

1.3.1.2 Human Embryonic Stem Cells (hESCs)

In early embryo development, after fertilization, cleavage of the zygote forms the morula, and the embryo further develops into the blastocyst composed of the trophectoderm (TE) and inner cell mass (ICM). The TE is the outer layer of the blastocyst and forms extraembryonic ectoderm and placenta in later stages. The ICM gives rise to epiblast (EPI) and primitive endoderm (PrE or hypoblast) layers. The epiblast contributes to all three germ layers: ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm. PrE contributes to the extraembryonic endoderm and yolk sac. Stable mouse embryonic stem cells were first derived from ICM in 1981 [18]. Two laboratories derived human embryonic stem cell (hESC) lines in 1998 [65, 79]. hESC lines were derived from culturing gonadal ridges and mesenteries containing primordial germ cells (5–9 weeks postfertilization).

These cell lines had the capability to self-renew in culture and were pluripotent; thus they could differentiate to cell types of all three germ layers. They were karyotypically normal when grown on mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) feeders and formed teratomas when grafted onto severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice.

Various approaches have been utilized to optimize the culture conditions of hESCs. hESCs can be maintained in feeder-free environments with the support of extracellular matrices such as Matrigel, fibronectin, and vitronectin [2]. The signaling pathways of BMP, Wnt, and Nodal play key roles in maintaining pluripotency. Cocktails of signaling molecules, including bFGF, activin A, and TGFb1, are used in the feeder-free culture [84].

1.3.1.3 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (iPSCs)

hESCs were derived from fertilized human eggs, and thus their use is ethically controversial. The reprograming of adult somatic cells into an undifferentiated embryonic state alleviated the ethical concerns. These cells are called induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) and were derived from both mouse [78] and human [77, 91] adult cells. Upon the introduction of four exogenous genes (OCT4, SOX2, KLF4, and c-MYC (OSKM)), cells proliferate, bypass apoptosis and cell senescence, lose somatic cell characteristics, and undergo a metabolic shift for faster energy generation [78]. The reprogramming is stochastic; only a very small fraction of OSKM-transduced cells acquire fully activated pluripotency [69]. The iPSCs have similar potentials to differentiate to cells of different lineages as ESCs. The reprogramming of adult somatic cells has been extended to directing one cell type to another lineage [32]. Instead of ascending to the ESC-like state, partially reprogrammed cells were differentiated directly to cells of interest by transducing them with different combinations of gene factors and culturing them in directed differentiation culture medium [93]. This approach has been used to reprogram somatic cells to beta cells, cardiac cells, neurons, hepatocytes, etc. [30, 41, 42, 73, 92].

1.3.1.4 Directed Differentiation of Stem Cells

Pluripotent and multipotent stem cells can be guided by chemical and physical cues to differentiate to a particular lineage. For hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), SCF and TPO are essential for maintenance and differentiation. In the presence of SCF, TPO, G-CSF, Flt-3 ligand, and interleukin-6 (IL-6), the HSCs isolated from bone marrow can be directed to myeloid lineage cells. Increasing Delta ligand concentration shifts HSCs to lymphoid cells. Using conditions that mimic in vivo embryo development, PSCs were guided to differentiate to the hepatic lineage. A stagewise exposure to growth factors guided them sequentially through endoderm, early, and late hepatic lineage [23, 68, 86]. Similar conditions were used to direct PSCs to the endoderm lineage; then a different set of signaling molecules were used to guide cells to the pancreatic lineage [15]. In addition to endoderm, PSCs have also been differentiated to mesodermal cells. By co-culturing ESCs with OP9 stromal cells and sorting for CD73, mesenchymal precursors were generated and further differentiated into chondrocytes, osteocytes, and myoblasts [6].

Hematopoietic cells can also be generated from PSC-derived mesoderm precursors. Differentiating populations progressed from a pluripotent state to Flk-1⁺ or PDGFR⁻ mesoderm to a yolk sac hematopoietic stage (KDR+, CD31+, and CD34+) [51]. IL3, IL6, and BMP4 promoted CD45⁺ hematopoietic cell differentiation [10]. Co-culture with mouse OP9 stromal cells or the yolk sac endothelial cell line C166 gave rise to CD34⁺ hematopoietic-like cells [84].

In general, the differentiated cells of different lineages obtained by in vitro differentiation are not the equivalent of their adult counterparts; rather, their differentiation status is closer to that of the fetal state. Our understanding of the mechanisms of embryonic development to a specific tissue or cell type is still limited.

1.4 Emerging Technology Enabling Regenerative Medicine

1.4.1 Tissue Engineering

With the increased capability of isolating and culturing functional differentiated cells, cell culture applications have extended to tissue engineering. The basic idea of tissue engineering is to combine cells, bioactive molecules, and/or synthetic materials as the physical support or scaffold to develop biological substitutes of tissues for repair or even regeneration [36]. Primary chondrocytes were used for the construction of cartilage mimics [44, 60]. Cultured keratinocytes and fibroblastic cells were placed on a synthetic scaffold as a tissue-engineered skin substitute [67]. Primary porcine hepatocytes were cultured in a hollow-fiber bioreactor as an extracorporeal bioartificial liver (BAL) for treating acute liver failure and acute-on-chronic liver failure [45, 53, 54].

A common issue in different applications of tissue engineering or regenerative medicine is the source of functional differentiated cells. For ex vivo *or* extracorporeal applications,



Fig. 1.5 Sources of stem cells. Abbreviations: *ESCs* embryonic stem cells, *HSC* hematopoietic stem cell, *MSC* mesenchymal stem cell, *NSC* neural stem cell, *iPSC* induced pluripotent stem cell

a xenogeneic source may be acceptable. However, for implantation or transplantation applications, a human tissue source must be used and the source will be scarce. Stem cells or cells derived from direct reprogramming can become the cell source for in vivo and in vitro applications as they can be expanded and guided to different cell types. Figure 1.5 shows the various sources of stem cells for research and engineering purposes.

1.4.2 Cell Therapy

Various stem cells including MSCs, PSCs, and NSCs (neural stem cells) have been explored for the treatment of a broad spectrum of disease conditions (for reviews see [47, 59, 81, 82]). PSCs, with their potential as virtually unlimited cell sources, are of particular interest. hESC-derived oligodendrocyte progenitors were explored for spinal cord injury [66]. hESC applications in the eye, pancreas, Parkinson's disease, and heart failure have been investigated in clinical trials [55, 81]. However, because of the potential of teratoma formation from transplanted pluripotent stem cells, by far MSCs still account for the largest number of clinical trials, including acute myocardial infarct, graft-versushost disease (GVHD), and osteoarthritis (\triangleright www.clinicaltrials.gov). The clinical potential of MSCs extends beyond their multipotency to immunomodulatory and trophic activities. In those types of treatments, the transplanted cells are present only transiently in the host for a few days, but they induce immunomodulation through suppression of activated T cell proliferation, increase regulatory T (Treg) cells, and influence dendritic cell maturation.

Another type of adult stem cells, neural stem cells (NSCs), are used in a number of clinical trial applications. Fetal neural stem progenitors are being explored for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and stroke. Neural stem cells are being studied for treating spinal cord injury and dry macular degeneration [81]. Gene therapy using autologous cells for treating congenic diseases has been explored for many years. The genetically defective autologous cells are isolated, genetically manipulated to "correct" the defect, and then transplanted to the patient. Gene editing was done to treat genetic hematological disease such as sickle cell disease and thalassemia [5]. Other cells were cultured ex vivo and genetically modified to express cytokines, Fc receptors, and chimeric tumor antigen receptors for cancer immune therapy [11]. T cells were engineered to express a chimeric T cell receptor that has a single-chain variable fragment (scFv) with a high affinity for tumor-associated antigen (TAA), allowing these chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cells to recognize and kill tumor cells [37].

The success of cell therapy faces several common challenges: cell isolation and/or cell expansion to acquire a large number of cells, engraftment of cells at the target site, and conciliation between autologous (from patient) and allogeneic (from external donor) cell sources.

1.5 Engineering Challenges/NextGen Biomanufacturing

1.5.1 **Process Technology for Protein and Viral Biologics**

Cell culture processes for the production of biologics are now a robust manufacturing technology. However, they are also facing new challenges to meet societal demands. The protein medicines that used to be privileged drugs for the Western world must be made available to treat patients in less developed countries. The high price of those medicines needs to be reduced to make them available to those in need who currently cannot afford them. In the manufacturing of vaccines, the lag time in ramping up manufacturing capacity and the resulting delay in vaccine distribution to the affected regions in times of pandemics is a grave concern. Although these issues are very much affected by social, economical, and political conditions, the solution will require engineering innovations that enhance productivity, boost the controllability of product quality, and reduce the cost of goods. With the advances in genome engineering, we will likely see fundamental changes in production cell line construction. The tradition of empiricism will give way to systems design-based approaches. The engineering of the product protein will not only enhance its binding properties to the target but also optimize its pharmacokinetic characteristics, maximize its stability, and improve its downstream recovery efficiency. We will engineer the host cell to control its metabolism, which will empower us to modulate the glycosylation pattern of the product.

1.5.2 Emerging Cell Therapeutics

In the past few decades, cell culture evolved from scientific and laboratory exploration to process technology and then to the mature manufacturing enterprise it is today. A challenge in the next decade will be a similar transformation for cell-based therapeutics, from a clinical or laboratory practice to manufacturing technology. In the process of transformation, one aims to make the process robust, the product quality consistent, and the cost of goods affordable by applying fundamental knowledge of the biology of the cell and a sound understanding of engineering principles. Below we briefly discuss a few areas of challenges and opportunities.

1.5.2.1 Cell Isolation

Cell-based therapeutics must attain cells from a donor originally. An ideal process for many allogeneic applications would involve expanding the isolated cells, performing quality control, and then using these cells to generate master and working cell banks for manufacturing cell production. This production process would not require frequent cell isolation. It would reduce quality variability due to cell source but also allow for systematic process optimization to give robust performance. PSCs or other highly proliferative stem cells that are expanded in culture fall into this category. In other allogeneic applications and in autologous treatments, cells need to be routinely isolated from new patients. Means to increase the efficiency and yield of cell isolation from tissues depend on the tissue of interest but will be important for process robustness. Even for isolation from peripheral blood, not all cells are easily accessible. HSCs reside in their long-term or short-term niches and stay at a state that is a balance between self-renewal and differentiation. Longterm repopulating cells (stem and progenitor cells) are present in the endosteal niche, while short-term repopulating cells reside in the vascular niche [89]. HSCs used to be isolated from bone marrow. Nowadays, HSCs are mostly collected from peripheral blood. HSC mobilization from the localized bone marrow niche to the peripheral circulation in the blood increases after the patient is treated with various exogenous stimuli such as cytokines (G-CSF, GM-CSF), subjected to stressful conditions (i.e., injury or inflammation), and/or given myelosuppressive chemotherapy [29, 46].

1.5.2.2 Cell Expansion, Recovery, Formulation, and Delivery

In the current biomanufacturing of therapeutic proteins, each reactor run produces sufficient material for thousands of doses. Such economy of scale is not only pertinent to labor and the depreciation of capital investment but also affects the cost associated with quality evaluation of the product. In the future, cell manufacturing processes will likewise need to generate a very large number of doses per reactor run to be economically viable for most products.

Most cells of interest for therapy and regenerative medicine are adherent, except for those isolated from peripheral blood, such as T cells. They require a compatible surface to attach on for cell proliferation. The scale-up for the cultivation process of those adherent cells that are also required at high doses will be challenging.

For therapeutic applications, the cell product must be of high quality in terms of its intended biological activities, viability, and lack of contamination. In the production of therapeutic proteins, the product is purified from the cells, sterilized, and kept in a stabilizing formulation. For therapeutic cell applications, cells must be sustained in a highly viable and functional state and cannot be subjected to extensive purification and sterilization. They also need to be kept in a high-quality state for short-term distribution to clinic sites or even for a longer inventory period.

1.5.3 Cells and Biomaterials

Biomaterial strategies have been increasingly used for homogeneous expansion and differentiation of cells as well as for delivery of cells to the patient. The natural extracellular matrix (ECM) maintains tissue architecture while also acting as a reservoir for growth factors. The ECM possesses mechanical properties that support the required organ load while also supporting cell attachment and migration. In addition, the ECM often supports specialized cell functions. Approaches using decellularized tissues as scaffolds for regenerative medicine have shown promise [72], and advances in imaging and 3-D printing have improved the ability to template and pattern scaffolds based on natural ECM.

Synthetic materials have also been widely explored, as they provide the ability to more closely tune the environment, are often more scalable, and do not exhibit as much batch-to-batch variability as natural ECM. The degradation of the synthetic material can be tuned, allowing controlled delivery of various cargo. In addition, stimuli-responsive materials with properties that are affected by light or temperature have enhanced both the delivery of the material to a desired site in the body and the in vivo tunability. Substrate stiffness, nanotopography, and chemical composition of synthetic materials have been shown to drive stem cell fate decisions in various contexts [50]. In addition, advances in microfluidic and miniaturized systems have also enabled exploration of a wide biomaterial parameter space in optimization of both bioreactor systems and scaffold functionality [56]. 3-D patterning methods have facilitated development of hybrid synthetic and natural ECM scaffolds that can mimic the complex environment of native tissues, including gradients in chemical signals [3].

1.6 Concluding Remarks

In the past century, scientists have expanded our capability to culture mammalian cells tremendously. The initial drive from scientific inquiry has led to a very large technological sector for the production of vaccines and therapeutic medicines. Mammalian cell culture now promises to become the next generation of medicine through regenerative therapies. The cells of interest have also extended from primary isolates of tissue to differentiated cells derived from tissues and stem cells. Nevertheless, the fundamentals of transforming cell culture practices in the laboratory into manufacturing process technology remain the same. We will likely see many innovations in the near future that harness the potential of the next generation of cell bioprocess technology.

Take-Home Message

- Cell culture has progressed from a simple research tool to a valuable method for the production of protein therapeutics.
- Stem cells and cell therapies are emerging as the next generation of medical technology.
- Innovations in biomanufacturing are still needed for cell therapies to be produced at a large scale.

References

- Aden DP, Fogel A, Plotkin S, Damjanov I, Knowles BB. Controlled synthesis of HBsAg in a differentiated human liver carcinoma-derived cell line. Nature. 1979;282:615–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/282615a0.
- 2. Amit M, Itskovitz-Eldor J. Feeder-free culture of human embryonic stem cells. Methods Enzymol. 2006;420:37–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(06)20003-X.
- 3. Atala A, Kasper FK, Mikos AG. Engineering complex tissues. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(160):160rv12.

- 4. Baicus A. History of polio vaccination. World J Virol. 2012;1(4):108–14. https://doi.org/10.5501/wjv. v1.i4.108.
- Bank A, Dorazio R, Leboulch P. A phase I/II clinical trial of beta-globin gene therapy for beta-thalassemia. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1054:308–16. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1345.007.
- Barberi T, Willis LM, Socci ND, Studer L. Derivation of multipotent mesenchymal precursors from human embryonic stem cells. PLoS Med. 2005;2:0554–60. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pmed.0020161.
- 7. Barnes D, Sato G. Serum-free cell culture: a unifying approach. Cell. 1980;22:649–55.
- 8. Caplan A. Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res. 1991;9:641–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jor.1100090504.
- 9. Caplan Al, Correa D. The MSC: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell. 2011;9:11–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.06.008.
- Chadwick K, Wang L, Li L, Menendez P, Murdoch B, Rouleau A, Bhatia M. Cytokines and BMP-4 promote hematopoietic differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Blood. 2003;102(3):906–15. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-03-0832.
- 11. Cheng M, Chen Y, Xiao W, Sun R, Tian Z. NK cell-based immunotherapy for malignant diseases. Cell Mol Immunol. 2013;10:230–52. https://doi.org/10.1038/cmi.2013.10.
- 12. Chunmakov K. Current status and future of polio vaccine and vaccination. In: Lukashevich I, Shirwan H, editors. Novel technologies for vaccine development. New York: Springer; 2014. p. 87–112.
- Cohen SN, Chang AC, Boyer HW, Helling RB. Construction of biologically functional bacterial plasmids in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1973;70(11):3240–4.
- Crisan M, Yap S, Casteilla L, Chen CW, Corselli M, Park TS, Andriolo G, Sun B, Zheng B, Zhang L, Norotte C, Teng PN, Traas J, Schugar R, Deasy BM, Badylak S, Buhring HJ, Giacobino JP, Lazzari L, Huard J, Péault B. A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. Cell Stem Cell. 2008;3:301–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2008.07.003.
- D'Amour K, Bang AG, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Agulnick AD, Smart NG, Moorman MA, Kroon E, Carpenter MK, Baetge EE. Production of pancreatic hormone-expressing endocrine cells from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2006;24:1392–401. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1259.
- 16. Eagle H. Nutrition needs of mammalian cells in tissue culture. Science. 1955;122:501-4.
- Earle WR, Schilling EL, Stark TH, Straus NP, Brown MF, Shelton E. Production of malignancy in vitro IV. The mouse fibroblast cultures and changes seen in the living cells. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1943;4: 165–212.
- 18. Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryo. Nature. 1981;292:154–6.
- 19. Gey GO, Coffman WD, Kubicek MT. Tissue culture studies of the proliferative capacity of cervical carcinoma and normal epithelium. Cancer Res. 1952;12:264–5.
- 20. Green H, Meuth M. An established pre-adipose cell line and its differentiation in culture. Cell. 1974;3(2):127–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(74)90116-0.
- 21. Greene LA, Tischler AS. Establishment of a noradrenergic clonal line of rat adrenal pheochromocytoma cells which respond to nerve growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1976;73:2424–8.
- 22. Ham RG. Clonal growth of mammalian cells in a chemically defined, synthetic medium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1965;53:288–93.
- 23. Hannan NR, Segeritz CP, Touboul T, Vallier L. Production of hepatocyte-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Protoc. 2013;8(2):430–7.
- 24. Harrison RG. Observation on the living developing nerve fiber. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1907;4:140–3.
- Hass R, Kasper C, Böhm S, Jacobs R. Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): a comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Commun Signal: CCS. 2011;9:12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-9-12.
- Hayflick L, Moorhead PS. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. Exp Cell Res. 1961;25:585– 621. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(61)90192-6.
- Hossler P, Khattak SF, Li ZJ. Optimal and consistent protein glycosylation in mammalian cell culture. Glycobiology. 2009;19(9):936–49. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/cwp079.
- Jacobs JP, Jones CM, Baille JP. Characteristics of a human diploid cell designated MRC-5. 1970. https:// doi.org/10.1038/227168a0.
- Janowska-Wieczorek A, Marquez-Curtis LA, Shirvaikar N, Ratajczak MZ. The role of complement in the trafficking of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Transfusion. 2012;52:2706–16. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2012.03636.x.

- 30. Kalani MYS, Martirosyan N. Direct conversion of fibroblasts to functional neurons. World Neurosurg. 2012;77:7–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2011.11.002.
- Kaufman RJ, Sharp PA. Construction of a modular dihydrofolate-reductase Cdna gene analysis of signals utilized for efficient expression. Mol Cell Biol. 1982;2(11):1304–19.
- 32. Kelaini S. Direct reprogramming of adult cells : avoiding the pluripotent state. Stem Cells and Cloning: Adv Appl. 2014;2014:19–29.
- Kirchhoff C, Araki Y, Huhtaniemi I, Matusik RJ, Osterhoff C, Poutanen M, Samalecos A, Sipilä P, Suzuki K, Orgebin-Crist MC. Immortalization by large T-antigen of the adult epididymal duct epithelium. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2004;216:83–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2003.10.073.
- Klein R, Teodorescu M. Propagation of poliovirus of Cercopithecus monkey kidney cells in rolling bottles. Archives Roumaines De Pathologie Experimentales Et De Microbiologie. 1969;28: 247–52.
- Kohler G, Milstein C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature. 1975;256:495–7.
- Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science. 1993;260:920–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.8493529.
- 37. Leen AM, Rooney CM, Foster AE. Improving T cell therapy for cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2007;25: 243–65. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141527.
- Lundberg AS, Randell SH, Stewart S, Elenbaas B, Hartwell K, Brooks MW, Fleming MD, Olsen JC, Miller SW, Weinberg R, Hahn WC. Immortalization and transformation of primary human airway epithelial cells by gene transfer. Oncogene. 2002;21:4577–86. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205550.
- 39. Macpherson I, Stoker M. Polyoma transformation of hamster cell clones—an investigation of genetic factors affecting cell competence. Virology. 1962;16:147–51.
- Majumdar MK, Thiede M, Mosca JD, Moorman M, Gerson SL. Phenotypic and functional comparison of cultures of marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and stromal cells. J Cell Physiol. 1998;176: 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4652(199807)176:1<57::AID-JCP7>3.0.CO;2-7.
- Margariti A, Winkler B, Karamariti E, Zampetaki A, Tsai T-n, Baban D, Ragoussis J, Huang Y, Han J-DJ, Zeng L, Hu Y, Xu Q. Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into endothelial cells capable of angiogenesis and reendothelialization in tissue-engineered vessels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:13793–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1205526109.
- Masip M, Veiga A, Belmonte JCI, Simón C. Reprogramming with defined factors: from induced pluripotency to induced transdifferentiation. Mol Hum Reprod. 2010;16:856–68. https://doi.org/10.1093/ molehr/gaq059.
- Massard C, Zermati Y, Pauleau a-L, Larochette N, Métivier D, Sabatier L, Kroemer G, Soria J-C. hTERT: a novel endogenous inhibitor of the mitochondrial cell death pathway. Oncogene. 2006;25:4505–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1209487.
- Mats B, Anders L, Anders N, Claes O, Olle I, Lars P. Treatment of deep cartilage defects in the knee with autologous chondrocyte transplantation. N Engl J Med. 1994;331:889–95. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM199410063311401.
- McKenzie TJ, Lillegard JB, Nyberg SL. Artificial and bioartificial liver support. Semin Liver Dis. 2008;28(2):210-7. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2008-1073120.
- 46. Mendelson A, Frenette PS. Hematopoietic stem cell niche maintenance during homeostasis and regeneration. Nat Med. 2014;20:833–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3647.
- Mikkers HM, Feund C, Mummery CL, Hoeben RC. Cell replacement therapies: is it time to reprogram? Hum Gene Ther. 2014;25:866–74. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2014.097.
- Mitalipov S, Wolf D. Totipotency, pluripotency and nuclear reprogramming. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol. 2009;114:185–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2008_45.
- 49. Mowat GN, Chapman G. Growth of foot and mouth disease virus in a fibroblastic cell line derived from hamster kidneys. Nature. 1962;194(4825):253.
- 50. Murphy WL, McDevitt TC, Engler AJ. Materials as stem cell regulators. Nat Mater. 2014;13(6):547–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/Nmat3937.
- 51. Murry CE, Keller G. Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to clinically relevant populations: lessons from embryonic development. Cell. 2008;132(4):661–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.02.008.
- Nunberg JH, Kaufman RJ, Schimke RT, Urlaub G, Chasin LA. Amplified dihydrofolate-reductase genes are localized to a homogeneously staining region of a single chromosome in a methotrexate-resistant Chinese-hamster ovary cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1978;75(11):5553–6. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.75.11.5553.

- Nyberg SL, Ken S, Peshwa MV, Sielaff TD, Crotty PL, Mann HJ, Remmel RP, Payne WD, Hu WS, Cerra FB. Extracorporeal application of a gel-entrapment, bioartificial liver: demonstration of drug metabolism and other biochemical functions. Cell Transplant. 1993a;2(6):441–52.
- Nyberg SL, Shatford RA, Peshwa MV, White JG, Cerra FB, Hu WS. Evaluation of a hepatocyte-entrapment hollow fiber bioreactor: a potential bioartificial liver. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1993b;41(2):194–203. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260410205.
- 55. Ohnuki M, Takahashi K. Present and future challenges of induced pluripotent stem cells. Phil Trans R Soc B 2015:370(1680). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0367.
- Park H, Cannizzaro C, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Langer R, Vacanti CA, Farokhzad OC. Nanofabrication and microfabrication of functional materials for tissue engineering. Tissue Eng. 2007;13(8):1867–77. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.2006.0198.
- 57. Puck TT. The genetics of somatic mammalian cells. Adv Biol Med Phys. 1957;5:75–101.
- Ramboer E, Craene BD, Kock JD, Vanhaecke T, Berx G, Rogiers V, Vinken M. Review strategies for immortalization of primary hepatocytes. J Hepatol. 2014;61:925–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2014.05.046.
- Ratcliffe E, Glen KE, Naing MW, Williams DJ. Current status and perspectives on stem cell-based therapies undergoing clinical trials for regenerative medicine: case studies. Br Med Bull. 2013;108:73–94. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldt034.
- 60. Richardson JB, Caterson B, Evans EH, Ashton BA, Roberts S. Repair of human articular cartilage after implantation of autologous chondrocytes. Bone Joint J. 1999;81-B:1064–8.
- Rodriguez-Antona C, Donato MT, Boobis A, Edwards RJ, Watts PS, Castell JV, Gomez-Lechon MJ. Cytochrome P450 expression in human hepatocytes and hepatoma cell lines: molecular mechanisms that determine lower expression in cultured cells. Xenobiotica. 2002;32(6):505–20. https://doi. org/10.1080/00498250210128675.
- 62. Russell WC, Graham FL, Smiley J, Nairn R. Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. J Gen Virol. 1977;36:59–72. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-36-1-59.
- 63. Scherer WF, Syverton JT, Gey GO. Studies on the propagation in vitro of poliomyelitis viruses: IV. Viral multiplication in a stable strain of human malignant epithelial cells (strain HeLa) derived from an epidermoid carcinoma of the cervix. J Exp Med. 1953;97:695.
- 64. Schneider U, Schwenk H-U, Bornkamm G. Characterization of EBV-genome negative "null" and "T" cell lines derived from children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and leukemic transformed non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Int J Cancer. 1977;19:621–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910190505.
- 65. Shamblott MJ, Axelman J, Wang S, Bugg EM, Littlefield JW, Donovan PJ, Blumenthal PD, Huggins GR, Gearhart JD. Derivation of pluripotent stem cells from cultured human primordial germ cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:13726–31.
- Sharp J, Frame J, Siegenthaler M, Nistor G, Keirstead HS. Human embryonic stem cell-derived oligodendrocyte progenitor cell transplants improve recovery after cervical spinal cord injury. Stem Cells. 2010;28(1):152–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.245.
- 67. Shevchenko RV, James SL, James SE. A review of tissue-engineered skin bioconstructs available for skin reconstruction. J R Soc Interface. 2010;7(43):229–58. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2009.0403.
- Si-Tayeb K, Noto FK, Nagaoka M, Li J, Battle M, Duris C, North PE, Dalton S, Duncan S. Highly efficient generation of human hepatocyte-like cells from induced pluripotent stem cells. Hepatology. 2010;51:297–305. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.23354.
- Silva J, Barrandon O, Nichols J, Kawaguchi J, Theunissen TW, Smith A. Promotion of reprogramming to ground state pluripotency by signal inhibition. PLoS Biol. 2008;6:2237–47. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pbio.0060253.
- Singer NG, Caplan Al. Mesenchymal stem cells: mechanisms of inflammation. Annu Rev Pathol Mech Dis. 2011;6:457–78. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130230.
- 71. Smith AU, Polge C. Survival of spermatozoa at low temperatures. Nature. 1950;166:668–9. https://doi. org/10.1038/166668a0.
- 72. Song JJ, Ott HC. Organ engineering based on decellularized matrix scaffolds. Trends Mol Med. 2011;17(8):424–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2011.03.005.
- Song K, Nam Y-J, Luo X, Qi X, Tan W, Huang GN, Acharya A, Smith CL, Tallquist MD, Neilson EG, Hill JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN. Heart repair by reprogramming non-myocytes with cardiac transcription factors. Nature. 2012;485:599–604. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11139.
- 74. Stanley P. Golgi glycosylation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2011;3(4):a005199.

- Stewart SA, Hahn WC, O'Connor BF, Banner EN, Lundberg AS, Modha P, Mizuno H, Brooks MW, Fleming M, Zimonjic DB, Popescu NC, Weinberg RA. Telomerase contributes to tumorigenesis by a telomere length-independent mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:12606–11. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.182407599.
- 76. Sutmoller P, Bartelling SJ. The history of foot and mouth disease vaccine development: a personal perspective. In: Dodet B, Vicari M (eds) Foot-and-mouth disease: control strategies. Éditions scientifiques et médicales Elsevier SAS, France, 2003. pp 259–72.
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell. 2007;131(5):861–72. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019.
- 78. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126:663–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024.
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Adv Sci. 1998;282:1145–7. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.282.5391.1145.
- 80. Todaro GJ, Green H. Quantitative studies of the growth of mouse embryo cells in culture and their development into established lines. J Cell Biol. 1963;17:299–313.
- Trounson A, McDonald C. Stem cell therapies in clinical trials: progress and challenges. Cell Stem Cell. 2015;17:11–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.06.007.
- Trounson A, Thakar R, Lomax G, Gibbons D. Clinical trials for stem cell therapies. BMC Med. 2011;9:52. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-9-52.
- van Wezel AL. Growth of cell strains and primary cells on microcarriers in homogeneous culture. Nature. 1967;216:64–5.
- Vazin T, Freed WJ. Human embryonic stem cells: derivation, culture, and differentiation: a review. Restor Neurol Neurosci. 2010;28:589–603. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2010-0543.
- Vilcek J, Havell EA. Stabilization of interferon messenger RNA activity by treatment of cells with metabolic inhibitors and lowering of the incubation temperature. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1973;70: 3909–13.
- Wang Y, Cui C-B, Yamauchi M, Miguez P, Roach M, Malavarca R, Costello MJ, Cardinale V, Wauthier E, Barbier C, Gerber D, Alvaro D, Reid LM. Lineage restriction of human hepatic stem cells to mature fates is made efficient by tissue-specific biomatrix scaffolds. Hepatology (Baltimore, MD). 2011;53:293–305. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.24012.
- Weissman IL, Anderson DJ, Gage F. Stem and progenitor cells: origins, phenotypes, lineage commitments, and transdifferentiations. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2001;17:387–403. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.cellbio.17.1.387.
- 88. Wurm F. CHO quasispecies—implications for manufacturing processes. Processes. 2013;1(3):296.
- Xie Y, Yin T, Wiegraebe W, He XC, Miller D, Stark D, Perko K, Alexander R, Schwartz J, Grindley JC, Park J, Haug JS, Wunderlich JP, Li H, Zhang S, Johnson T, Feldman RA, Li L. Detection of functional haematopoietic stem cell niche using real-time imaging. Nature. 2009;457:97–101. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature07639.
- 90. Yasumura Y, Kawakita M. The research for the SV40 by means of tissue culture technique. Nippon Rinsho. 1963;21(6):1201–19.
- Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J, Jonsdottir GA, Ruotti V, Stewart R, Slukvin II, Thomson JA. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science. 2007;318(5858):1917–20. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1151526.
- 92. Zhou Q, Brown J, Kanarek A, Rajagopal J, Melton DA. In vivo reprogramming of adult pancreatic exocrine cells to beta-cells. Nature. 2008;455:627–32. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07314.
- Zhu S, Rezvani M, Harbell J, Mattis AN, Wolfe AR, Benet LZ, Willenbring H, Ding S. Mouse liver repopulation with hepatocytes generated from human fibroblasts. Nature. 2014;508:93–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13020.



Essentials in Cell Culture

Antonina Lavrentieva

2.1	Basics of In Vitro Cell Cultivation – 24
2.1.1	Short History of Cell Culture: Pioneers and Milestones – 24
2.1.2	The Variety of Cell Culture Applications – 26
2.2	Work under Aseptic Conditions – 28
2.2.1	Cell Culture Hoods – 28
2.2.2	Personal Hygiene – 29
2.2.3	Sterilization Methods – 30
2.2.4	Contaminations – 32
2.3	Cultivation Vessels – 35
2.3.1	Simple Cell Culture Flasks, Culture Flasks – 35
2.3.2	Bioreactors – 37
2.4	Cell Growth Kinetics – 38
2.4.1	Population Doubling, Cell Cycle – 38
2.4.2	Cell Growth in Bioreactors: Important Parameters – 42
2.4.3	Evaluation of Cell Cultures – 43
2.4.4	Microscopy – 43
2.4.5	Estimation of Cell Number and Viability – 45
	References – 47

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

When starting to work in mammalian cell culture, it is essential to understand the major principles of in vitro cell cultivation. These principles include knowledge of basic cell biology, working under aseptic conditions, choosing the right cell lines, culture vessels and equipment, as well as general acquaintance with the existing methods for cell state monitoring. Even before crossing the lab door for the first time, one should already be armed with basic knowledge about cell growth and the processes behind it, as well as be familiar with the techniques to influence it. It must be said beforehand that there are no absolutely standard/uniform cell culture labs around the world. Equipment, plastic ware, and cell types are used depending on the final application. This can range from the specified production of valuable biomolecules to in vitro testing and basic research. In this chapter, a short history of cell culture development will be presented first. Afterward, we will cover the different aspects of modern mammalian cell culture including the variety of cell culture applications, the basics of working under aseptic conditions, cultivation vessels, cell growth kinetics, and the evaluation of cell cultures.

2.1 Basics of In Vitro Cell Cultivation

2.1.1 Short History of Cell Culture: Pioneers and Milestones

As you have already learned in > Chap. 1, animal cell culture has a history of over a 100 years. Scientists Ross Harrison, Wilhelm Roux, and Leo Loeb established the first tissue cultures at the end of the eighteenth and beginning of the twentieth century. In the first animal cultures, pieces of animal tissue were cultivated in a mixture of animal blood and warm saline or were implanted in animals as grafts of agar-encapsulated tissue [25]. Ross Harrison was also the first researcher to apply a reproducible technique called "hanging drop" for the cultivation of microtissues. Using this method, small pieces of tissue were cultivated in a drop of fluid (e.g., fresh lymph) on an inverted coverslip. Later in 1911, this method was successfully used by Montrose Burrows and Alexis Carrel to cultivate various embryonic and adult tissues in fresh plasma from the same animal source [5]. Furthermore, Burrows and Carrel used serum and artificial medium, cultivated tissues in hanging drops but also in watch glasses placed in glass plates, and were also the first researchers to cultivate small tumors in vitro [6]. Interestingly, Burrows and Carrel were also the first ones to isolate and cultivate tissues using "scaffolds" - in their case: pieces of silk or cotton [6]. In 1911 Warren Lewis studied and characterized the influence of factors responsible for the survival and growth of the cells in the culture medium [3]. In 1916 Francis Peyton Rous and FS Jones first introduced trypsin for the preparation of cell suspensions [20]. In 1921, in cooperation with Albert Ebeling, Carrel reported the successful long-term cultivation of fibroblasts derived from chicken embryonic heart - these cells could be cultivated for over 9 years [7]. Interestingly, even without the use of antibiotics (which were simply not discovered yet) and trypsin (Carrel and Ebeling subcultivated the cells by cutting out the growing part of the population), researchers were able to hold these fibroblasts incredibly long in culture – Ebeling took over these cells and cultivated them over 34 (!) years. According to Carrel's and Ebeling's theory, isolated animal cells could divide indefinitely in vitro, and cell aging took place only in vivo in multicellular organisms. However, such long-term cultivations could not be reproduced by other scientists, which later led to a paradigm shift in the understanding of cell life span limits [27].



Fig. 2.1 First T-flasks with a conical tip, developed by Wilton Earle in the 1940s. (Courtesy of the Office of NIH History and Stetten Museum)

The discovery of penicillin in the 1940s was the next important step in the development of cell culture, since the addition of antibiotics to the cell culture media significantly reduced undesired contaminations. Also in the 1940s, **Wilton Earle** at the National Cancer Institute designed flasks made from glass tubing ("T-flasks") with a conical tip (**P** Fig. 2.1), developed chemically defined media for cell culture, and established the first continuous cell line, the *L-cell mouse fibroblasts*. In 1948 the first mouse cell strain was cloned, L929 cells, which are still widely used in labs all over the world. Another important milestone in the establishment of cell cultures was the development of a cell culture medium by **Harry Eagle** in 1955 [9], which was modified by **Renato Dulbecco** (the well-known Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium – DMEM). Renato Dulbecco also reintroduced the application of trypsin for cell detachment, which was forgotten after the first discovery for several decades.

Undoubtedly, one of the major milestones in mammalian cell culture development was the isolation of HeLa cells in 1951 by George Gey. Until that time, all attempts to grow human cells in vitro failed - and only cells from rodents were cultivated successfully. The history of Henrietta Lacks cells started in tragic circumstances - a 30-year-old woman went to the hospital because of nonperiodic bleedings and a biopsy of her cervix was taken for diagnosis, which revealed a malignant epidermoid carcinoma (later diagnosed as adenocarcinoma) of the cervix. The biopsy sample was used by George Gey to attempt to grow cells in vitro - and for the first time in history, it worked: the cells of Henrietta Lacks (HeLa cells) were dividing and growing without any limitations. Henrietta died that same year and never learned that her cells became the first immortal cell line, still widely used in laboratories all over the world. With the help of HeLa cells, it was possible to successfully propagate poliomyelitis viruses in vitro and to develop vaccine against poliomyelitis [22]. HeLa cells were used for numerous research topics including cancer, the influence of toxic substances, and radiation. The case of the HeLa cells also raised serious ethical discussions, since her family did not know for decades that Henrietta's cells were being used for research. This situation happened, because cell culture technology was developing much faster than ethical regulations.
As already mentioned in \triangleright Chap. 1 of this book, in 1961 **Leonard Hayflick** and **Paul Moorhead** discovered that human primary cells in in vitro cultures can only divide a finite number of times [15]. The researchers studied the in vitro replicative capacity of primary human fibroblasts and made the conclusion that aging is happening on the cellular level (this was in conflict with existing knowledge at the time that cells in vitro can divide infinitely). This discovery changed the central dogma in cell aging, and the process of stopping cell division in vitro is now known as "the Hayflick's limit" (see also section "Cell Growth Kinetics" in this chapter) [23].

The isolation (in 1958) and further development (in the 1980s) of the *Chinese hamster ovary* (*CHO*) *cells* was the next milestone in mammalian cell culture technology. The major advantage of CHO cells is their ability to grow in chemically defined serum-free medium in suspension, which makes large-scale cultivation of these cells possible (scale-up here is performed by volume and not by growth area). Nowadays, these cells are one of the major host cell lines for the industrial production of recombinant proteins and antibodies.

One of the most interesting and still not fully studied mammalian cells are stem cells. These cells are not only able to proliferate (self-renewal) but can also differentiate into other cell types. *Embryonic stem cells (ESC)* were fist recognized to be a cell causing teratoma in animal experiments performed by **Kleinsmith and Pierce** already in 1964 [17], and in 1981 these pluripotent cells were isolated by **Evans and Kaufman** from the inner mass of very early mouse embryos [10]. *Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)*, often called also multipotent stromal cells, were first isolated in 1970 from guinea pig bone marrow aspirates by **Alexander Friedenstein** and later found in almost all postnatal tissues [12]. In 2006, **Shinya Yamanaka** and **Kazutoshi Takahashi** were able to turn differentiated adult cells into pluripotent stem cells for the first time. *Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs)* were created by the reprogramming of embryonic cells and differentiated adult mouse fibroblasts [24]. In 2012 Yamanaka together with John Gurdon received the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for the discovery that mature cells can be reprogrammed to become pluripotent.

2.1.2 The Variety of Cell Culture Applications

There is a wide spectrum of processes where mammalian cell cultures find application. First of all, most *basic research* is performed in cell culture. Immortalized cell lines from almost all cells types are now available for in vitro studies. Such simplified "one-cell-type" systems are used to study the molecular mechanisms behind cellular processes, as well as for the better understanding of intercellular interactions.

Another field of mammalian cell culture application with significant economic importance is *biopharmaceutical manufacturing*. Biopharmaceuticals are defined as "medical drugs produced using biotechnology, that is, therapeutic products created through the genetic manipulation of living cells or organisms" [28]. Biopharmaceuticals are large molecules, nucleic acids, peptides, or proteins which are not extracted directly from the natural biological source and are not synthesized chemically (Table 2.1) [28]. Some simple biopharmaceuticals can also be produced in prokaryotic cells (e.g., *E. coli*) or lower eukaryotes (e.g., yeasts or fungi). Complex molecules like glycosylated proteins can only be successfully produced using mammalian cells. If such proteins do not contain their specific glycosylation pattern, they lose bioactivity, become unstable, or display misfolding. The in vitro manufacturing of such molecules has made it possible to treat

Table 2.1 Fields of mammalian cell culture application				
Field of application	Examples of application			
Basic research	Study of cell physiology under different conditions, cellular mecha- nisms of disease/disorders, drug development, cell-cell and cell- substrate interactions			
Biopharmaceutical manufacturing	Production of: Proteins: cytokines, erythropoietin, insulin, interferon, interleukins, etc. Enzymes: trypsin, imiglucerase, Factor IX Nucleic acids: DNA, RNA, plasmids, etc. Monoclonal antibodies Vaccines			
Biocompatibility and drug testing	In vitro biocompatibility evaluation of medical products (implants, catheters, stents, etc.) and nanoparticles (e.g., from sunscreens) Drug testing: High-throughput screening of anticancer molecules Inhibitors Bioactive molecules Drug delivery systems			
Personalized systems	Cultivation and study of isolated tumor tissues/cells from patient			
Cell-based therapies	Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy Treatment with MSCs			
Tissue engineering	Bone tissue engineering Cartilage constructs Engineered vascular grafts			

a variety of disorders without the risk of disease transfer. For example, cadaver-sourced growth hormone was shown to be associated with the risk of prion infection [1]. The amount of in vitro manufactured monoclonal antibodies has grown exponentially over the last few years. Such antibodies play an important role in the treatment of cancer and autoimmune and inflammatory diseases [28]. The production of vaccines saves millions of lives each year.

Biocompatibility and drug testing is another important field of mammalian culture. All new materials which are intended for human use (or may come in contact with humans) must undergo a complex biocompatibility evaluation (substance validation). This means that before new substances are tested in animal models or used in humans, they are first studied in vitro with cell cultures. In vitro toxicity evaluation is a relatively fast and simple method. There are certain guidelines in Europe, the USA, and worldwide which describe the procedures and requirements for such testing. The use of cell cultures also reduces the amount of animal experiments, since the obviously toxic materials can be excluded from further testing. Drug screening in cell culture allows the identification of the most active substance from a series of drug candidates. It also helps to define the exact mechanism of drug action and detects possible undesirable side effects on the cellular level. Traditionally, drug screening is performed on monolayer two-dimensional cell cultures. New developments of such screening methods use three-dimensional cell culture systems, which come closer to the real in vivo cell microenvironment (e.g., in the modeling of tumor tissue). We will take a closer look at various 3D cell culture techniques and their advantages in Chap. 5 of this book.

A relatively new development in drug screening are *personalized systems*, where cells (e.g., tumor biopsy) are obtained from the individual patient and cultured in vitro in order to study the potential efficacy of anticancer drugs. Such systems represent cell heterogeneity, diversity, and sensitivity of tumors much better than immortalized cancer cell lines and provide more information about treatment efficacy and prognosis. Another example of personalized systems is the in vitro cultivation and study of primary cells isolated from patients with specific diseases in order to understand the pathological mechanisms underlying these disorders.

Tissue engineering and cell therapy are relatively new fields of cell culture application. In the case of cell therapy, cells are usually isolated from human blood, bone marrow, or tissues, manipulated in vitro (e.g., expanded, sorted, or genetically treated/manipulated), and transplanted into the same person where they were taken from (autologous transplantation) or to another person (allogenic transplantation). Typical examples of cell therapies are the transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), T-cell therapy, or chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy. At the moment, there are 14 products approved by the FDA from the Office of Cellular, Tissue, and Gene Therapies (OCTGT) [11]. Moreover, thousands of cell therapy alone and 4.629 - for T-cell and CAR T-cell therapy (\triangleright clinicaltrials.gov).

During cell therapy, cells are injected into the patient in the form of a cell suspension, while in tissue engineering, special tissue-specific artificial or natural constructs (scaffolds) are seeded with cells, cultivated in vitro (under static conditions or in special bioreactors), and subsequently implanted into the patient. For the successful production of the construct, the interaction of three major parameters is required: scaffold, cells, and cultivation conditions (medium composition, mechanical stimulation, oxygen concentrations, bioactive molecules, etc.). The importance of the abovementioned factors is explained further in \triangleright Chap. 3 (cell culture media), \triangleright Chap. 6 (biomaterials), \triangleright Chap. 7 (cell surface interactions), and \triangleright Chap. 9 (mimicking physiology in cell culture). One of the still existing problems of tissue-engineered constructs is their full vascularization in the body and stability/biodegradability. The most intensively studied directions in tissue engineering are artificial bone constructs, cartilage constructs, and vascular grafts production.

2.2 Work under Aseptic Conditions

2.2.1 Cell Culture Hoods

A common requirement of all cell culture labs in the world is working under aseptic conditions. Successful work in cell culture, as well as obtaining reliable and reproducible results, depends on the full control of undesired contaminations. In order to avoid contamination from airborne particles, all manipulations with cells are performed in a cell culture hood (biosafety cabinet) – a closed workspace where the air is constantly filtered (Fig. 2.2a). There are three classes of cell culture hoods: class I (provide protection of personnel and environment and work in a manner similar to chemical fume hoods but are less effective in the protection of cells from contaminations), class II (provide both personnel and cell culture protection and can be used for potentially pathogenic organisms and hazardous



Fig. 2.2 a An example of cell culture hood of class II (Thermo Scientific Laboratory Products, Germany), **b** a vacuum pump system (Köhler Technische Produkte, Germany)

materials in biological safety levels up to 3), and class III (provide the highest protection level for personnel and are used in biological safety levels up to 4). Before and after work, the hood must be cleaned with disinfection solution (e.g., 70% ethanol or isopropanol).

It is important to keep only materials currently required for an experimental step under the hood and not to clutter the working space or use the hood for general storage. Most hoods have integrated UV lamps, which can be used at the end of the day for sterilization (minimum 30 min on). Remember, only uncovered/free surfaces are disinfected under UV light, which means that hoods must contain only a minimum of utilities/bottles. The standard set of utilities in the hood consists of pipettor for serological pipettes, tube racks, a waste jar, and sterile pipette tips. Optionally, a vacuum pump system can be used in the hood (Fig. 2.2b). When you start working with your cells, you may bring the following items into the hood: buffers, media and reagents, cell culture flasks, sterile tubes, and serological pipettes. Before placing your materials into the hood, you can additionally disinfect them with 70% ethanol or isopropanol. The latest guidelines, however, recommend not using chemical disinfection solutions (at least not as aerosols), since chronic exposure may bring harm to personnel.

2.2.2 Personal Hygiene

The major source of cell culture contaminations (see section "Contamination" in this chapter) is the cultivator herself. The human clothes, skin, hair, and aerosols released from the nose and mouth may contain bacteria, mycoplasmas, and spores of fungi/molds. This is the reason why it is important to wash and disinfect your hands before and after work with cell cultures. Gloves, lab coat, and lab shoes must be worn during the entire stay in the cell culture lab – they will protect the cells from contamination coming from you and will protect you from possible hazardous materials you may be working with. It is

desirable to refrain from talking or singing while working in the hood. If you have long hair, it is a good idea to tie it back together. If you are already wearing gloves – do not touch your hair and skin. If the sleeves of the lab coat are too short, sleeve protectors can be worn additionally. Working with cell culture supplements of animal or human origin brings additional risk of infection in the case of accidental penetration in the organism (via pick with a needle or an accidental cut with the scalpel) – additional vaccination against hepatitis B may be reasonable before starting to work with human materials.

2.2.3 Sterilization Methods

There is no universal sterilization method for the materials and equipment used in cell culture: the appropriate technique must be chosen depending on the nature and properties of the materials to be sterilized. The chosen sterilization method should be compatible with the material in order to avoid its damage. Generally, sterilization is defined as the complete removal/elimination of bacteria, viruses, fungi, and spores from the (possibly) contaminated objects/materials. The major ways of sterilization of materials used in cell culture are listed below.

Steam sterilization is performed in almost every cell culture lab in the world. With this method, microorganisms (and their spores) are eliminated by heating the materials in saturated steam under pressure with the help of an autoclave. The minimum exposure required by steam sterilization is 121 °C and 30 min. The main disadvantage of this method is that application is possible only for heat resistant materials (e.g., glassware, metal, Teflon). Moreover, some delayed effects on materials, like corrosion and altered elasticity/transparency, can appear after steam sterilization. The advantage of steam sterilization is that it is nontoxic and relatively inexpensive. Color-changing adhesive autoclave tape (Bowie-Dick tape) is usually used to confirm if the desired temperature was reached. This tape is placed on the items before autoclaving and changes the stripes color from light beige to brown-black as temperature reaches 121 °C. It is important to note that the change of color is not dependent on the duration of steam sterilization and therefore cannot fully ensure that the material is sterile. Biological indicators (ampoules with bacterial spores) can be used to ensure successful sterilization.

Irradiation (gamma irradiation and UV exposure): with this method contaminants are killed by ionizing (gamma) or non-ionizing (UV) radiation. Gamma irradiation is the major method of cell culture plastic sterilization used in industry. In order to avoid induced radioactivity, the use of sterilization radiation higher than 5 MeV is prohibited [2]. Commercial gamma-ray irradiation facilities utilize the radioactive decay of cobalt-60 (⁶⁰Co) or cesium-137(¹³⁷Cs) and use the highly penetrating radiation, which travels nearly with the speed of light, to kill microorganisms in already packaged products. Irradiated products remain sterile until the packaging is removed [2]. Gamma irradiation irreparably damages life-sustaining molecules of microorganisms (e.g., DNA) and is used for the sterilization of plastic, instruments, devices, and even liquids (trypsin and serum). The usage of gamma irradiation for serum sterilization is however under discussion since free radicals produced during irradiation destroy proteins and other important molecules in serum charges even during sterilization by low temperatures. Main advantages of gamma sterilization are high penetration, better assurance of product sterility, and the absence of toxic residuals. The presence of oxygen, the absence of water, and a slightly elevated temperature increase the efficiency of gamma sterilization. The resistance of a microorganism

is measured by the decimal reduction dose (D₁₀ value), which is defined as the radiation dose (kGy) required to kill 90% of the irradiated microorganisms. The irradiation dose for sterilization is dependent on the resistance of the organisms to be eliminated: in general, it is known that yeasts and spores are more resistant to gamma irradiation than bacteria; viruses are more resistant than spores, molds, yeasts, and bacteria; and double-stranded DNA viruses are more resistant than single-stranded DNA viruses. The major disadvantage of gamma sterilization is the usage of radioactive materials with consequently strictly regulated equipment installation, usage, and disposal.

UV irradiation is inexpensive and less dangerous than gamma irradiation. However, it displays low penetration and lower efficacy, needs longer time, and can also affect materials during sterilization. In this method, short-wavelength ultraviolet (UV-C, 200–270 nm, treatment time at least 30 min) is used to eliminate microorganisms by breaking the molecular bonds in DNA and the formation of thymine-thymine dimers. Some bacteria, however, have DNA-repairing mechanisms, which makes UV irradiation noneffective against such contaminants. Most modern biosafety cabinets have built-in UV lamps that are used for sterilization/disinfection of inner surfaces after work.

Sterile filtration: all heat-labile liquids (culture media, antibiotics, amino acids, etc.) which cannot be autoclaved must be sterilized by membrane filtration. There are several types of such filters available on the market – from small syringe filters to big bottle top filters, the pore size varies from 0.1 μ m to 0.5 μ m (\odot Fig. 2.3). Filtration is performed either by positive or by negative pressure created by peristaltic and vacuum pumps or syringes. The membranes used in filters must not adsorb proteins, peptides, and other important molecules from the filtered fluids. It is important to note that mycoplasmas and viruses cannot be removed by such filtration, although 0.1 μ m pore size is more effective for the running cell cultures on the presence of these contaminants (see section "Contaminations" in this chapter). Air in the biosafety cabinets is filtered with high-efficiency particle air (HEPA) filters, which remove nearly all particles lager than 0.3 μ m.

Chemical sterilization methods can be divided depending on their (I) state: to liquid (with alcohols, aldehydes, and halogens) and gaseous (with ethylene oxide or formaldehyde) sterilization and (II) mechanism of action, protein denaturation (alcohols,



Fig. 2.3 a Syringe filters and b bottle top filters for sterile filtration in the cell culture (TPP Techno Plastic Products AG, Switzerland)

aldehydes), action on membranes (detergents, alcohol), and damage of nucleic acids (formaldehyde, ethylene oxide). The major gaseous disinfectant, ethylene oxide, is used for sterilization of thermolabile materials and can effectively eliminate microorganisms and spores. It is however highly flammable and usually used as mixture with CO₂ (90% EO and 10% CO₂). Moreover, it is highly toxic, and residuals can affect cell growth after sterilization. Liquid sterilization with alcohols is usually performed with 70% ethanol or 70% isopropanol. With this concentration, cellular dehydration, protein coagulation, and membrane disruption of microorganisms take place. It is important to use exactly 70% solutions since higher or lower concentrations are less effective in the elimination of contamination. In the past, aldehydes (e.g., 40% formaldehyde aqueous solution) were also used for disinfection, as they are effective for the inactivation of microorganisms by alkylating the amino and sulfhydryl groups of proteins and ring nitrogen atoms of purine bases. In modern cell culture labs, aldehydes are not preferable as disinfectants, since longterm exposure to low levels in the air or on the skin can cause asthma-like respiratory problems and skin irritation. Moreover, formaldehyde is considered to be carcinogenic, and researches/technicians should limit direct contact with this chemical. These considerations limit the role of aldehydes in sterilization and disinfection processes. When using chemical disinfection, make sure that you treated all surfaces of the material you want to disinfect. Chemical disinfectants are also toxic for the cells you are cultivating - make sure that your cells do not come in contact with the aerosol/evaporant.

2.2.4 Contaminations

Contaminations represent the major problem of all cell culture techniques. They cause irreversible damage of running experiments in basic research and make produced bio-pharmaceuticals in industry unusable. If contaminated, cultivated cells must be discarded in most cases, since there are no existing reliable methods to fully eliminate the contamination without affecting the cells. Contaminations cause loss of labor, time, and money. Despite the use of antibiotics in the media, resistant bacteria can still grow in the cell culture. Moreover, invisible/undetectable (with a microscope) or suppressed (by use of antibiotics) contaminations affect cell viability and reproducibility of the experiments. Major cell culture contaminations are caused by *bacteria*, *fungi*, *mycoplasmas*, and *viruses*. If the first two are easily detectable under a microscope, smaller organisms can contaminate the culture without being detected over long periods of time. Finally, another contamination type is the *cross-contamination* with other cell types. All these biological contaminations will be described and discussed in this section.

Bacterial contamination is the most common and frequently occurring cell culture contamination. Even after the discovery of antibiotics, bacterial contaminations remain a constant and undesirable satellite of all cultivated cells. Bacterial contamination can be easily detected by microscopic changes in medium color (pH shift) and turbidity. Under the microscope, bacteria can be seen as moving or non-moving particles (dots or rods) in the micrometer size range in the space between cells (Fig. 2.4). Sometimes it is difficult to distinguish between cell culture medium precipitates (e.g., proteins from serum or cell debris) and bacteria, but high magnification microscopy can help to reveal bacteria. It is important to note that small nonbacterial particles can also move – they show Brownian motion. Another possibility to differentiate precipitates from bacterial contamination is to take a supernatant sample, place it in a separate vessel without cells, and monitor the





Fig. 2.4 Examples of molds **a**, bacterial **b**, and yeast **c** contamination in cell culture

glucose/lactate concentration over several days: if the glucose concentration decreases – most likely a bacterial contamination has occurred. The major source of bacterial contamination in cell culture is the water bath, which is why it is recommended to regularly empty and clean it. Another warm and humid environment favorable for bacterial growth is provided by cell culture incubators – here again regular decontamination via cleaning with chemical disinfectants is recommended. Moreover, some incubators have additional decontamination function. In this equipment, the whole incubator chamber is heated up to 100 °C in a humid atmosphere for several hours. Copper walls and shelves in incubators play additional bactericidal role. While working in a biosafety cabinet, it is recommended to refrain from touching pipette tips, pouring fluids from bottles into flasks, and accidentally contacting surfaces with sterile pipette tips.

Fungi contamination, the second most common biological cell culture contamination, can also be easily detected by medium turbidity (yeast contamination) or floating furry clumps of mycelium (molds). Under the microscope, yeasts appear as asymmetric pearls or chains of pearls and molds usually as multicellular filaments (• Fig. 2.4). Normally, during early fungus contamination, the pH of the cell culture medium stays unchanged, and later it increases. Cell cultures are usually contaminated with fungus via an airborne route and contact with contaminated materials.

Bacterial and fungus contaminations are easily detectable under the microscope. Mycoplasma contamination, on the other hand, can remain undetected for a long time and can influence the outcome of experiments and biopharmaceutical production.

Mycoplasmas are small self-renewing prokaryotes without cell walls about 100 nm in diameter. The lack of cell walls makes them resistant to antibiotics acting on cell wall synthesis, as well as to lysozyme. During contamination, mycoplasmas enter the host cells and rapidly proliferate, influencing host cell physiology. Moreover, mycoplasmas compete with the cell culture for nutrients and important molecules, leading to decrease in cell growth and production of ATP and proteins. Mycoplasmas contaminations do not cause medium turbidity and do not build films on the cell culture flasks bottom. The major source of mycoplasmas contamination is other cultivated cells or primary tissues, the major route of contamination - aerosols, medium residuals, and reused pipettes. Every cell culture must be regularly tested on the presence of mycoplasmas. Newly arrived cells in the lab must first be cultivated separately to other cells until the absence of mycoplasmas is confirmed. Another source of mycoplasmas contamination is serum and other products of human or animal origin. Laboratory personnel can also carry mycoplasmas and be a contamination source. The main tests to detect mycoplasmas include PCR kits (e.g., with primers for 16S rRNA coding region in the mycoplasmas genome), cell-based tests (e.g., based on the ability of mycoplasmas to activate the immune cell response), and staining with DAPI or Hoechst dye (to detect mycoplasmas DNA in the host cell cytoplasm).

Viruses represent another serious threat to cell cultures since they are also difficult to detect and almost not possible to eliminate. Moreover, virus-contaminated cells are dangerous for personnel since they can be highly pathogenic. Some viruses cause changes in cell morphology which indirectly may indicate contamination, but some viruses remain undetected. Similarly to mycoplasmas, virus contamination originates from contaminated cell lines (e.g., if the animal or human from which cells were isolated was infected) and untreated animal or human materials. Cells contaminated with viruses cannot be disinfected and must be discarded.

Although *cross-contaminations* are not typically listed as contamination candidates, serious scientific and economical damage can be caused by them. Cross-contaminations are caused by contamination of the cell culture by other cells (e.g., feeder cells or other cell lines cultivated in the same lab/incubator). Here, we will show some examples of cross-contaminations which had a serious impact on the scientific society.

Isolation of the abovementioned HeLa cells was a breakthrough in human cell culture - these cells could be cultivated infinitely and grew very fast in vitro. Directly after isolation, HeLa cells were sent by George Gey to researchers in different institutes around the world. In the early 1960s, however, it became evident that HeLa started to contaminate other cell lines [18]. By 1967, Stanley Gartler reported the cross-contamination of 19 cell lines detected with the help of isoenzyme analysis of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) and phosphoglucomutase (PGM) electrophoretic polymorphisms [18]. He revealed that all these cell lines have the same types of G6PD and PGM, which are mostly distributed in African Americans. It was unlikely that all tested cell lines were occasionally coming from this part of the population. Later, other methods including karyotyping and DNA barcoding confirmed the contamination of various cell lines with HeLa cells. Moreover, the WISH cell line, isolated by the famous scientist Leonard Hayflick (section "Cell Growth Kinetics" of this chapter) from his daughter's amnion, was also identified by Gartler as carrying the abovenamed genetic marker typical for African Americans. Since both Hayflick and his wife were white, it was unlikely that they initially carried this phenotype. It was reported that HeLa contamination appeared in the labs and cell banks all around the world, and this contamination could even have happened via air droplets [18]. By the time of cross-contamination identification, thousands of studies using these cell lines were already published. Besides the generation of incorrect scientific data and wasted years of research, HeLa contamination had a great impact on the development of anticancer treatments, since cell lines believed to be a certain cancer type were in reality all HeLa cells.

Another example of cross-contamination comes from the stem cell research area. In 2009, a scientific group from Norway published alarming results of frequent spontaneous malignant transformation of human BM-MSC in vitro [19], although another working group did not reveal any transformation of these cells 2 years earlier [4]. Rubio and colleagues also reported spontaneous transformation of AD-MSC in vitro, indicating the importance of biosafety studies of MSC biology to efficiently exploit their full clinical therapeutic potential [21]. In the year 2010, however, after a publication of the "identity crisis" editorial letter in Nature [16], where the misidentification of a tremendous amount of cell lines used in laboratories around the world was discussed, numerous working groups decided to carefully identify the origin of the cells they were working with. The results of the DNA fingerprint analysis revealed that the above-reported malignant transformation of BM-MSC was reflecting cross-contamination with the human HT1080 fibrosarcoma, U251 and U373 glioma, and U-2 OS osteosarcoma cell lines [26] in two independent laboratories. The working group which reported spontaneous transformation of AD-MSC

also identified cross-contamination of MSC with a HT1080 cell line [13]. Although these findings provide support for future MSC applications in patients, they also demonstrate the importance of safety regulations during in vitro expansion of these cells, in particular with regard to cross-contaminations.

2.3 Cultivation Vessels

2.3.1 Simple Cell Culture Flasks, Culture Flasks

Most adherent mammalian cells are cultivated in the so-called T-flasks since the development of this kind of vessel in the 1940s (Fig. 2.1). The first cell culture flasks were made of glass. However, primary cells have difficulties attaching to glass surfaces, and researches were trying to use various proteins to improve cell attachment. Modern cell culture flasks and microplates are disposable, single-use vessels which are mainly made of *polystyrene* because of its good optical properties, easy casting during manufacturing, acceptable costs, and the possibility of surface modification. Since polystyrene is hydrophobic, all cell culture vessels made of it are treated with gas plasma or corona discharge in order to oxidize it, thus rendering the material hydrophilic and negatively charged. Moreover, surfaces can be modified with amino (NH_3^+) , carboxyl (COO-), and other functional groups. It is important to remember that different cells attach differently on various surfaces. For some cell types, oxidized polystyrene is sufficient for good adhesion; for others special surface modifications and coatings are required. In particular, cells cultivated in serum-free medium frequently require special surface coatings for attachment. Surface coatings can be made with extracellular matrix proteins (e.g., fibronectin, collagen, or laminin), with synthetic polymers (e.g., poly-D-lysine), or with mucopolysaccharides (e.g., hyaluronidase and heparin sulfate).

Cell culture flasks for adherent cells have different sizes. The most widely distributed types are T25 (25 cm² surface area), T75 (75 cm² surface area), and T175 (175 cm² surface area) (Fig. 2.5). Knowledge of the exact growth area is important for seeding the



Fig. 2.5 a Typical cell culture flasks for adherent mammalian cell culture: T175, T75, and T25 flasks. b 6-well and 96-well cell culture plates (Sarstedt AG & Co, Germany)

required cell density, as well for estimating the average cell yield obtained. Multiwell plate sizes vary between 6-well plates and 386-well plates. Multiwell plates with high well numbers are usually used for high-throughput assays.

For the culture of suspension cells, no special treatment of surfaces for better attachment is required. Moreover, to keep cells in suspension, ultralow attachment surfaces are created (e.g., by coating with inert neutral hydrophilic hydrogels or polydimethylsiloxane). This treatment prevents proteins from the cell culture medium absorbing on the surface and hinders consequent cell attachment.

It is important to note that all in vitro static cultivations are performed in incubators (**•** Fig. 2.6), where T-flasks or multiwell plates are placed. Incubators provide optimal temperature (usually 37 °C), oxygen concentration (depending on the cell type), and humidity (95%) which prevents medium evaporation following osmotic stress, as well as CO_2 supply (5%) for pH maintenance with bicarbonate buffer. High humidity in incubators is usually achieved by direct water fill into the incubator bottom, either by filling into a special tub placed on the bottom or by using active steam injection (steam generators). By their mode of temperature regulation, incubators can be divided into direct-heated and water-jacketed. The inner surfaces of incubators can be made of stainless steel (which is smooth and easy to clean) or copper (rough and difficult to clean but bactericidal).

Simple cell culture vessels, however, cannot really provide physiologically relevant cultivation conditions. Here, cells grow on the plastic surface in monolayers and under static culture conditions. Medium is being frequently manually replaced, thus withdrawing cell-signaling molecules. Moreover, because of the limited surface area available, only



Fig. 2.6 Incubators for mammalian cell cultures (Thermo Scientific Laboratory Products, Germany)

moderate cell amounts can be produced. Therefore, if the production of cells is to be scaled-up, the number of T-flasks has to be increased, making the cultivation of cells time-consuming and prone to contaminations. In order to increase the growth area, so-called *cell factories* were developed, where ten or more chambers are arranged in multilayer stacks. Cultivation in cell factories, however, still remains a static method with additional limits in cell growth monitoring. The latest promising development in in vitro cell cultivation is the application of diverse *bioreactors*. Here, various sensors can be integrated for control and documentation of important cultivation parameters like nutrients, gas and metabolites concentrations, pH, temperature, pressure, shear forces, and cell growth.

2.3.2 Bioreactors

Based on general setup and configuration, the bioreactor systems (shown in Fig. 2.7) can be divided into the following categories: *static, wave-mixed, stirred,* and *perfusion bioreactors.* The main difference between these concepts is associated with mass transport (e.g., diffusion, perfusion, or bubbling) and the suitability for adherent or suspension cell cultures. Wave-mixed and stirred systems can be used for suspension cultures, but with the aid of microcarriers, also adherent cell types can be cultivated in these systems. On the other hand, hollow fiber bioreactors are specially designed for the cultivation of adherent cells.

As already mentioned, the T-flask is the simplest vessel for adherent cell cultivation, where the inner surface on the bottom of the flask is used to culture cells in monolayers. Another system for adherent cell cultivation are the *hollow fiber bioreactors* (HFB) which



Fig. 2.7 Common systems in cell culture: **a** T-flask for static cultures, **b** wave-mixed bioreactors, **c** spinner flasks, and **d** perfused hollow fiber bioreactors with an intraluminal (IL) and the extra-luminal (EL) space

consist of fibers fixed into a module which offers a high surface area for cells to adhere and a continuous flow of media which is delivered through the fiber lumen. In Sig. 2.1d the schematic concept of a HFB is shown. In principle, the bioreactor consists of two spaces: the intraluminal (IL) and the extra-luminal (EL) space. This setup offers a physiological environment with the fibers mimicking blood capillaries.

For suspension cultures, stirred systems such as *spinner flasks* are usually used, which consist of a vessel and an impeller (see **F**ig. 2.7c). The impeller is used to mix the culture medium in order to provide a homogenous environment regarding nutrient supply, oxygen concentration, cell concentration, and temperature. Spinner flasks are a very flexible and scalable platform, since they exist in various forms, materials, and sizes (3–2000 l in volume). An even simpler form of dynamic cell cultivation can be achieved by placing a culture vessel on a shaker platform. Modern bioreactors using this principle are called *wave-mixed bioreactors*. A schematic concept is depicted in **F**ig. 2.7b, where a single-use plastic bag filled with culture medium and cell inoculum is placed on a motorized platform. The platform performs a rocking motion, which provides excellent mixing and gas transfer without damaging the cells in suspension.

2.4 Cell Growth Kinetics

2.4.1 Population Doubling, Cell Cycle

Mammalian cells (primary cells and cell lines) grow in culture attached to a surface or in suspension. Attached cells are also called anchorage-dependent and suspension cells, accordingly, anchorage independent. In vitro growing cells must be subcultivated in order to enable continuous growth. Cells divide (replicate) at different rates, and the time of subcultivation is different for various types of cells (see time-lapse videos using the QR-code in **2** Fig. 2.12). Primary cells grow slowly and are usually subcultured at a 1:2 ratio, while the fast-growing immortalized cell lines need higher ratios. Each subculturing into a new vessel counts as a passage: for suspension cells it is the simple splitting (dilution) of the culture and for adherent cells, the detachment from the substrate and from other cells with the aid of proteases (in order to generate a single-cell suspension) followed by dilution. In both, suspension and adherent cell cultures, cell counting is performed before reseeding (see section "Estimation of Cell Number and Viability" in this chapter).

Population growth in mammalian cell culture can be described by means of *population doublings* and *population doubling time* (the time cells require to double in number). Population doublings are calculated using the following formula:

$$N_{\rm d} = \frac{\ln\left(\frac{X}{X_0}\right)}{\ln 2}$$

where N_d is the number of population doublings during a Δt period of time, X_0 is the number of living cells at time t = 0, and X is the number of living cells at time t. Population doubling time T_d is calculated with the following formula:

$$T_{\rm d} = \frac{\Delta t}{\rm Nd}$$

• Fig. 2.8 Mammalian cell cycle



G1 (Gap 1)

Replication

Doubling time in mammalian cell culture varies between 12 and 40 h depending on the cell type, cell culture medium, and added supplements. Cell replication is controlled by various factors and pathways, including extracellular signals and intracellular clues. In general, mammalian cell cycle can be divided into four discrete phases: *M phase* (mitosis), *G1 phase* (gap 1), *S phase* (synthesis), and *G2 phase* (gap 2) (Fig. 2.8). The most important part of cell division happens in the M phase: nuclear division. During the two gap phases, cells grow in size, proteins are synthesized, and cell cycle checkpoints are passed to control if the cell is allowed to enter the next phase. There are three major checkpoints in the entire cell cycle at which the cell cycle can be arrested: at the end of G1 phase (if DNA is damaged), at the end of G2 phase (if DNA is unreplicated or damaged), and at the end of M phase. If the cell undergoes differentiation, in the case of contact inhibition or nutrient deficiency, it enters *G0 state* (G0-arrested cell).

Chromosome segregation

nethylation

DNA

One of the major features of mammalian cell culture (for both adherent and suspension cells) is the cell growth kinetics, which can be divided into four major phases: lag phase, log (exponential growth) phase, stationary phase, and decline (death) phase (Fig. 2.9). *Lag phase* starts directly after cell seeding in the new culture vessel (subcultivation). In this phase, cells grow very slowly, recovering after subcultivation and adapting to the new environment. Adherent cells need time for adhesion, reconstruction of the cytoskeleton, and the production of extracellular matrix proteins, which were partially digested by proteases during subcultivation. The protease treatment, which is used for detachment of cells from the cell culture surface, results in loss of surface proteins, attachment proteins, and receptors. During lag phase these proteins are resynthesized. Suspension cells adapt to the



Fig. 2.9 Cell growth kinetics in a batch culture

temperature and the changed concentration of nutrients and signaling molecules. In *exponential (log) phase*, the cells divide at constant rate. This constant rate is dependent on the cell type, pH, temperature, oxygen, and nutrients. In the *stationary phase* cell proliferation slows down and stops. That is caused by high population density in suspension cultures and by contact inhibition in adherent cultures. In the *decline phase*, if the cell number is not reduced, cell viability decreases leading to the decrease of viable cell number.

As already mentioned previously, at the beginning of cell culture research, scientists believed that any cell placed into in vitro cell culture can divide infinitely (become immortal) and that cell mortality is only a property of multicellular organization. In 1961 Leonard Hayflick and Paul Moorhead published their study on human embryonic cells, where they showed that these cells double in vitro for only a finite number of times. After this limit has been reached, the cells stopped dividing and entered "the phase III" phenomenon. In contrast to immortal cancer cells, normal human cells divided in phase I (primary culture) and phase II (robust cell division), but in the third phase, replication stopped. Moreover, cells could "remember" how many times they have replicated before cryopreservation and after thawing divided only for a certain number of times. This "accelerated aging under glass" was later named the Hayflick limit, and its mechanism was gradually disclosed. First, the "replicometer" was located in the cell nucleus, and then it was discovered that it is the telomeres (noncoding ends of a DNA molecule with TTAGGG repeats) in the nucleus which are involved in the Hayflick limit and, finally, that it is actually telomeres shortening (attrition) which limits cell growth in culture. Telomere shortening causes cellular senescence - an irreversible growth arrest, where cells stop dividing but stay metabolically active. The main characteristics of senescent cells are the presence of several nuclei, large cell size, expression of β -galactosidase, and conversion to an immunogenic phenotype which in vivo makes it possible to eliminate these cells by the organism's own immune system. Cellular senescence is thus an important tumorsuppressive mechanism. The reason why some immortal cell lines and human tumor cells can divide infinitely is the presence of a special enzyme called telomerase, which causes telomere elongation. It is important to note that cellular senescence can be caused by



Fig. 2.10 Cell growth in vitro: primary culture, cell line, and cell strain

factors other than telomere shortening: cellular stress, long confluence, DNA damage, the presence of strong mitogenic signals (delivered by oncogenes), and other stimuli can also induce cellular senescence.

Cells cultivated in vitro can be divided into three major types: *primary cells*, cell lines, and immortalized cell strains. Primary cells are cells which are directly isolated from animal/human tissues as explant culture, with the help of enzymes or by mechanical means. The subculture of a primary cell population results in the formation of a *cell line*, which is a subpopulation of fast-dividing cells which outgrow other cells and display homogeneity in their genotype and phenotype. Such cell lines have a limited life span. But if these cells undergo a (spontaneous or manipulated) genetic transformation, they become immortal, with indefinite in vitro growth. Cell transformation is usually performed chemically or with the help of viruses. Additionally manipulated or specially selected cells from a cell line subpopulation form a *cell strain*. A cell strain has specific properties (growth rate, tumorigenicity, etc.) and displays an even more homogeneous population than a cell line. As can be seen from Fig. 2.10, primary cells divide very slowly. In research, primary cells count as more physiologically relevant in comparison to cell lines: they are more sensitive to external signals, their genome is not altered, and they preserve many characteristics of the original tissue. The major disadvantages of primary cell culture are heterogeneity and low proliferation capacity. Cell lines provide homogeneous and pure cultures with high growth rates, which are also easy to handle (lower growth factors requirement) and cost-effective. On the other hand, cell lines show a different response when exposed to substances such as drugs, especially in comparison with primary cells or cells in vivo. This makes it difficult to translate results of drug screening experiments obtained using cell lines to in vivo studies.

During experimental planning, it is essential to evaluate beforehand all advantages and disadvantages of primary or immortalized cells in order to decide on the best cell type for the experiment. Moreover, some applications require only immortalized cell strains (e.g., biopharmaceuticals production) while in other primary cells are the only suitable choice (e.g., tissue engineering).

2.4.2 Cell Growth in Bioreactors: Important Parameters

Bioreactors provide an opportunity to scale-up cell cultivation. However, scaling-up of the cell culture creates additional challenges in terms of mass transfer. In order to achieve the optimal cultivation conditions, a suitable cultivation system/bioreactor type must be chosen, and key cultivation parameters must be optimized for each cell type and process (\blacksquare Fig. 2.11). First, the optimal cultivation parameters must be defined: *pH range*, *temperature*, *osmolarity*, *agitation rate*, *sparging*, *redox potential*, *metabolites*, CO_{2^2} , and oxygen concentration. To support homeostasis in a growing cell culture, these parameters must remain constant during the entire cultivation process. It is critical to monitor and control key cultivation parameters precisely in order to obtain high cell growth and protein production rates. Usually, suitable cultivation conditions are deduced by experiments performed in small-scale systems, where high throughput can be achieved. At the moment, the most commonly used bioreactors for mammalian cells cultivation and production of proteins, antibodies, and vaccines are the airlift and stirred tank bioreactors.

Chemical parameters pH, osmolarity, dissolved oxygen (DO), and dissolved CO_2 are considered as chemical control parameters. The physiological pH range lies between 6.8 and 8.0. The pH in bioreactor systems is usually controlled by the addition of CO_2 (sparging or overlay) and base solution. In the case of insufficient stirring, pH heterogeneity can arise. Nonoptimal stirring is also a reason for the establishment of temperature, oxygen,



Fig. 2.11 Combination of various criteria plays an important role for the choice of the optimal cultivation system (bioreactor) and cultivation conditions

and CO_2 gradients in bioreactors. Too high concentrations of dissolved CO_2 can lead to slower cell growth and can influence product properties. Oxygen plays a key role in cell metabolism and is often required for optimal enzyme function. This means that insufficient oxygen supply will not only lead to slower cell growth and apoptosis but also will influence the maturation of the product. On the other hand, too high oxygen concentrations can also damage cells and products by an elevation of the reactive oxygen species

level. The oxygen concentration balance in the bioreactor is dependent on the consumption rate and supply, both of which increase with growing cell population during cultivation. An increase of medium osmolarity during cultivation (as a result, e.g., of base addition for pH control) leads to reduced cell growth.

Physical parameters Temperature, stirring speed (agitation), and gas flow rate belong to the physical parameters. As previously discussed, efficient agitation provides better distribution of oxygen, CO₂, and temperature in the bioreactor, so the agitation speed must be as high as possible without affecting cell growth and physiology. The shear forces occurring in a bioreactor during active agitation/stirring are dangerous for mammalian cells, since these cells (in comparison to bacteria and plant cells) do not possess cell walls and are highly shear-stress-sensitive. Sparging (a method of gas supply from a sparger, a tube/device placed in the medium near to the bioreactor bottom and producing gas bubbles) represents an additional risk to mammalian cells for the abovementioned reason. While sparging provides the essential oxygen supply, it creates a situation where cells can easily be exposed to the gas-liquid interface, attach to the bubbles, and be damaged irreversibly during bubble bursting. Moreover, when the bubbles reach the top of the bioreactor, foam can be created, which is also dangerous for floating cells. In order to minimize foam formation, antifoaming reagents can be added to the medium (e.g., Pluronic F68, poly(ethylene glycol), or BSA). Furthermore, the sensitivity of cells to bubble-caused damage differs greatly depending on the cell line [14]. In general, small bubbles (less than 2 mm diameter) are more damaging than large bubbles (more than 10 mm), and large bubbles do not remain on the surface as foam [8]. The combination of sparging and impeller agitation can lead to the disruption of large bubbles from the sparger, resulting in increased cell damage.

2.4.3 Evaluation of Cell Cultures

It is important to monitor the in vitro growth and state of cells in mammalian cell culture, in order to obtain reproducible and reliable results, as well as to reveal possible contaminations and cross-contaminations on time. The routine cell monitoring in the cell culture lab is performed with the help of microscopy and flow cytometry. Additionally, various assays can be used to evaluate cell viability.

2.4.4 Microscopy

Microscopy is the oldest method for cell culture monitoring, which appeared long before the first in vitro mammalian cell cultures were established. In every cell culture lab, you can find a typical *inverted microscope* usually equipped with the phase-contrast technique. The main difference between the inverted microscope and conventional microscopes is that the objectives are located not above but under the stage. This construction makes it



Fig. 2.12 Images of the same culture of HeLa cells made with bright field **a** and phase-contrast **b** technique

easier to observe cells growing on the flask or well bottom. In order to visualize transparent and unstained living cells, the *phase-contrast technique* is used in most microscopes. Phase-contrast microscopy is a contrast-enhancing optical technique which translates the changes in optical path length to changes of light intensity, which in turn can be detected by the human eye or with a camera. Phase-contrast technique was introduced in 1934 by the Dutch physicist Frits Zernike who received the Nobel Prize in Physics in 1953 for this discovery. In contrast to bright light microscopy, cell borders and organelles, including nuclei and nucleoli, can be perfectly seen in the phase-contrast field (**©** Fig. 2.12).

Using microscopy, cells can be monitored in routine inspections before manipulation and the biological dynamics of the culture can be observed over time. Incubator microscopes can be used for the online monitoring of cell migration and growth in cultures. These microscopes are placed directly into incubators and can be operated at high temperatures and humidity. Using such microscopes, time-lapse videos of in vitro cell behavior can be made. Moreover, these microscopes provide the unique opportunity to monitor the cells under special cultivation conditions (e.g., hypoxia) without the necessity of taking cultures out of the incubator for the time needed to make a photo. Incubator microscopes can also be equipped with phase-contrast, bright field, as well as with various fluorescence features. On **•** Fig. 2.13 an example of such a microscope, the Lumascope 600 (Etaluma, USA), is presented.

As an alternative to incubator microscopes, special incubation chambers can be used, which are placed on the stage of the normal lab microscope and provide cells with humidity and CO_2 . The third possibility for online cell growth monitoring is the use of small incubators with integrated imaging systems. Such incubators (or live cell imaging systems) are fully automatic and can perform a simultaneous high-throughput monitoring of cells cultivated in multiple wells.

With the use of microscopy, a researcher can easily define the time point when cells must be subcultivated. After a lag phase in culture, the cells enter the exponential growth phase. Before the cells become confluent and various factors slow down cell proliferation (e.g., contact inhibition), cells are detached from the cultivation vessel, diluted (depending on the growth rate), and reseeded in a new vessel. Estimation of the growth phase using microscope is usually performed by an evaluation of the cell confluence. Typically subcultivation must be performed when confluency reaches 60–80%, which means that the cell monolayer covers 60–80% of the growth surface.



Fig. 2.13 Incubator microscope Lumascope 720 (Etaluma Inc, USA) **a**, and time-lapse videos **b** made with Lumascope, **c** inverted routine microscope (Nikon Corporation, Japan)

2.4.5 Estimation of Cell Number and Viability

After detachment with proteases, detachment reagents (e.g., EDTA) or by using a cell scraper, cells are counted either with *automatic cell counters* or with the help of a *hemocy-tometer*. In both counting techniques, *trypan blue* is used to distinguish between live and dead cells. After addition of the trypan blue reagent to a freshly prepared cell suspension, the viable cells remain unstained, while dead cells with a disintegrated cell membrane turn blue. The trypan blue dye can easily penetrate compromised cell membranes and stain intracellular proteins, resulting in blue-colored cells. There are two types of automatic cell counters: counters which evaluate cell number and viability in flow-through suspension samples (e.g., CASY technology, Cedex Analyzer) and counters which make a picture of



Fig. 2.14 a Schematic presentation of the grid structure in a hemocytometer: there are four large squares each consisting of 16 small squares; **b** Microphotograph of the cells in a hemocytometer – viable calls are unstrained and dead cells are colored blue, dashed arrows indicate the track for cell counting

the sample placed on a special slide followed by a calculation of the initial concentration (e.g., Countess[®] cell counter, TC20[™] cell counter). Nearly the same principle lies behind cell counting with a hemocytometer: here a sample of cells is mixed with trypan blue solution and is loaded in the space between a hemocytometer with a special grid (**•** Fig. 2.14) and a cover glass. Cells in the squares are counted, and the initial cell concentration in suspension is calculated (e.g., for the chamber with depth of 0.01 mm, the estimated cell number in one large square is multiplied by 10,000 to obtain the cell number per ml).

Another approach to cell viability estimation is live/dead assays: here one dye is used to stain viable cells (e.g., Calcein-AM) and another to stain dead cells (e.g., propidium iodide). The advantage of this method is its quickness (10–15 min), and the main disad-vantage is that it is semiquantitative. Indirect cell viability assays are based on measurements of cell metabolism. In this type of assays, a solution with a substrate is incubated with cells for a certain period of time, during which it is, e.g., reduced by intracellular enzymes, and the concentration of the product is measured afterward. Substrates and products can be measured by a colorimetric (MTT assay) or fluorescent assay (Alamar blue assay). *Flow cytometry* is widely used in cell culture for different applications including immunophenotyping (specific cell surface marker expression), apoptosis analysis (annexin V, DNA fragmentation, mitochondrial membrane potential), cell cycle analysis (BrdU incorporation and PI, Hoechst 33,342 or DAPI staining of DNA), proliferation analysis (cytoplasmic dyes which are diluted with every cell division), transfection efficiency, gene expression, and particle uptake.

Take-Home Messages

- In vitro cell cultivation started already more than 100 years ago.
- One of the major requirements is the necessity to work under aseptic conditions.
- There are several types of biological contaminations in the cell culture: the most difficult ones are invisible contaminations with viruses and mycoplasmas or cross-contaminations with other cells.

- In conventional cell culture vessels, there are several types of plastic surfaces for cell adhesion.
- Bioreactors enable cultivation under dynamic conditions as well as possibility for upscale.
- The most important parameters of cell growth are doubling time and growth phase.
- Optimal chemical and physical parameters during cultivation in bioreactor enable best possible cell growth and protein production.

References

- 1. Appleby BS, Lu M, Bizzi A, Phillips MD, Berri SM, Harbison MD, Schonberger LB. latrogenic Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease from commercial cadaveric human growth hormone. Emerg Infect Dis. 2013;19:682–4.
- 2. Aquino da Silva KA. Sterilization by gamma irradiation. In: Adrovic PF, editor. Gamma radiation: InTech; 2012, ISBN 978-953-51-0316-5, https://doi.org/10.5772/34901
- 3. Bang FB. History of tissue culture at Johns Hopkins. Bull Hist Med. 1977;51:516–37.
- Bernardo ME, Zaffaroni N, Novara F, Cometa AM, Avanzini MA, Moretta A, Montagna D, Maccario R, Villa R, Daidone MG, Zuffardi O, Locatelli F. Human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells do not undergo transformation after long-term in vitro culture and do not exhibit telomere maintenance mechanisms. Cancer Res. 2007;67:9142–9.
- 5. Carrel A, Burrows MT. Cultivation of tissues in vitro and its technique. J Exp Med. 1911;13:387–96.
- 6. Carrel A, Burrows MT. An addition to the technique of the cultivation of tissues in vitro. J Exp Med. 1911;14:244–7.
- 7. Carrel A, Ebeling AH. The multiplication of fibroblasts in vitro. J Exp Med. 1921;34:317–37.
- 8. Chisti Y. Animal-cell damage in sparged bioreactors. Trends Biotechnol. 2000;18:420–32.
- 9. Eagle H. Nutrition needs of mammalian cells in tissue culture. Science. 1955;122:501–14.
- 10. Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature. 1981;292:154–6.
- 11. FDA Marketed Products. http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/CellularGeneTherapyProducts/ ApprovedProducts/
- 12. Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS. The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of Guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet. 1970;3:393–403.
- 13. Garcia S, Bernad A, Martin MC, Cigudosa JC, Garcia-Castro J, de la Fuente R. Pitfalls in spontaneous in vitro transformation of human mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Cell Res. 2010;316:1648–50.
- 14. Handa A, Emery AN, Spier RE. On the evaluation of gas-liquid interfacial effects on hybridoma viability in bubble column bioreactors. Dev Biol Stand. 1987;66:241–53.
- 15. Hayflick L, Moorhead PS. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. Exp Cell Res. 1961;25: 585–621.
- 16. Identity crisis. Nature. 2009;457:935-6.
- 17. Kleinsmith LJ, Pierce GB Jr. Multipotentiality of single Embryonal carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 1964;24:1544–51.
- Lucey BP, Nelson-Rees WA, Hutchins GM. Henrietta Lacks, HeLa cells, and cell culture contamination. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2009;133:1463–7.
- Rosland GV, Svendsen A, Torsvik A, Sobala E, McCormack E, Immervoll H, Mysliwietz J, Tonn JC, Goldbrunner R, Lonning PE, Bjerkvig R, Schichor C. Long-term cultures of bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells frequently undergo spontaneous malignant transformation. Cancer Res. 2009;69:5331–9.
- 20. Rous P, Jones FS. A method for obtaining suspensions of living cells from the fixed tissues, and for the plating out of individual cells. J Exp Med. 1916;23:549–55.
- 21. Rubio D, Garcia-Castro J, Martin MC, de la Fuente R, Cigudosa JC, Lloyd AC, Bernad A. Spontaneous human adult stem cell transformation. Cancer Res. 2005;65:3035–9.
- 22. Scherer WF, Syverton JT, Gey GO. Studies on the propagation in vitro of poliomyelitis viruses. IV. Viral multiplication in a stable strain of human malignant epithelial cells (strain HeLa) derived from an epidermoid carcinoma of the cervix. J Exp Med. 1953;97:695–710.

- 23. Shay JW, Wright WE. Hayflick, his limit, and cellular ageing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2000;1:72-6.
- 24. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126:663–76.
- 25. Taylor MW. A history of cell culture. In: Viruses and man: a history of interactions. Springer International Publishing: Cham; 2014. p. 41–52.
- Torsvik A, Rosland GV, Svendsen A, Molven A, Immervoll H, McCormack E, Lonning PE, Primon M, Sobala E, Tonn JC, Goldbrunner R, Schichor C, Mysliwietz J, Lah TT, Motaln H, Knappskog S, Bjerkvig R. Spontaneous malignant transformation of human mesenchymal stem cells reflects cross-contamination: putting the research field on track - letter. Cancer Res. 2010;70:6393–6.
- 27. Witkowski J. The myth of cell immortality. Trends Biochem Sci. 1985;10:258–60.
- Zhang J. Chapter 12: Mammalian cell culture for biopharmaceutical production. In: Manual of industrial microbiology and biotechnology. 3rd ed. Washington, DC: American Society of Microbiology; 2010. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555816827.ch12.



Cell Culture Media

Reinhard Henschler

3.1	Purpose of Cell Culture Media – 50
3.2	Minimum Requirements for Culture Media for Mammalian and Human Cells – 50
3.3	Natural Sources of Culture Media Ingredients – 52
3.4	Amino Acids – 53
3.5	Proteins, Peptides, and Lipids: The Key to Development of Serum-Free Media – 53
3.6	Vitamins – 54
3.7	Buffering Systems – 55
3.8	Basal Medium Formulations – 56
3.8.1	Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (EMEM) – 56
3.8.2	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) – 56
3.8.3	Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI)-1640 – 56
3.8.4	Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM) – 56
3.9	Co-culture with Nurturing Cells and Conditioned Media – 57

References – 58

This chapter is dedicated to my former Ph.D. student, Dietrich (Dieter) Möbest who brought with him much basic knowledge and a high interest in cell culture media. Due to a severe illness, Dieter could not further pursue his career after his postdoc time. His solid knowledge in biotechnology and specifically cell culture media and his constant optimism stimulated my own interest in the field and formed the basis of several joint studies investigating the role of culture medium in determining the fate of hematopoietic cells.

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 C. Kasper et al. (eds.), *Cell Culture Technology*, Learning Materials in Biosciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74854-2_3

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

You will learn the basic constituents of culture media for mammalian cells and their derivation. The historic development of constituents and additives to culture media such as amino acids, protein, vitamins for individual cell types from different tissues will be covered, with a focus on stem and progenitor cells. You will read on approaches towards the derivation of defined media, and the supplementation of serum additives. The relevance of physical parameters such as osmolarity and buffer systems will be approached. You shall gain an understanding on why essential components of cell culture media, of which several are in general use worldwide, have been added and assess the relevance of their presence in given cell culture settings.

3.1 Purpose of Cell Culture Media

The ability to preserve and amplify different cell types from animal and human tissues has been a key prerequisite for a multitude of discoveries in modern cell and molecular biology, including the identification of chromosomal aberrations in cancer and the production of monoclonal antibodies.

Cell culture media are the major constituent providing an environment securing the survival, further continuous propagation, and/or differentiation for cells that have been either freshly explanted from an organism or have been transformed from other primary cultures. Cell culture media shall in the first line provide the energy sources, confer oxygen to cells, contain a salt composition and pH which are beneficial to the cultured cells, and take up metabolites and debris of cultured cells. In addition, culture media are often used to provide signals for the survival, growth, and/or differentiation of the cultured cells. Thus, cell culture media have to replace the natural environment of the cultured cells in fluid form.

Experiments to isolate cells in culture date back in the early twentieth century, trying to establish expanded cells in plasma clots or fibrinogen clots and allowed for the preservation and isolation of different cell types such as neural tissue or bone marrow [23, 24]. First efforts toward the use of chemically defined media and continuing multiplication on serial subculture included studies by Fisher et al. [15] who supplemented a defined medium with dialyzed chicken plasma, serum, and embryo extract [15]. A multitude of different ingredients derived from tissue, blood, or organ extracts had been tried and established to isolate mammalian cells, including human cells. Among these were plasma clot culture, fibrinogen clots, embryonic cell extracts, and supernatants from explanted cells or tissues. Table 3.1 lists important purposes of cell culture media and typical basal ingredients mediating these functions.

3.2 Minimum Requirements for Culture Media for Mammalian and Human Cells

In 1955, Harry Eagle published pivotal work on the way to defined cell culture medium. He described a minimum of 27 different factors which needed to be present in "essential" medium (termed therefore, Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium) [13]. The selection of these ingredients, which included inorganic salts, glucose, amino acids, and vitamins, was justified by data omitting the respective reagent. The definition of these minimal ingredients laid the basis for the continuous and stable propagation of murine (L fibroblasts) and

Table 3.1 Main purposes of cell culture media and ingredients			
Purpose	Typical ingredient		
Energy source	Glucose		
Confer oxygen	(free diffusion)		
Provide ionic strength	NaCl, KCl, CaCl, MgCl ₂		
Maintain physiological pH	NaH ₂ PO ₄ * H ₂ O, NaHCO ₃		
Take up metabolites and debris of cultured cells	(free diffusion/suspension) added serum or albumin (in part)		
Provide survival/growth differentiation signals	(dialyzed) human, horse, or calf serum		

Table 3.2 Essential constituents of basal media for cultivation of the HeLa cell and mouse fibroblast

Inorganic salts	Amino acids	Vitamins
NaCl (100 mM)	Arginine (0.1 mM)	Biotin (10-3 M)
KCI (5 mM)	Cysteine (0.05 mM)	Choline (10-3 M)
$NaH_2PO_4 * H_2O (1 mM)$	Glutamine (2.0 mM)	Folic acid (10-3 M)
NaHCO ₃ (20 mM)	Histidine (0.05 mM)	Nicotinamide (10-3 M)
CaCl ₂ (1 mM)	Isoleucine (0.2 mM)	Pantothenic acid (10-3 M)
MgCl ₂ (0.5 mM)	Tyrosine (0.2 mM)	Thiamin (10-3 M)
Carbohydrate	Leucine (0.2 mM)	Pyridoxal (10-3 M)
Glucose (5 mM)	Methionine (0.05 mM)	Riboflavin (10-4 M)
Other	Phenylalanine (0.1 mM)	
Serum	Threonine (0.2 mM)	
(horse, fetal calf; 1–10%)	Tryptophan (0.02 mM)	
Penicillin, streptomycin	Tyrosine (0.1 mM)	
Phenol red	Valine (0.2 mM)	
Adapted from Eagle [13]		

human (HeLa uterine carcinoma) cell lines previously described by Sanford et al. [24] and Scherer et al. [41], allowing their growth also on glass culture surfaces. The essential constituents consisted of salts (NaCl, KCl, CaCl₂, MgCl₂, NaHCO₃, and NaH₂PO₄), glucose, 13 essential amino acids, and a number of vitamins of the B complex. **•** Table 3.2 lists the ingredients of Minimum Essential Medium according to Eagle [13].

Careful experimentation by omitting single constituents demonstrated that each constituent is essential. A number of different carbohydrates could however substitute for 3

glucose: Galactose, mannose, and maltose were almost as active as glucose; some other sugars turned out to be only slightly less active. In the vitamin section, flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) could substitute for riboflavin, diphosphopyridine nucleotide (DPN) or triphosphopyridine nucleotide (TPN) for nicotinamide, coenzyme A for pantothenic acid, and cocarboxylase for thiamine. Phenol red was included to visualize changes in pH into the acid or alkaline direction which would lead to nonphysiological conditions. Especially, alkaline reactions would be encountered if CO_2 concentrations in the incubators fell below efficient levels.

As to serum, either horse or fetal calf serum was added, which usually had to be pretested on a batch basis. Serum concentrations between 1% and 5% were recommended for survival/experimentation, whereas 5–10% were considered to be useful for propagation of cultures. Alcohol-salt precipitation experiments proved that part of the serum constituents were inert, while others were only weakly active. When serum was exhaustively dialyzed, it was also inactive. However, serum fractions obtained by simple salting out with (NH₄)₂SO₄ followed by a 24-h dialysis were all active, to similar degrees.

Further experiments by Eagle demonstrated that cellular functions other than proliferation were less sensitive to the composition of the medium and the presence of the described "essential" components [14]. For example, the amount of poliomyelitis virus released into the medium by the HeLa cell line was quantitatively not affected by the omission of either serum protein, amino acids, or vitamins from the medium shown in **Table 3.2.** However, omission of either glucose or glutamine from the medium resulted in a marked decrease in virus production.

3.3 Natural Sources of Culture Media Ingredients

The results of the groundbreaking experiments in the 1950s by Eagle which defined 27 essential media components are still valid today in mammalian and also human cell culture. However, important factors could at that time not be substituted and remained unknown or poorly defined. For some constituents, this is still the case today.

Before the definition of essential medium components, such sources had been human- or animal-derived plasma, serum, lymph, extracts from adult tissues or embryos, or amniotic fluid. A main limitation of the natural media sources was and continues to be the variability between different collections (batches) and different organisms. Other limitations of serum as additive in culture medium are that they are non-defined and can contain, in addition to soluble ingredients, microparticles or exosomes which are difficult to remove. Animal-derived serum is also principally not suitable to culture cells or tissues which are used for transplantation in humans for more than one application, due to the formation of immune responses against animal proteins in patients after transplantation of cells which had been expanded in the presence of, e.g., calf serum [19].

Thus, in serum-supplemented culture, important stimuli continued to be provided by addition of little defined, natural sources. The variety of stimuli provided by serum is summarized in **Table 3.3**. Further functions of natural ingredients in cell culture media include activities to "detoxify" the culture, due to binding and inactivation of waste products, to provide (colloid) osmotic pressure for cultured cells, to increase the viscosity of medium and protect cells from mechanical damage, and to buffer against unphysiological pH.

Iable 3.3 Substances and activities contained in serum preparations used as additives in cell culture media				
Amino acids	Vitamins	Carbohydrates	Trace elements	
Lipids	Hormones	Growth factors	Minerals (e.g., Na+, K+, Zn2+, Fe2+)	
Binding and transport proteins (e.g., albumin, transferrin)	Attachment and spreading factors (e.g., fibronectin)	Protease inhibitors (protect cells from proteolysis)	Proteases	

3.4 Amino Acids

As described above, Eagle [13, 14] worked out and published a list of essential amino acids which allow for the continuous growth of several established cell lines in 2D culture systems. These essential amino acids are also used for the synthesis of nonessential amino acids and other metabolic intermediates such as phospho-l-tyrosine, S-sulfo-l-cysteine, or branched amino acids [17, 40]. L-serine and glycine are involved in the metabolism of nucleic acid precursors through the tetrahydrofolate cycle. Depletion of L-serine may be overcome by additional supplementation with glycine, which leads to L-serine production, avoiding slowing of the tetrahydrofolate cycle and one-carbon metabolism, and inhibition of cell proliferation [11, 22].

Amino acids have been found to be of limited stability in solution. Therefore, for every culture medium preparation, half-life studies have to be performed to determine the intactness of amino acids when storing medium at 4 °C. Alternatively, powdered media formulations have been developed which allow longer pre-use storage. In particular, L-glutamine is instable in aqueous solutions and decomposes to form cyclic pyrolidonecarboxylic acid with the release of ammonia [8, 35]. L-glutamine can be replaced with the dipeptide L-alanyl-L-glutamine (Glutamax), and L-cysteine replaced by N-acetyl-L-cysteine or S-sulfo-L- cysteine [32, 44]. Addition of more L-glutamine than necessary results in the buildup of ammonia which can be deleterious to some cell lines. Use of phospho-L-tyrosine in place of L-tyrosine has increased solubility of this more lipophilic amino acid [40, 47].

In addition, amino acids are capable of forming mixed crystals, especially amino acids with similar side chains, and cations can form coordination modes through interactions with the nitrogen in the amino group, the hydroxyl oxygen in the carboxyl group, and the carbonyl oxygen in the carboxyl group [21]. Although the composition of amino acids are generally fixed in the established culture media, for fed batch and perfusion cultures, determination of optimal concentrations of amino acids is often pursued, and depends on the metabolic requirements of the cells used [39, 45].

3.5 Proteins, Peptides, and Lipids: The Key to Development of Serum-Free Media

When using classical cell culture media which are described below in more detail, usually sufficient amounts of plasma proteins are supplemented through the addition of serum. In comparison with adult calf serum and horse serum, fetal serum is a relatively richer source of growth factors and is appropriate for cell cloning and for the growth of fastidious cells [2]. Adult calf serum, on the other hand, is used in contact-inhibition studies because of its lower growth-promoting properties. For primary cell cultures, such as the culture of epidermis equivalents for skin explants, the substitution of single individual factors may suffice [26].

In cases where xenogeneic components are unwanted such as the ex vivo expansion of human cells for therapies, human additives, e.g., human serum, may be used since allosensitization against animal proteins needs to be avoided. One example is the ex vivo expansion of human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Another example, human mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) which are used as cellular therapies in a variety of clinical diseases (for review, see [7]), human platelet lysate (HPL) has been established as an efficient additive to replace serum. HPL is at the same time a rich source of human growth factors which are released from platelets during the preparation process and proved to be an efficient replacement for animal or human serum in culture expansion for MSCs [3, 6].

The ultimate aim for the in vitro growth of human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells has been a defined medium, without addition of serum or human plasma. Thus, the challenge has been the complete omission of serum. The development of serum-free media took a decisive turn when it was possible to provide three main constituents of serum in recombinant or purified form:

- 1. Albumin
- 2. Transferrin
- 3. Cholesterol (or other types of a lipid source)

The most commonly supplemented proteins and peptides in cell culture media are albumin, transferrin, and fibronectin. Albumin is the main protein in blood acting to bind water, salts, free fatty acids, hormones, and vitamins and transport them between tissues and cells. Albumin is also a key component securing the binding of added growth factors such as recombinant cytokines into serum-free media. Both transferrin (expressed in rice) and cholesterol are available in synthetic form as media supplements.

Today, a large number of serum-free cell culture media are on the market and in routine use, including culture media designed for propagation and/or differentiation of hematopoietic cells. By substituting of key functions of serum by the addition of albumin, transferrin, and a lipid source instead of serum [38], serum-free cultures could be established for cell lines and a number of primary hematopoietic and other cell types Arora et al. [2]. For example, serum-free medium for ex vivo expansion of hematopoietic cells can be manufactured using as a basis an established basal medium such as Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM; explained below) [30]. Generally, recipes for such media are proprietal. A rather comprehensive list of FBS-free media for use in mammalian and human cell culture is given by the FRAME Initiative [16].

3.6 Vitamins

As shown above, the water-soluble B-group vitamins are present in the essential culture medium and are needed for cell growth stimulation. In contrast, lipid-soluble vitamins such as Vitamins A, D, E, and K are classically added to media through serum. The seven vitamins which have to date proved essential for the survival and multiplication of mouse

55

L cells and human HeLa carcinoma cells are choline, folic acid, nicotinamide, pantothenic acid, pyridoxal, riboflavin, and thiamin. Omission experiments showed that if cells lacked these vitamins for 5–15 days, the deficiency became apparent by the cessation of cell replication and the development of specific cytopathogenic effects. These changes could be reversed by adding the missing vitamin. The maximally effective concentrations were elaborated for L cells and HeLa cells (Eagle et al. 1955a, b).

The stability of vitamins in culture media is however variable. Kurano et al. [25] found a relative instability of ascorbic acid and thiamine from alpha-modified Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (MEM-alpha) when it was supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum. Vitamin B₁₂ is present in sera at variable concentrations depending on species and due to its chemical instability is vulnerable to storage and handling. A wide range of Vitamin B_{12} is present in formulations of classic media. Basal media often contain no vitamin B12, RPMI-1640 and Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM) contain low levels (3-10 nM), and alpha-MEM contains 100 nM vitamin B₁₂, whereas H-Y Medium and McCoy's 5A Modified Medium contain 923 nM and 1.48 µM of vitamin B₁₂, respectively [40]. In general, hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell cultures contain primary, freshly isolated cells and have a limited ability to self-renew or even transform [12, 27]. The limited life span can explain a relatively low need for vitamin supplementation during their culture expansion. Vitamins, particularly lipid-like Vitamins A, D, E, and K, are transported by and bound to albumin. Importantly, the source and the purification grade of the albumin preparation added, especially to serum-free cell culture medium, determine the content of vitamins.

3.7 Buffering Systems

The gaseous CO_2 balances with the CO_3/HCO_3 content of culture medium. Cultures with a natural buffering system need to be maintained in an air atmosphere with supplementation of 5–10% CO_2 is usually maintained by an CO_2 incubator. This natural buffering system is practical, economical, and nontoxic [20, 37] and remains the major method to control pH in cell culture systems today.

4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) is a chemical buffer using a zwitterion. It shows a superior buffering capacity in the pH range 7.2–7.4. A controlled gaseous atmosphere is no longer required [42]. In contrast to the bicarbonate system, HEPES is relatively expensive. For some cell types, it may be at higher concentrations. HEPES has been found to enhance the sensitivity of media to phototoxic effects induced by exposure to fluorescent light [46].

pH Indicators Most of the commercially available culture media include phenol red as a pH indicator, which allows constant monitoring of pH [36]. When cells grow and accumulate acid metabolites, a color change reflecting lowering of the culture pH is taking place toward orange and later yellow. At higher pH levels, the color turns purple. Media are bright red at pH 7.4, the optimum pH value for most cell cultures. Disadvantages of using phenol red include the ability of phenol red to stimulate steroid hormone receptors, particularly estrogen [4]. Thus, media without phenol red should not be used with estrogen-sensitive cells, e.g., from mammary tissue. Phenol red can also, when used in some serum-free formulations, interfere with the sodium-potassium homeostasis [18].

3.8 Basal Medium Formulations

In the following, the main characteristics of some basic cell culture media are described. Many of them are available as powder or in liquid form. Powdered media often do not contain sodium bicarbonate, because it tends to gas off and require the addition of three sodium bicarbonate upon dissolving it in water (3.7 g/L).

3.8.1 Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (EMEM)

EMEM is one of the first widely used standardized media, formulated on his description of media, and was formulated from his basal medium described above [13, 14]. EMEM contains bicarbonate buffer, salts corresponding to the extracellular milieu (i.e., blood plasma), a number of essential amino acids, and sodium pyruvate. EMEM is usually supplemented with additional components and serum. It has been found suitable for a wide range of mammalian cells.

3.8.2 Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM)

Compared to EMEM, DMEM is richer, containing almost twice the concentration of amino acids and four times the amount of vitamins. Moreover, ferric nitrate, sodium pyruvate, and additional amino acids are included. Originally, it contained glucose at 1000 mg/L, but a variation with 4500 mg/L glucose has been proved to be better to culture a number of cells. As is EMEM, DMEM is a basal medium and does not contain proteins or growth-promoting agents and requires addition of fetal calf serum (FBS). DMEM contains sodium bicarbonate buffer system (3.7 g/L) and required the presence of CO_2 to maintain the required pH. DMEM is applied widely for culturing primary mouse, chicken, and human cells including fibroblasts. It is used as a basal medium also for embryonic stem cells.

3.8.3 Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI)-1640

RPMI-1640 is a medium applied for many mammalian cells; it has been developed especially for hematopoietic cells and peripheral blood lymphocytes [31]. RPMI-1640 also uses bicarbonate buffering system, but differs from the most mammalian cell culture media by its ability to maintain a pH of 8.

3.8.4 Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM)

IMDM is a modification of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium. Includes selenium as well as additional amino acids and vitamins. It lacks iron, with potassium nitrate replacing ferric nitrate. IMDM contains no proteins, lipids, or growth factors and required addition of serum. However, serum-free formulations have been derived from IMDM [30].

3.9 Co-culture with Nurturing Cells and Conditioned Media

Especially in the case of hematopoietic cells, cocultivation with other cells has been a major step leading to the successful growth of lymphocytes and immature hematopoietic cells in culture. Miller et al. [28] published the use of a leukemic cell line in the establishment of lymphocytes. Later, it was found that Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) was the transforming agent for the primary cells [29]. Also in the 1970s, the group of T.M. Dexter in Manchester together with colleagues found that bone marrow, when it was successfully established in culture, i.e., produced mature progeny from immature hematopoietic precursor cells, always contained a stromal cell layer containing adventitial reticular fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and macrophages which formed contact-dependent support of proliferating stem and progenitor cells [10]. Interestingly, hyperosmolaric conditions were beneficial in these culture systems. Moreover, spleen cells from other species could take over the support function for human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells [1].

In cultures of hematopoietic cells, more recently it has been shown that removal of accumulating growth-inhibiting soluble cytokines can result in improved culture conditions. One relevant cytokine which inhibits hematopoiesis is transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1. By maintaining the concentrations of TGF- β 1 below an upper threshold throughout hematopoietic cell culture, ex vivo expansion of hematopoietic progenitor cells could be enhanced and established over longer culture periods [9]. For other factors secreted into the medium, differential effects were shown. Bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP-4) at 10 ng/mL, but not at lower concentrations, was permissive for the emergence of cells capable to form not only hematopoiesis but also endothelial cells [34]. Early addition of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-2 positively influenced this development, whereas later addition did not. This example illustrates that addition and removal of growth factors during culture from the medium bears potential to design the outcome.

Finally, stem cells themselves may be a source of growth and differentiation inducing activity which can be used in culture media. Thus, conditioning of media for pluripotent stem cells by other stem cell types has recently entered the field of stem cell research and may widen the options of stem cell culture, as well as its use in diagnostics, research, and the development of therapies from cultured cells [5, 33, 43].

Take-Home Messages

- Cell culture medium requires essential salts, amino acids, vitamins, and energy sources. Most standardized media require addition of animal or human serum.
- Metabolites that are not further processed or toxic need to be taken up.
- Medium may be designed to provide specific biological signals to cultured cells, relevant for their survival, proliferation, and differentiation.
- Replacement of serum needs imposes a major challenge to medium development and may be accomplished through addition of albumin, transferrin, and a lipid source.

References

- 1. Arnold EA, Katsnelson I, Hoffman GJ. Proliferation and differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells in long-term cultures of adult hamster spleen. J Exp Med. 1982;155:1370–84.
- 2. Arora M. Cell culture media: a review. Mater Methods. 2013;3:175.
- 3. Astori G, Amati E, Bambi F, Bernardi M, Chieregato K, Schäfer R, Sella S, Rodeghiero F. Platelet lysate as a substitute for animal serum for the ex-vivo expansion of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells: present and future. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2016;7:93.
- 4. Berthois Y, Katzenellenbogen J, Katzenellenbogen B. Phenol red in tissue culture media is a weak estrogen: implications concerning the study of estrogen-responsive cells in culture. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. (1986);83:2496–500.
- 5. Borowski M, Giovino-Doherty M, Ji L, Shi MJ, Smith KP, Laning J. Basic pluripotent stem cell culture protocols. StemBook [Internet]. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Stem Cell Institute; 2012.
- 6. Burnouf T, Strunk D, Koh MB, Schallmoser K. Human platelet lysate: replacing fetal bovine serum as a gold standard for human cell propagation? Biomaterials. 2016;76:371–87.
- 7. Caplan AI, Correa D. The MSC: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell. 2011;9:11–5.
- 8. Chen P, Harcum SW. Effects of elevated ammonium on glycosylation gene expression in CHO cells. Metab Eng. 2006;8(2):123–32.
- Csaszar E, Chen K, Caldwell J, Chan W, Zandstra PW. Real-time monitoring and control of soluble signaling factors enables enhanced progenitor cell outputs from human cord blood stem cell cultures. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2014;111:1258–64.
- 10. Dexter TM, Allen TD, Lajtha LG, Schofield R, Lord BI. Stimulation of differentiation and proliferation of haemopoietic cells in vitro. J Cell Physiol. 1973;82:461–73.
- 11. Duarte TM, Carinhas N, Barreiro LC, Carrondo MJ, Alves PM, Teix-eira AP. Metabolic responses of CHO cells to limitation of key amino acids. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2014;111:2095–106.
- 12. Dührsen U, Metcalf D. Effects of irradiation of recipient mice on the behavior and leukemogenic potential of factor-dependent hematopoietic cell lines. Blood. 1990;75(1):190–7.
- 13. Eagle H. Nutrition needs of mammalian cells in tissue culture. Science. 1955a;122(3168):501-4.
- 14. Eagle H. The minimum vitamin requirements of the L and HeLa cells in tissue culture, the production of specific vitamin deficiencies, and their cure. J Exp Med. 1955b;102(5):595–600.
- 15. Fischer A. Amino-acid metabolism of tissue cells in vitro. Biochem J. 1948;43(4):491–7.
- FRAME initiative et al. Serum-free media for cell culture. A Dr Hadwen Trust/FRAME initiative on behalf of Focus on Alternatives. Downloaded from http://www.drhadwentrust.org/DHT%20-%20FCS%20 Free%20Table.pdf, Jan 2017; 2009.
- 17. Green CR, Wallace M, Divakaruni AS, Phillips SA, Murphy AN, Ciaraldi TP, Metallo CM. Branched-chain amino acid catabolism fuels adipocyte differentiation and lipogenesis. Nat Chem Biol. 2016;12(1): 15–21.
- Hopp L, Bunker CH. Lipophilic impurity of phenol red is a potent cation transport modulator. J Cell Physiol. 1993;157:594–602.
- Horwitz EM, Gordon PL, Koo WK, Marx JC, Neel MD, McNall RY, Muul L, Hofmann T. Isolated allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells engraft and stimulate growth in children with osteogenesis imperfecta: implications for cell therapy of bone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:8932–7.
- 20. Howorth P. The physiological assessment of acid-base balance. Br J Dis Chest. 1975;69:75–102.
- 21. Jover J, Bosque R, Sales J. A comparison of the binding affinity of the common amino acids with different metal cations. Dalton Trans. 2008;45:6441–53.
- 22. Labuschagne CF, van den Broek NJ, Mackay GM, Vousden KH, Maddocks OD. Serine, but not glycine, supports one-carbon metabolism and proliferation of cancer cells. Cell Rep. 2014;7:1248–58.
- Lambert RA. The effect of dilution of plasma medium on the growth and fat accumulation of cells in tissue cultures. J Exp Med. 1914;19:398–405.
- 24. Sanford KK, Earle WR, Likely GD. The growth in vitro of single isolated tissue cells. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1948;9(3):229–46.
- 25. Kurano S, Kurano N, Leist C, Fiechter A. Utilization and stability of vitamins in serum containing and serum-free media in CHO cell culture. Cytotechnology. 1990;4:243–50.
- Mainzer C, Barrichello C, Debret R, Remoué N, Sigaudo-Roussel D, Sommer P. Insulin-transferrinselenium as an alternative to foetal serum for epidermal equivalents. Int J Cosmet Sci. 2014;36:427–35.
- 27. Metcalf D. Regulatory control of the proliferation ad differentiation of normal and leukemia cells. Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 1982;60:123–31.

- 28. Miller G, Enders JF, Lisco H, Kohn HI. Establishment of lines from normal human blood leukocytes by co-cultivation with a leukocyte line derived from a leukemic child. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1969;132:247–52.
- Miller G, Lisco H, Kohn HI, Stitt D, Enders JF. Establishment of cell lines from normal adult human blood leukocytes by exposure to Epstein-Barr virus and neutralization by human sera with Epstein-Barr virus antibody. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1971;137:1459–65.
- 30. Möbest D, Mertelsmann R, Henschler R. Serum-free ex vivo expansion of CD34(+) hematopoietic progenitor cells. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1998;60:341–7.
- 31. Moore GE, Gerner RE, Franklin HA. Culture of normal human leukocytes. JAMA. 1967;199:519–24.
- 32. Oh HK, So MK, Yang J, Yoon HC, Ahn JS, Lee JM, Kim JT, Yoo JU, Byun TH. Effect of N-acetylcystein on butyrate-treated Chinese hamster ovary cells to improve the production of recombinant human interferon-β-1a. Biotechnol Prog. 2005;21(4):1154–64.
- 33. Pawitan JA. Prospect of stem cell conditioned medium in regenerative medicine. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:965849.
- 34. Purpura KA, Morin J, Zandstra PW. Analysis of the temporal and concentration-dependent effects of BMP-4, VEGF, and TPO on development of embryonic stem cell-derived mesoderm and blood progenitors in a defined, serum-free media. Exp Hematol. 2008;36:1186–98.
- Purwaha P, Silva LP, Hawke DH, Weinstein JN, Lorenzi PL. An artifact in LC-MS/MS measurement of glutamine and glutamic acid: in-source cyclization to pyroglutamic acid. Anal Chem. 2014;86(12): 5633–7.
- 36. Reznikov B. Incubation of Brucella on solid nutrient media with a phenol red indicator. Veterinariia. 1972;7:109–10.
- 37. Rothblat GH, Cristofalo VJ. Growth, nutrition and metabolism of cells in culture. New York: Academic Press Inc; 1972. p. 56–64.
- Rothblat GH, Hartzell R, Mialhe H, Kritchevsk D. Cholesterol metabolism in tissue culture cells. In: Rothblat GH, Kritchevsky D, editors. Lipid metabolism in tissue culture cells. Philadelphia: Wistar Institute Press; 1967. p. 129–49.
- 39. Rouiller Y, Perilleux A, Vesin MN, Stettler M, Jordan M, Broly H. Modulation of mAb quality attributes using micro- liter scale fed-batch cultures. Biotechnol Prog. 2014;30(3):571–83.
- 40. Salazar A, Keusgen M, von Hagen J. Amino acids in the cultivation of mammalian cells. Amino Acids. 2016;48:1161–71.
- 41. Scherer WF, Syverton JT, Gey GO. Studies on the propagation in vitro of poliomyelitis viruses. IV. Viral multiplication in a stable strain of human malignant epithelial cells (strain HeLa) derived from an epidermoid carcinoma of the cervix. J Exp Med. 1953;97(5):695–710.
- 42. Shipman C. Evaluation of 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineëthanesulfonic acid (HEPES) as a tissue culture buffer. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1969;130:305–10.
- 43. Tomishima M. Conditioning pluripotent stem cell media with mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF-CM). StemBook [Internet]. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Stem Cell Institute; 2012.
- 44. van der Valk J, Brunner D, De Smet K, Fex Svenningsen Å, Honeg-ger P, Knudsen LE, Lindl T, Noraberg J, Price A, Scarino ML, Gstraunthaler G. Optimization of chemically defined cell culture media—replacing fetal bovine serum in mammalian in vitro methods. Toxicol Vitro. 2010;24(4):1053–63.
- 45. Xing Z, Kenty B, Koyrakh I, Borys M, Pan S-H, Li ZJ. Opti- mizing amino acid composition of CHO cell culture media for a fusion protein production. Process Biochem. 2011;46(7):1423–9.
- 46. Zigler J, Lepe-Zuniga J, Vistica B, Gery I. Analysis of the cytotoxic effects of light-exposed HEPEScontaining culture medium. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol. 1985;21:282–7.
- Zimmer A, Mueller R, Wehsling M, Schnellbaecher A, von Hagen J. Improvement and simplification of fed-batch bio- processes with a highly soluble phosphotyrosine sodium salt. J Biotechnol. 2014;186:110–8.



Establishment of Tumor Cell Lines: From Primary Tumor Cells to a Tumor Cell Line

Katharina Meditz and Beate Rinner

4.1	Importance of Primary Tumor Cell Culture:
	As Close to In Vivo as Possible – 62
4.1.1	Cell Culture Definition – 62
4.2	A Long Way from Tissue to the Desired Cells – 63
4.2.1	Tumor Tissue – 63
4.2.2	Four Steps to Success – 64
4.2.3	Protocol: Tumor Cell Line Establishment for
	Adherent Growing Tumors – 65
4.2.4	Characterization – 65
4.3	General Tips About the Establishment of
	Tumor Cell Lines – 66
4.3.1	Hayflick Problem – 66
4.3.2	To Get Rid of Other Cells – 66
4.4	Establishment of Tumor Cell Lines:
	Three Examples – 67
4.4.1	Establishment of Chordoma Cell Lines – 67
4.4.2	Establishment of Aggressive Growing
	Melanoma Cell Line: MUG-Mel2 – 69
4.5	Quality Check – 70
4.5.1	Recording and Freezing – 70
4.5.2	Contaminations – 71
	References – 72

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

The present chapter will give an overview about handling of tumor tissue, isolation of tumor cells, and finally the establishment of tumor cell lines. Characterization and identification of established cell lines will be shown, on the basis of three examples: clival and sacral chordomas and NRAS-mutated melanoma. Understanding the culture conditions will help to find the perfect requirements for the culturing of each different cell line. Contamination in the cell culture is a touchy topic; detection and elimination of microbial and cell-cell contamination will be discussed in detail. By adhering some golden rules, success of cell line establishment will be guaranteed!

4.1 Importance of Primary Tumor Cell Culture: As Close to In Vivo as Possible

George and Margaret Gey spent almost 30 years trying to establish an immortal human cell line, in order to understand the biology and mechanism of tumors. After establishing the Tissue Culture Laboratory, George Gey made his monumental breakthrough – he isolated the first tumor cell line from a cervix carcinoma which he named HeLa. George Gey always said: "The key to cancer is right at our fingertips - if we could only reach out and grab it" [12, 26]. Sadly he died from a pancreatic tumor.

Since the discovery of cell lines, their importance has continued and has even increased. The reasons are as follows: (i) they are easy to handle, (ii) they offer unlimited self-replication, (iii) they have a relatively high degree of homogeneity, and (iv) they are easily replaceable from frozen stocks. There is no positive without some negative because (i) cell lines are prone to genotypic and phenotypic drift during passaging, (ii) cell lines don't store well over many years, (iii) cell line subpopulations cause phenotypic changes, and (iv) cell lines from different labs show different karyotypes and therefore reproducibility might be lacking [4].

4.1.1 Cell Culture Definition

Primary culture is the initial culture taken directly from the tissue; it mimics the situation most closely to the original tissue and is fundamental for research. Cells can migrate and grow directly from the tissue (explant technology), or cells can be enzymatically or mechanically isolated from the tumor tissue. In relation to their growth behavior, cells can grow in vitro as adherent culture or they can grow in suspension.

After the tumor cells grow out and cover the whole cell culture flask, cells must be transferred into a new cell culture flask, the nomenclature of primary tumor cells changes, and it becomes a cell line. There are two classes of cell lines, the continuous cell line with indefinite population expansion or finite cell lines with a defined life span. Currently, there is a wide range of different cell lines in cell banks, which are well characterized. However, it is still useful to establish new cell lines, because heterogeneous tumors require different cell line systems to investigate the biology of the tumor. Cell lines that have been very long in culture can change their genetic and phenotypic characteristics.
4.2 A Long Way from Tissue to the Desired Cells

From tissue to the desired cell can take a lot of time and can also be very tricky; depending on the growth behavior of the cells and the quantity of existing tumor cells in the available tissue. This chapter provides a general overview of tumor tissue, media, and cell isolation. By using contrasting examples in terms of tumor growth, the establishment of a cell line named MUG-Mel2 from a very aggressive NRAS melanoma tumor and the establishments of very slow-growing chordoma tumors, named MUG-Chor1 and MUG-CC1, will be explained (**•** Figs. 4.1 and 4.2).

4.2.1 Tumor Tissue

The translation of the Latin word tumor is "swelling." The distinguished pathologist Wallace H. Clark gave an excellent definition of the word tumor: "A tumor is a population of abnormal cells characterized by temporally unrestricted growth and the ability to grow



Fig. 4.1 Establishment of a tumor cell line. The tumor tissue should be obtained immediately after surgery, surrounding tumor tissue is removed, and to avoid contamination an antibiotic bath for 10 min in PBS + 10% PS should be done **a**. After the antibiotic bath, transfer the tumor tissue into PBS or media, and the tissue is cut into very small pieces (1–2 mm³) by scissors or scalpels **b**. After disaggregation of the tumor tissue into small pieces **c**, the suspension is collected, and tumor pieces in PBS or media will be centrifuged. If provided in the protocol, vortex the minced tumor tissue **d**, and different fractions should be set in suitable media



Fig. 4.2 Overview of a characterization of a new established tumor cell line

in at least three different tissue compartments - the original compartment; the mesenchyme of the primary site (tumor invasion); and a distant mesenchyme (tumor metastasis)" [5, 7]. Solid tumors are structured as parenchyma (neoplastic cells) and stroma cells (surrounding tumor cells). Tumors with epithelial origin can show a separation of these compartments with a basal lamina [7]. That means tumors do not exist only of malignant cells, but many other cells as well. Also essential is the tumor microenvironment (TME). Depending on tumor entity, the TME can consist of cells of the immune system, vascular and lymphatics cells, fibroblasts, pericytes, and adipocytes in vastly different amounts [2]. Some cells are easy to distinguish by typical morphology, like the epithelial fraction, predominantly single cells with classical cobblestone morphology, and stromal fraction consisting of fibroblast cells, cells with a bipolar spindle shape typical for fibroblasts; immune cells present spheroid cells above the adherent cells or mast cells/macrophages.

4.2.2 Four Steps to Success

In the first step, the condition of the tumor tissue is of great importance. Short ischemia times are an advantage, but you can isolate cells from a tissue 24 h after surgery, as long as the tissue is kept cold (4 °C) in media. The transport of tissue from surgery to the lab should be in media without any additives, such as sera (FBS) or antibiotics, to prevent it from drying out. Being FBS-free is important to inhibit cell growth during transport. Antibiotic-free, because in the lab each tissue will be incubated for 10 min in a 10 time antibiotic bath to avoid contamination and if you have antibiotics in the transport media you cannot be sure of the antibiotic concentration and incubation time. Living cells can only be isolated from fresh viable tumor tissue.

The second step in creating cell lines is to know what kind of cells you want to isolate and then to keep track of them! A good instinct is necessary for the successful establishment of cell lines.

In the third step, each tumor requires its own isolation method which, as well as medium, can be found in most literature. A very widespread method is the mechanical dissociation or cutting the tissue with scissors or sharp blades into very small pieces – usually $1-2 \text{ mm}^3$, with the option of homogenization by filtration through a nylon filter (50–100 μ m opening), vortexing and repeating those steps to get rid of dead cells, debris, and various different cell types.

One must be aware that during isolation of tumor cells, there can be a varying amount of non-neoplastic cells that will complicate tumor cell line establishment. Therefore it is important that a histological section of the tumor is examined by a pathologist to determine the proportion of tumor cells present, as this will affect the success of cell line growth. Enzymatic dissociation is also a way to separate single cells: there are different enzymes that are suitable for dissociating cells from solid tumor and to digest minced tissue into single cells. The concentration, temperature, and incubation time of the enzyme to preserve the cell viability and integrity are important. There are various enzymes available including collagenase, trypsin, papain, and elastase. Each enzyme with distinct target specifies with an affinity for different tumors [19].

In the fourth step, each cell needs its own media; therefore a thorough research of all literature is a prerequisite before starting any cell line establishment. There is a wide range of available basic media, which can be adapted by different additives to the needs of the cells. However, in the production of specific media, care must be taken that the osmolality is maintained. An increase of FBS, for example, from 10% to 30%, can strongly influence the osmolality of the medium. By comparison, the osmotic value of human blood is 300 mOsmolkg⁻¹, and the osmotic value in most of the basic media is 280–340 mOsmolkg⁻¹ [3]. There are different ways to facilitate the adherence or growth of cells with the help of additives in the media, for example, ITS, a mixture of recombinant human insulin, human transferrin, and sodium selenite. Adherence of cells can also be reinforced with coating of cell culture flasks with various enzymes, like fibronectin or Matrigel.

4.2.3 Protocol: Tumor Cell Line Establishment for Adherent Growing Tumors

- Preparation of tumor tissue: removal of non-tumor tissue (fatty tissue, blood clots, and connective tissue) by sterile scissors or scalpels.
- To reduce contamination risk, an antibiotic bath, 10× PS solution, with incubation for approximately 10 min is recommended.
- Transfer the tumor tissue from antibiotic bath to a PBS or media.
- Mechanical and/or enzymatic disaggregation with sterile forceps and scissors or scalpels of the tumor in very small pieces to get more surface for outgrowing of the tumor cells.
- Optional: Vortexing of the tumor pieces.
- Centrifuge and remove the supernatant.
- Resuspend the pieces with appropriate media in different cell culture flasks (due to the filter of the flasks, cells might have a better outgrowth than in, e.g., 6-well plates)
- Incubation of the cells in a humidified incubator at 37 °C in an atmosphere of CO₂ (amount of CO₂ depends on the used media).
- Regularly morphological observation of the tumor cells.
- When the whole cell culture flask is overgrown and the media is consumed, subcultivation (splitting) is required.
- Subcultivation: detachment of the adherent monolayer by the use of proteolytic enzyme like trypsin or more gentle with Accutase. Cell-cell contact is broken and cells are in suspension; after centrifugation cells can be seeded into new flasks with appropriate cell amount and new fresh media to continue cell growth.

4.2.4 Characterization

There are a large number of different cells in the tumor tissue, so it is very important to characterize the outgrowing cells as quickly as possible. One characteristic of cancer cells is replicative immortality, which means that cancer cells can divide many times more than normal cells. Very often only fibroblasts develop and grow over the tumor cells. Fibroblasts also have the ability to remain for long in culture, up to 50 passages in culture. The problem with fibroblasts is that they are not always recognizable by their morphology and fibroblasts are often mistakenly confused with tumor cells. For those reasons the tumor potential has to be tested as soon as possible. In most cases only few tumor cells are available at the beginning, and the characterization method must be adapted to the number of cells. During the first growth phase, only morphological observation is possible. The established cell line should have the same characteristic as the origin tissue, whereas, for

example, mesenchymal origin can be detected with vimentin, epithelial characteristic with cytokeratin. To check the tumor potential of the cells, a colony-forming unit assay can be done; this assay requires only a small number of cells and indicates the tumor potential of a cell through clone growth. Tumor cells are indicated by aneuploidy and chromosome instability, cell cycle analyses by flow cytometry can be done to reveal the ploidy state of the cells, whereas karyotype analyses reveal the chromosome instability of the tumor cells. Tumor marker and genetic profiles should remain constant expressions during cultivation; however, some markers can be lost during cultivation. To confirm that the established cell line has been developed from the tissue of origin, a DNA profiling by STR analyses to prove the identity of the tumor is highly recommended.

4.3 General Tips About the Establishment of Tumor Cell Lines

In general, to generate tumor cell lines, cells should (i) be regularly cryopreserved, (ii) be passaged more than 100 times and retained in culture for more than 12 months, and (iii) mainly keep their genetic phenotype and morphology during cultivation.

4.3.1 Hayflick Problem

One problem during cultivation is the so-called Hayflick limit. Leonard Hayflick and Paul Moorhead discovered that human cells derived from embryonic tissues could only divide a finite number of times in culture [14]. Stages of cell culture were divided into three phases. Outgrowth of cells from an explant or tissue was named phase I. Division of cells represents phase II. The cells then proliferate in culture, depending on the cell type, and after a certain time period, cells start to divide more slowly and can also stop dividing, and this is defined as phase III. Hayflick and Moorhead described the phenomenon of growth arrest as the Hayflick limit or replicative senescence. If cells decrease or stop dividing, they should be transferred to a new flask with a higher cell density, FBS concentration can be increased for a short time, and it is highly recommended that only 50% of the media is changed, in order to keep autologous growth factors in culture. It's much easier to cultivate fast-growing cells than slow-growing cells; however, cells can stop dividing without any conceivable reason.

4.3.2 To Get Rid of Other Cells

Mentioned in \triangleright 4.2.1 a lot of different cells are in a tumor tissue. To get rid of non-tumorigenic cells, selective adhesion and detachment techniques can be used [10, 23].

Fibroblast and tumor cells present a different density and size; after trypsinization, cells can be transferred to a new cell culture flask. After a time period (e.g., 10 min–2 h), certain cells will settle to the bottom, remaining media should be moved into a new flask, and the processes can be repeated (• Fig. 4.3).

It is also very useful to take different fractions of cells isolated from a tumor, as in the example, for the establishment of MUG-Chor1. Keep all fractions in culture and hope that in one fraction tumor cells will start to grow! The fibroblast separation described above together with the fractions taken can mean more than 30 flasks in the incubator at one



Fig. 4.3 Easy separation of different cell types due to different size and density

time during cell line establishment. Therefore a complete description of each flask needs to be recorded. The most important point of primary culture is do not discard anything during cultivation and be patient!

In the next passage, the establishment of three tumor cell lines will be discussed.

4.4 Establishment of Tumor Cell Lines: Three Examples

4.4.1 Establishment of Chordoma Cell Lines

Chordomas are rare malignant tumors that develop from embryonic remnants of the notochord and arise only in the midline from the clivus to the sacrum. Surgery followed by radiotherapy is the standard treatment. As chordomas are resistant to standard chemotherapy, the establishment of more chordoma cell lines is urgently needed to find alternative treatment options [6, 8, 9, 13]. Chordomas and resulting cell lines are characterized according to their morphology, expressed by a variety of lysosomes, vacuoles, and typical physaliferous bodies. Immunohistochemistry shows brachyury and cytokeratin 8 positivity and reveals a slow growth kinetic. It is very tricky to establish chordoma cell lines, due to tumor cells which are very slow growing and being surrounded by other fast-growing cells, such as stroma and immune cells. To get rid of fibroblasts, selective adhesion and detachment techniques can be used [10, 23].

4.4.1.1 Establishment of Sacral Chordoma Cell Line MUG-Chor1

To establish a chordoma cell line, tumor tissue was obtained immediately after surgery. Following mechanical disaggregation of the tumor tissue into approximately 1–2 mm³ pieces, the mixture of cultures was carried out in fractions. Fraction I contained mechanically dissociated tumor cells. Fraction II comprised a cell fraction after the tumor pieces were treated enzymatically, in detail with 200 μ L collagenase for 30 min at 37 °C, and fraction III included only the tumor pieces, pressed down with a cover glass (Fig. 4.4), to facilitate the growth of the cells to the cell culture flask. All fractions were cultured in Iscove/RPMI 4:1 containing 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% insulin-transferrin-sodium selenite (ITS), 2 mM glutamine, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Incubation was carried out at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂. The chordoma cells grow at a pH of 7.4. Following a culture period of 4 months and a passage number of 5, the cells underwent a crisis. FBS concentration from 10% to 20% and the ITS concentration from 1% to 5% were increased. After applying these conditions for 1 week, the initial medium was used again. After that crisis, the cells grew consistently and showed a doubling time of approximately 7-10 days. Culture medium was changed twice a week, and splitting of the cell culture was performed every 10 days at a confluence of 70-80%. All cell cultures were periodically checked for mycoplasma by PCR [24].

• Fig. 4.4 The sterile cover glass (*blue arrow*) is pressed down on the tumor tissue with a forceps



4.4.1.2 Establishment of Clival Chordoma Cell Line MUG-CC1

A further problem in the establishment of tumor cell lines is to maintain the vitality of cells during tumor surgery. Various surgery techniques, for example, resectoscopy, can have an influence on the viability of the cells; also clival chordoma cells are very difficult to establish due to their slow growth and the location of the tumor. Therefore a particularly careful surgery method was chosen. The interdisciplinary skull base unit of the Medical University of Graz has contributed substantially to the development of fourhanded transnasal transsphenoidal purely endoscopic approaches. The focus lies in careful tissue preservation and procurement of sufficient cell material as a prerequisite for optimal cell culturing. After appropriate access to the clival region and tumor exposure, preliminary tumor debulking was performed. The specific advantage of this surgical approach lies in the direct visualization of the lesion and the opportunity to obtain noncontaminated (by blood, mucus, mucosa, etc.) and structurally intact tumor tissue from the vital tumor mass [11]. The primary cells for the establishment of the cell line were obtained from a 72-year-old male patient who was referred to the Department of Neurosurgery because of a right-sided abducent nerve palsy causing double vision, vertigo, and cephalea. After mechanical dissociation, the cells were in vital conditions but expressed a slow growth [11].

If cells of interest show a very slow growth behavior, there is a risk that other cells will consume the media and displace the tumor cells. To separate the cells immediately from the culture start is also tricky, because they require growth factors and cytokine from surrounding cells. During the establishment of the cell line MUG-CC1, there was an overgrowth of B-cells, and tumor cells began to die, either because of medium consumption of fast-growing B-cells or of disharmony of both cell lines (**•** Fig. 4.5).

Suspension cells are easy to separate from adherent cells. Nevertheless the right separation time point is important; otherwise the tumor culture will be lost. At that time point, when there are suspension and adherent cells together in culture, a fatal error can happen; in some cases it has been wrongly thought that the spontaneously immortalized suspensions cells might be tumor cells. Therefore the characterization of the suspension cells is very important.



Fig. 4.5 Establishment of MUG-CC1 and outgrowth of tumor cells and surrounding cells from a tumor piece **a**, morphological typical chordoma cells with large vacuoles and physaliferous bodies separated from all other cells **b**, chordoma cells and suspension cells (brown cells on the top of the tumor cells) **c**, overgrowth of lymphoblastoid cells and displacement of tumor cells **d**

In the characterization of lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCL) during the establishment of MUG-CC1 by morphology, lymphoblastoid cells grew in a typically rosette morphology in suspension clusters [15], along with single cells. Flow cytometry analyses were positive for B-cell markers (CD19), while markers for T cells (CD3) and natural killer cells (CD56) were absent. DNA content of the cells can also be useful for characterization, while the tumor cells showed mostly an aneuploid DNA content and lymphoblastoid cells a diploid DNA profile. Copy number profiling showed a balanced profile, suggesting a non-tumorigenic cell line. Strong positivity for the EB2 (BMLf1) gene of EBV (TC 70 and TC 72) was detected in MUG-CC1-LCL, indicates an EBV transfection, and explains the immortal state [11].

4.4.2 Establishment of Aggressive Growing Melanoma Cell Line: MUG-Mel2

The cell line MUG-Mel2 was obtained from a fresh specimen of a cutaneous metastasis of a 48-year-old male patient with a cutaneous primary, ulcerated melanoma (8.5 mm thickness). The genetic analysis of the primary tumor and cutaneous metastasis revealed a mutation in NRAS Q61R; no mutations in BRAF or c-kit were detected. The tumor



Fig. 4.6 Establishment of a fast-growing tumor cell line. Outgrowth of melanoma tumor cells surrounded by stroma cells **a**; MUG-Mel2 cell line after 10 days of cultivation, magnification ×10 **b**; MUG-Mel2 cell line in a higher magnification ×20 **c**

and the established cell line expressed melanoma markers such as Melan-A, HMB-45, S100, and tyrosinase. The tumor tissue (cutaneous metastasis) was obtained immediately after surgery; after mechanical disaggregation of the tumor tissue into approximately 1–2 mm³ pieces, cells were cultured in RPMI (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) containing 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Melanoma cells grew at a pH of 7.4. Cells were grown to 80% confluence and detached from the flasks with Accutase. Especially during culture start, cells should be kept in a very high density to encourage cell-cell contact and cell growth. Incubation of all cells was carried out at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂. All cells were periodically checked for mycoplasma by PCR. **C** Figure 4.6 shows prominent cells with triangular dendritic morphology as typically seen in melanoma and surrounding fibroblast-like cells, from culture start. Due to the rapid growth of the melanoma cells were further cultured (**C** Fig. 4.6b, c), and all melanoma markers mentioned above were able to be kept in culture.

4.5 Quality Check

4.5.1 Recording and Freezing

The most important task during cell line establishment is to keep a complete documentation of the cell culture work. Each lab should create their suitable labeling modality. For each cell line, a separate aliquoted medium flask should be used. Inscription is very important; also expiry dates have to be respected. Morphological observation and pictures during culturing start is a must, as well as cryopreservation in regular intervals, to have a frozen stock of different passages available. For cryopreservation a mixture of 90% FBS and 10% DMSO is recommended. Don't freeze to less cells; if you have a small amount of cells, use a smaller cryo-vial with a lower volume.

4.5.2 Contaminations

There is a variety of contaminations in cell culture, divided into two main areas: microbial organisms and cell-cell contaminations. The more you work with a culture, the greater the risk of contamination. Handle only one cell line at one time, especially when working with primary cells. Aseptic techniques are required to prevent microbial contaminations.

4.5.2.1 Microbial Contaminations

Major contaminations in cell culture are bacteria, mycoplasma, fungi, yeasts, and viruses. Contamination source can be poor aseptic techniques, media additives, or the tumor tissue (e.g., mycoplasma). It is essential to monitor and test for contamination. Easy to detect are bacteria (increased turbidity or cloudiness, fine granules, movement), yeasts (small oval-shaped organism in short chains), and fungi (thin filamentous mycelia), whereas mycoplasma and viruses are more difficult to detect. Mycoplasmas are small prokaryotes and their presence cannot be observed by microscopy. The consequence of mycoplasma contamination can include growth rate effect [25], chromosome alterations [1, 18] nucleic acid and amino acid synthesis, as well as membrane alterations [17, 22, 27, 28]. A lot of different mycoplasma detections have been described with advantage and disadvantage in respect to cost, time, reliability, specificity, and sensitivity [16]. PCR and ELISA technologies present a very sensitive, specific, and rapid option to detect mycoplasma while covering a broad mycoplasma panel. The most difficult contamination to detect is virus contamination, but unless they are cytopathic, they may have little effect on their host cells [16].

4.5.2.2 Cell-Cell Contamination

"False" cell lines - cross contaminations of cells in culture was highlighted more than 30 years ago by demonstration that cell lines are contaminated by HeLa cells [20]. Especially when working with primary cells, cell-cell contaminations can easily occur. Causes of cell misidentifications can be human errors (mislabeling, unsterile working conditions, cross contamination) or an undesired result of the used techniques (use of feeder layers or xenografting) [21]. The more you work with a culture, the greater the risk of contamination. Handle only one cell line at one time and make sure that each cell line has its own media, trypsin, and PBS. Especially adherent cells can be kept apart due to their morphology, but the morphology of primary cells is still unclear. To be sure to work with the right cells, DNA profiling should be done. STR DNA profiling technology is used for routine identification (authentication) of human cell lines, stem cells, and tissues. STR analyses refer to short tandem repeat DNA, to examine individual areas in DNA. Difference for certain DNA regions can be used to distinguish between individuals. However, a human STR analysis is limited to the identification of species. This means that contamination with cell lines from another species, such as mice or rats, cannot be identified. The presence of nonhuman DNA remains undetected in human-based STR analyses. Animal species can be detected by isoenzyme analysis. Even during the establishment of cell lines, the cross contamination risk is very high! Therefore never treat primary cell culture and continuous cell lines at the same time. False cell lines cost time and money and not to be underestimated can cause incorrect publications.

Take-Home Message

Ten Golden Rules to Be Successful in the Establishment of Tumor Cell Lines

- 1. Well-preserved tumor tissue with high amounts of tumor cells.
- 2. Do not discard anything during cultivation.
- 3. Choose and track carefully cells of interest.
- 4. Regarding of media osmolality.
- 5. Tumor cells which grow adherent in the body will keep this ability and will grow adherent in cell culture!
- 6. Don't forget to check quality regularly.
- 7. Handle only one primary cell or cell line at one time.
- 8. Carefully and correctly labeling.
- 9. Produce frozen stocks.
- 10. Be patient.

References

- 1. Aula P, Saksela E. Banding characteristics of paracentric marker constrictions in human chromosomes. Hereditas. 1972;70(2):309–10.
- Balkwill FR, Capasso M, Hagemann T. The tumor microenvironment at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 23):5591–6.
- 3. Boxenberger HJ. Leitfaden für die Zell- und Gewebekultur. Weinheim, Germany: WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH&Co; 2007.
- 4. Burdall S, Hanby A, Lansdown R, Speirs V. Breast Cancer cell lines: friend or foe? Breast Cancer Res. 2003;5:89–95.
- 5. Clark WH. Tumour progression and the nature of cancer. Br J Cancer. 1991;64(4):631-44. Review
- Chugh R, Tawbi H, Lucas DR, Biermann JS, Schuetze SM, Baker LH. Chordoma: the nonsarcoma primary bone tumor. Oncologist. 2007;12:1344–50.
- Connolly EM, Gaffney E, Reynolds JV. Gastrointestinal stromal tumours. Br J Surg. 2003;90(10):1178– 86. Review
- Cummings BJ, Hodson DI, Bush RS. Chordoma: the results of megavoltage radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1983;9:633–42.
- 9. Fletcher CDM, Unni KK, Mertens F, editors. Pathology and genetics of Tumours of soft tissue and bone, World Health Organization classification of Tumours, vol. 5. Lyon: IARC Press; 2002.
- 10. Freshney RI. Culture of animal cells: a manual of basic technique. 5th ed. Hoboken: Wiley-Liss; 2005.
- Gellner V, Tomazic PV, Lohberger B, Meditz K, Heitzer E, Mokry M, Koele W, Leithner A, Liegl-Atzwanger B, Rinner B. Establishment of clival chordoma cell line MUG-CC1 and lymphoblastoid cells as a model for potential new treatment strategies. Sci Rep. 2016;6:24195.
- 12. Gey GO, Coffman WD, Kubicek MT. Tissue culture studies of the proliferative capacity of cervical carcinoma and normal epithelium. Cancer Res. 1952;12:364–5.
- Hallor KH, Staaf J, Jonsson G, Heidenblad M, Vult von Steyern F, Bauer HC, Ijszenga M, Hogendoorn PC, Mandahl N, Szuhai K, Mertens F. Frequent deletion of the CDKN2A locus in chordoma: analysis of chromosomal imbalances using array comparative genomic hybridisation. Br J Cancer. 2008;98:434–42.
- 14. Hayflick L, Moorhead PS. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. Exp Cell Res. 1961;25: 585–621.
- Hussain T, Kotnis A, Sarin R, Mulherkar R. Establishment & characterization of lymphoblastoid cell lines from patients with multiple primary neoplasms in the upper aero-digestive tract & healthy individuals. Indian J Med Res. 2012;135(6):820–9.
- Langdon SP. Cancer cell culture methods and protocols. Edingburgh, UK: Human Press., ISSN 1543-1894; 2004.
- Levine E, Thomas L, McGregor D, Hayflick L, Eagle M. Altered nucleic acid metabolism in human cell cultures infected with mycoplasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1968;60:583–9.

- McGarrity GJ, Phillips DM, Vaidya AB. Mycoplasmal infection of lymphocyte cell cultures: infection with M. Salivarium. In Vitro. 1980;16(4):346–56.
- 19. Mitra A, Mishra L, Li S. Technologies for deriving primary tumor cells for use in personalized cancer therapy. Trends Biotechnol. 2013;31(6):347–54.
- 20. Nelson-Rees WA, Daniles DW, Flandermeyer RR. Cross-contamination of cell culture. Science. 1981;212:446–52.
- 21. Nimes R, Sykes G, Cottrill K. Short tandem repeat profiling: part of an overall strategy for reducing the frequency of cell misidentification. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2010;46:811–9.
- 22. Perez AG, Kim JH, Gelbard AS, Djordjevic B. Altered incorporation of nucleic acid precursors by mycoplasma-infected mammalia cells in culture. Exp Cell Res. 1972;70:301–10.
- 23. Polinger IS. Separation of cell types in embryonic heart cell cultures. Exp Cell Res. 1970;63:78–82.
- Rinner B, Froehlich EV, Buerger K, Knausz H, Lohberger B, Scheipl S, Fischer C, Leithner A, Guelly C, Trajanoski S, Szuhai K, Liegl B. Establishment and detailed functional and molecular genetic characterisation of a novel sacral chordoma cell line, MUG-Chor1. Int J Oncol. 2012;40(2):443–51.
- 25. Rottem S, Barile MF. Beware of mycoplasmas. Trends Biotechnol. 1993;11(4):143–51.
- 26. Sklott R. The immortal life of Henrietta Lacks. ISBN9780307888440 Crown; 2010.
- Stanbridge EJ, Hayflick L, Perkins FT. Modification of amino acid concentrations induced by mycoplasmas in cell culture medium. Nature. 1971;232:242–4.
- Wise KS, Cassell GH, Action RT. Selective association of murine T lymphoblastoid cell surface alloantigens with mycoplasma hyorhinis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1978;75:4479–83.



The Third Dimension in Cell Culture: From 2D to 3D Culture Formats

Verena Charwat and Dominik Egger

5.1 Fundamentals of 3D Cell Cultures – 76

- 5.1.1 Standard Cell Culture 76
- 5.1.2 Biological Differences Between 2D and 3D Cellular Microenvironments – 77
- 5.1.3 Technological Differences Between 2D and 3D Cultures 79
- 5.2 Types of 3D Cell Cultures 82
- 5.2.1 Matrix-Free 3D Cell Cultures 82
- 5.2.2 Matrix-Based 3D Cell Cultures 84
- 5.2.3 Other Types of 3D Cell Culture Formats 85
- 5.3 Applications of 3D Cell Cultures 86
- 5.3.1 General Considerations 86
- 5.3.2 Tissue Engineering 86
- 5.3.3 Test Models 88
- 5.4 Summary and "Lessons Learned" 89

Further Reading – 90

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

Traditional two-dimensional (2D) cell culture does not represent the natural environment cells experience in their respective tissue or organ. In contrast, the cultivation of cells in a three-dimensional (3D) environment can help to generate a physiologic environment. This chapter describes the fundamental biological and technological differences of 2D to 3D cultivation and gives an overview on important 3D cell culture techniques. Different approaches for matrix-free and matrix-based cell culture as well as less conventional 3D cell culture approaches are described and discussed. Furthermore, the application of 3D cell culture in the field of tissue engineering and in vitro test models is presented.

5.1 Fundamentals of 3D Cell Cultures

5.1.1 Standard Cell Culture

Cultivation of cells from multicellular organisms (plants, animals, human) outside of the original organism has a long tradition with early examples dating back to the beginning of the twentieth century (details can be found in > Chap. 1). Over time, different methods for ex vivo or in vitro cell cultivation have been developed and optimized. Today, mammalian cell cultivation is relatively well characterized, and the main aspects are standardized despite the diversity of specialized procedures [18]. The focus of this chapter will be on adherently growing cells since the concept of three-dimensional (3D) cultivation is of low relevance for suspension cultures. Typical parameters for routine cell cultivation as performed in most laboratories around the globe (in the following referred to as standard cell culture) involves the following aspects [18]: Cell culture incubators provide a favorable atmosphere for cell growth. They keep the temperature at a constant 37 °C. Typically, this temperature is used even if the body temperature of the respective species or tissue is different. A carbon dioxide (CO_2) concentration of, e.g., 5% is maintained in the gas phase. This is important to keep a favorable pH value (around pH 7.4) since the majority of culture media contain a carbonate-based buffer system, which interacts with the CO₂. Furthermore, the atmosphere in the incubator is humidified to minimize evaporation. The culture medium varies for different cell types, but traditionally a chemically defined basal medium containing glucose, inorganic salts, amino acids, vitamins, the carbonatebased buffer system, and often the pH indicator phenol red is used. Serum (mainly of bovine origin) is still the most common supplement and serves as a rich but ill-defined source of growth factors, hormones, and attachment factors. Sometimes antibiotics and/ or antimycotics are added to prevent microbial contamination. The cells are maintained in plastic dishes typically made of polystyrene with surface modifications to enhance cell attachment. The most commonly used cell culture dishes are petri dishes, flasks, and multiwell plates. Cells grow on the flat bottom of the culture dish submerged in medium. The standard procedure for cell splitting involves enzymatic or mechanical detachment from the growth surface once 60–100% of the area is covered with cells. After harvest, a portion of the cells is transferred to a fresh dish for further cultivation. Since the cells grow on a flat surface and typically do not form more than one cell layer, standard cell culture is considered a two-dimensional (2D) cell culture technique.

Over time, 2D *standard cell culture* has proven to be extremely useful for a wide range of applications from basic research to drug development and personalized medicine. Cell

77

5

cultivation is a very effective tool to study biological processes on a cellular level. It provides stable and reproducible conditions and facilitates assay standardization. The protocols can be easily exchanged between different laboratories. A wide range of disposable cell culture lab ware and supplementary equipment for handling and analysis (e.g., plate readers) is available from various suppliers. Most of the knowledge on cell biology we have today would have been near impossible to gain without experiments based on *standard cell culture* techniques.

5.1.2 Biological Differences Between 2D and 3D Cellular Microenvironments

Despite the undisputable value of *standard cell cultivation*, it also has some major drawbacks. The main limitation of standard cell cultures lies in the fact that they provide an environment, which is fundamentally different from the conditions found in actual living tissues. This includes nonphysiological medium composition (e.g., antibiotics, phenol red, high glucose concentrations) and excessive amounts of culture medium (the liquid/cell ratio is much lower in vivo). Furthermore, oxygen concentrations of ~21% are usually present in the gas phase of cell culture incubators, which is much higher than typical oxygen concentrations in body tissues. Traditional cell culture technique also fails to provide relevant mechanical forces such as compression, strain, and shear stress, which are always present in a living organism. Another limitation is the cultivation of (mostly) only one cell type in each culture dish (monoculture), while healthy tissues are composed of multiple cell types that strongly interact with each other. Many of these aspects are addressed in detail on other chapters of this textbook. The most striking difference which is the focus of this chapter – however, is the fact that tissues are complex threedimensional constructs as opposed to the cellular monolayers found in standard cell cultures. The implications of this difference are manifold and have been elucidated in several scientific review articles [1, 8, 16]. I Figure 5.1 provides an overview of the most relevant biological differences between 2D and 3D cell cultures.

Most evidently, cell spreading is limited to two dimensions (x and y axis) in 2D formats, while a third dimension (z-axis; height) is added in 3D formats. Therefore surface area is a main limiting factor for cell growth in 2D cultures. Once the entire surface area is covered with cells, a passaging step has to be performed: the cells are harvested by disrupting cell-substrate and cell-cell adhesion, and a smaller fraction of the cells is transferred to a fresh culture dish. By contrast in a 3D environment, cell growth is usually not limited by the surface area, which is typically very large (e.g., in porous scaffolds). Instead, cell spreading and migration can be hindered sterically by the biomaterial. Mammalian cells typically measure 10–25 μ m in diameter with a nucleus of ~10 μ m diameter. Although cells are flexible and can adapt their shape to the environment and according to the respective cell type, they will be excluded from pores that are significantly smaller than their nucleus. For example, membranes with pore sizes of $0.3-3 \mu m$ are often used in drug testing to allow drug diffusion while preventing cell migration. However, the main limiting factor for 3D cell cultures is the diffusion-based distribution of oxygen, nutrients, signaling molecules, and waste products. In a compact 3D culture format (e.g., spheroids), cell proliferation is limited to a maximum of a few hundred micrometers from the surrounding medium. Therefore 3D cell cultures are often limited in size. To overcome this



2D cell cultures

- Soluble gradients absent
- Forced apical-basal polarity
- Continuous layer of matrix
- Unconstrained spreading and migration in x-y
- Adhesions restricted to x-y plane
- High substrate stiffness

3D cell cultures

- · Soluble gradients present
- No prescribed polarity
- Discrete matrix fibrils
- Spreading and migration sterically hindered
- · Adhesions distributed in all 3 dimensions
- Low substrate stiffness

Fig. 5.1 Schematic representation of differences between 2D and 3D cell cultures. Note that the full complexity of actual living tissue is still much greater than what can be usually mimicked in a 3D cell culture model. (Figure content based on [1])

limitation, larger 3D cell cultures require some sort of artificial "blood vessels." These could be anything from real blood vessels to predefined channels, interconnected pores of a scaffold, or diffusible hydrogels.

While the diffusion-based supply of 3D cell cultures provides some technological challenges for larger tissue constructs, it is also a highly relevant factor for providing in vivolike conditions. Gradients of oxygen, nutrients, and signaling molecules are present in any living tissue. They play important roles in physiological and pathological processes. The best known example is solid tumors. A tumor is characterized by excessive cell proliferation. Consequently, the tissue volume at the site of disease increases until areas of the tumor or too far away from the closest blood vessel and cannot be supplied properly anymore. As a consequence, the inner core of the tumor starts to undergo necrosis. At the same time, however, the gradient of reduced oxygen and nutrients prompts the cells to release certain signaling molecules that induce blood vessel formation. By this mechanism the tumor can grow further and establishes its own supply system. Obviously, such complex processes cannot be studied in 2D cultures where virtually no gradients are present and each cell is exposed to essentially the same conditions. Similarly, drug tests - especially for cancer treatment - can provide more relevant results in 3D cultures as protective effects within the 3D cell aggregate are recapitulated. Consequently, today solid tumor research is the number one field of application for 3D cell cultures.

Another fundamental difference between 2D and 3D cell cultures is the properties of the substrate for cell adhesion. In standard culture dishes, the cells are facing a continuous, flat surface. Each cell will attach to this substrate with its bottom side, while the cells' top side is facing into the culture medium. Direct cell-cell contacts are limited to the thin

outer circumference of each cell. This configuration forces a basal-apical polarity on the cells. While such a polarity is physiological for cell types that form (mono-)layers in vivo, such as endothelial and epithelial cells, it is an unnatural configuration for most other cell types. Forced polarity can lead to an altered cellular phenotype and eventually bias experi

such as endothelial and epithelial cells, it is an unnatural configuration for most other cell types. Forced polarity can lead to an altered cellular phenotype and eventually bias experimental results. By contrast, 3D cultures do not prescribe cellular polarity but allow cell adhesion in all directions. Additionally, also cell-cell junctions can be formed in all dimensions. Notably, absence of forced polarity provides more in vivo-like conditions for most cell types. However, it might not constitute an ideal environment for the before mentioned cell types with native polarity. Generally, the culture format has to be chosen carefully with regard to cell type and intended application. No single cell culture approach (neither 2D nor 3D) will be ideal for all possible application scenarios.

Besides prescribing cellular polarity, 2D cell culture dishes also differ from natural tissues with regard to substrate stiffness, surface structure, and surface chemistry. Cell culture vessels are mostly made from cell culture-treated polystyrene (PS) or - less frequently glass. Both materials have a stiffness that is orders of magnitude higher than that of most tissues. While the Young's modulus of PS and glass is in the range of GPa, a physiologically relevant range of 0.1-300 kPa has been described [15]. A large number of studies have documented several distinct effects of substrate stiffness on cell behavior including differentiation, growth, and drug response [12, 19, 24]. In some cases cell culture dishes are coated to reduce stiffness and provide physiological adhesion sites. The most commonly used coatings are compounds of the extracellular matrix (ECM) such as collagens (or its derivative gelatin), fibronectin, or vitronectin. In 3D cultures the same materials are often used in the form of hydrogels or for coating of solid, porous scaffolds. By contrast to PS or glass substrates, 3D casted matrices provide discrete fibrils as opposed to the continuous matrix layer found in 2D. Similar to surface stiffness, also the surface topography (spacing and geometry of adhesion points) significantly impacts cell phenotypes such as adhesion and differentiation [22]. Generally, 3D culture formats allow a much higher degree of flexibility with regard to optimization of physical and chemical properties of the cellular microenvironment. A considerable number of research groups have specialized on identifying and processing biomaterials for specific applications, and many products are already commercially available. An extensive discussion of different biomaterials and their implications for cell cultures is provided in > Chap. 6. However, it needs to be noted at this point that a significant portion of 3D culture formats do not employ any biomaterial at all. These matrix-free culture systems rely on the ability of cells to interconnect, form cellular aggregates, and produce their own ECM. The best know example for this type of culture is spheroid cultures, which will be addressed in greater detail in the following sections. Fluorescence images of a 2D cell culture and several 3D culture formats of mesenchymal stem cells are provided in • Fig. 5.2.

5.1.3 Technological Differences Between 2D and 3D Cultures

Although 3D cell cultures provide advantages with regard to increased physiological relevance, they are still not routinely used in many laboratories. Even in facilities that use 3D cell cultures, these are typically employed only for the final stage of an experiment or application, while routine handling and expansion is performed in 2D cultures. Overall, 2D cell culture still remains the standard cell culture format. The reason lies mainly in technological challenges associated with 3D cell cultivation. Compared to 2D cell cultivation, 3D cultures have been developed relatively recently. Most of the cell culture protocols, reagents,



Fig. 5.2 Fluorescence microscopic images of mesenchymal stem cells in different culture formats after Calcein AM (*green*) and PI (*red*) live/dead staining: (i) 2D culture, (ii) matrix-free spheroid, (iii) embedded in nano-fibrillar cellulose hydrogel, (iv) co-culture with GFP-HUVEC in fibrin hydrogel (no live/ dead staining), (v) on decellularized bone matrix. Scale bars represent 500 µm unless indicated differently

and materials we know today have been developed for standard cell cultivation. Unfortunately, in many cases they cannot be directly applied to 3D cell cultivation but require – sometimes extensive – adaptation and optimization. In some cases even completely different strategies are required for 3D cell cultures. The fact that 3D cultivation lacks behind 2D culture with regard to standardized protocols limits its general acceptance in research and industry. Furthermore, the 3D cell culture formats available today are typically more expensive and time-consuming than standard cell cultivation. Key goals for future research and development will have to include streamlining of protocols, identification of most suitable cell lines and primary cells, and optimization of matrix materials and

techniques and equipment need to be compatible with high-throughput screening. Analysis of 3D cell cultures presents a special technological challenge. Reliable, accurate, and reproducible analysis methods are key to any scientific experiment. Similarly to handling protocols and materials, also most of the currently available analytical techniques have been developed for 2D standard cell cultures. Initially, those methods have been directly applied also for 3D cultures, but results were often less than unsatisfactory. The main differences between 2D and 3D cultures that render analysis fundamentally different are listed in **2** Table 5.1. Microscopy – including fluorescence microscopy – is the most widely used method for cell culture analysis. Visual inspection is essential for routine checks including morphology, confluency, absence of microorganism contamination, and cell counting. Live-cell and end-point imaging techniques constitute an integral part of most cell culture experiments. While microscopy allows close observation of 2D cell layers, multiple challenges arise for 3D cultures. The main limitations are associated with opaque samples, low contrast of cells compared to most scaffolds, obscuring light scattering, strong background fluorescence, and sample thicknesses greater than the microscope's working distance. Often only the outer cell layers can be evaluated microscopically, while the core of the sample or any structures more than a few hundred micrometers from the surface cannot be observed, resulting in potentially misleading data. Ultimately wrong conclusions might be drawn from such ambiguous data. Over time various approaches have been established to improve imaging of 3D cell culture samples. For example, confocal microscopes are used for layer-by-layer scanning (Z-stack) of fluorescent samples

consumables. Especially for applications in the pharmaceutical industry, sample handling

Table 5.1 Differences between 2D and 3D cultures regarding analytical approaches		
	2D cultures	3D cultures
Cell distribution	Homogeneous	Inhomogeneous, sometimes aggregated
Light penetration	Homogeneous, low background	Depth-dependent absorption, autofluo- rescence, scattering
Reagent diffusion	Homogeneous	Limited, inhomogeneous
Secretion into supernatant	Homogeneous	Limited, inhomogeneous
Lysis	Usually complete	Often incomplete with standard methods
Cell harvest	Routine procedure, single cells	Often incomplete or impossible, risk of cell aggregates

followed by assembly of the images to a 3D representation. Tissue clearing approaches can be applied to reduce light scattering. However, they require fixated samples and therefore can be used only for end-point imaging. Other imaging approaches have been adapted from tissue analysis. These include histological slices, micro- or nano-computer tomography (μ CT, nCT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

Besides imaging approaches, virtually all other common methods for cell culture analysis are also applied to 3D cultures. However, each of them faces their own challenges and need for adaptation and optimization (see also **S** Table 5.1). In the simplest case, the culture supernatant is collected, and soluble factors such cytokines, enzymes, metabolites, and dissolved gas are identified and quantified. Examples of typical methods include ELISA tests, glucose/lactate measurements, and LC-MS. Additionally, some viability assays based on colorimetric or fluorometric identification of loss in membrane integrity (e.g., LDH release) also fall into this category. Since these assays rely on analysis of the supernatants instead of the cells, their quality is not directly affected by 3D cultures. However, it needs to be considered that supply within the 3D construct is diffusion limited. Drugs or other test substances will not reach all cells homogenously, and - even more importantly – secreted factors might not be transported into the supernatant effectively. The same phenomena of diffusion limitation and inhomogeneous supply are even more pronounced in non-lytic assays involving intracellular staining or substrate conversion. Examples are metabolic activity assays based on intracellular reduction (e.g., resazurin) and live/dead staining (e.g., Calcein AM/PI). Typically, the outer cell layers will contribute to the overall signal much more than the sample core. This limitation can be alleviated using lytic assays where the 3D construct is destroyed and cells are lysed to quantitatively release their cytosolic content. Prominent examples of detection methods include qPCR and Western blot. Although in lytic assays, theoretically each cell contributes equally to the final signal, protocols need to be optimized to ensure complete lysis of the entire sample.

5.2 Types of 3D Cell Cultures

5.2.1 Matrix-Free 3D Cell Cultures

Adherently growing cells feature three important capabilities that allow them not only to grow in standard cell culture dishes but also to effectively form three-dimensional assemblies: They can form connections between cells (cell-cell interaction) and between cells and a substrate material (cell-matrix interaction) and also produce their own substrate (ECM). So-called matrix-free 3D culture formats take advantage of these properties by depriving cells of their bottom substrate (e.g., polystyrene surface). Most adherently growing cell types cannot survive in suspension for extended time periods. To form vital cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, they are forced to assemble into cell clusters. Eventually, the cell clusters become more compact as cells form stronger connections and produce ECM. A main advantage of matrix-free cultures is the absence of any foreign material, which might have unintended biological effects. Instead, each cell type produces its own native ECM.

Different approaches to prevent cell adhesion on a 2D substrate exist. The best known and most widely used method is *hanging drop cultivation*. Here the traditional cell culture setup is turned "upside down," having a substrate layer on top and small drops of cell sus-

pension, typically 20–50 µL, hanging down. The cells sink to the bottom of the drop. As the air-liquid interface forms a natural barrier, the cells aggregate in the drop's center. Depending on the cell type, it typically takes 24 h to several days until a compact and stable *spheroid* has formed (see **•** Fig. 5.2ii). A simple and inexpensive option is the use of petri dishes, where several drops of cell suspension are pipetted into the lid, which is then carefully flipped over in a single smooth motion. Several companies have also marketed specialized well plates to facilitate cell handling and increase throughput and reproducibility. Those systems are typically compatible with automated procedures used in industry.

A typical challenge associated with hanging drop cultures, especially when performed manually, is the retrieval and handling of the spheroids, which are typically 70–300 μ m in diameter and often stick to pipette tips and other plastic surfaces. Hanging drop cultures are also highly susceptible to evaporation because of their small volume combined with very high surface to volume ratio. Therefore they need to be kept in a high humidity environment. Hanging drop culture dishes typically feature liquid reservoirs or humidifier pads soaked with sterile water or saline buffer. Additionally, the small medium volume needs to be replaced frequently, since nutrients are rapidly depleted.

Another simple approach for matrix-free cell cultivation employs *low-adhesion surfaces*. While standard cell culture dishes are surface treated to render them hydrophilic and attractive for cell adhesion, cell repellent surfaces can be used to force the cells into aggregation and spheroid formation. Low-adhesion surfaces can be achieved by chemical, physical, and topographical modifications – or a combination thereof. The main disadvantage of this method is low control over cell number per spheroid. Typically, a multiple spheroids of varying diameter will form in one dish. To overcome this limitation, so-called *U-bottom plates* can be used. These combine low-adhesion surfaces with the semispherical shape of hanging drops. The most common format is 96-well plates where – ideally – a single cell spheroid comprising all cells forms in the center of each well. This method requires larger media volumes compared to hanging drop cultures, which alleviates evaporation and nutrient depletion issues.

The main applications of spheroid cultures are drug screening and cancer research [14]. However, many other tissue-specific spheroids have also been developed and proven more physiological relevant compared to standard 2D cultures [6]. Regardless of the selected method, spheroid cultures are limited in size to several hundred micrometers in diameter due to diffusion-based supply. However, even at smaller size, necrotic cores might form (Fig. 5.2iii). The optimal cell number, spheroid size, and duration of cultivation need to be assessed individually for each cell type and experiment. Some approaches such as integration of vascularization and dynamic cultivation strategies can mitigate but not completely resolve supply issues in spheroid cultures. More information on dynamic cell cultivation is provided in > Chap. 10.

Spheroid cultures are by far the most commonly used matrix-free 3D cell culture format in research and industry. However, various other approaches have also been established. While no complete survey can be provided here, some interesting concepts are illustrated: *Cell sheet layering* is a bottom-up approach where cells are grown in standard culture until they form a dense and stable cell layer [21]. Then the complete cell layer is removed from the surface and placed on top of another cell layer in a different culture dish. Importantly, a special cell harvest procedure is required to preserve an intact cell layer instead of creating a cell suspension. "Smart" surfaces that change their properties from high to low adhesion upon external cues such as a change in temperature from 37 °C to room temperature have been successfully used for this purpose. The same procedure can be repeated to stack several cell sheets; however as the layer thickness increases, cell supply via diffusion eventually becomes a limiting factor. In order to overcome this limitation, recent studies aim at incorporating vascularization [3].

Another heavily investigated technology for 3D cell cultures are microfluidic systems. A microfluidic system is a small, perfused device with channel dimensions in the range of micrometers. Microfluidic technology has been successfully used for various applications not only in cell biology but also in molecular biology, chemistry, physics, and other disciplines. The most obvious advantage of microfluidics for cell cultivation is the reduced consumption of reagents, which is especially relevant if rare cell types or expensive compounds are used. More importantly, however, microfluidics presents a technological toolbox that allows precise control over the cellular microenvironment including chamber geometry, surface chemistry, temporal and spatial reagent distribution, and mechanical stimuli. This enables multiplexing of screening assays and recreation of physiological niches [4]. Over the last decade, a vast number of microfluidic systems for 2D and 3D cell cultivation have been published. A current trend is the recreation of tissue, organ, and even complete body functions in a single microfluidic device [23]. In many cases physiologically relevant 3D cell assemblies can be achieved by tuning the chamber geometry without the need for additional matrix materials or scaffolds. This includes the fabrication of microchannels, micropillars, cell retention chambers, microvalves, and combinations of these elements. An early example is a liver model mimicking a single liver sinusoid. Hepatocytes were compactly loaded into a long, narrow chamber where they formed a 3D cell assembly. A special fenestrated wall and external medium perfusion allow for supply and maintenance of the entire tissue mimic. A recent example of a more complex microfluidic device for matrix-free 3D cell culture is a cardiac microphysiological system [13]. The cell culture chamber geometries were optimized to promote maturation of cardiomyocytes, which is typically incomplete in 2D cultures. A current trend that poses multiple biological and technological challenges is the combination of multiple microfluidic tissue models into a so-called body-on-a-chip system. If successful, this approach could revolutionize the drug development process.

5.2.2 Matrix-Based 3D Cell Cultures

Expanding the cellular in vitro environment by a third dimension contributes immensely to the generation of a physiologic environment. To extend cellular growth to the third dimension, supportive structures, also referred to as matrices or scaffolds, have been engineered from numerous materials. However the vast amount consist of ceramics (such as tricalcium phosphate or hydroxyapatite), synthetic polymers (such as polystyrene, poly-L-lactic acid, or polyglycolic acid), or natural polymers (such as collagen, alginate, or silk), each having different physicochemical properties, architecture, and biodegradability. Inherent material characteristics such as porosity, pore size and distribution, surface-to-volume ratio, mechanical characteristics, and surface chemistry have an influence on cellular behavior (see > Chap. 6). Cell attachment, migration, proliferation, and differentiation were shown to be impacted by material characteristics. In return, 3D cultivation has a remarkable impact on the outcome of drug screening, cell shape, and cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions. Obviously, every material has its own advantages and disadvantages and must be therefore chosen to fit the respective biological requirements. Ceramics are porous structures with high stiffness and thus suitable for bone tissue engineering approaches, whereas softer, fibrous, or gel-like matrices are more suitable

85

for mimicking a skin, cartilage, or tendon environment. To combine the best of different materials, composites containing two or more materials are gaining interest. Recent advances in manufacturing technology of 3D materials, such as 3D printing, open up new possibilities to produce a completely defined architectural environment.

5.2.3 Other Types of 3D Cell Culture Formats

5.2.3.1 Tissue Slice Cultivation

Besides matrix-free or matrix-based 3D cell culture, also other formats are considered as 3D cell culture. Tissue pieces or thin slices of tissues or organs are mounted on a substrate to be cultivated outside their native organism [20]. This is thought to represent a more reliable model because the original architecture, cell-cell interactions, and cellular composition are maintained. Indeed, tissue slice cultivation was often shown to behave more physiologic than cell-line-derived tissue models. Typical tissues that have been cultivated this way comprise the liver, brain, intestine, and lung. Since tissue slice cultivation seems to be as close as possible to in vivo, it may provide an interesting alternative to animal testing to study, i.e., drug metabolism or toxicity. However, the cultivation period of tissue slices is comparatively short, and the availability of tissue slices from human origin limits a broad application of this technique.

5.2.3.2 Microcarrier (21/2D)

Some culture formats cannot be classified into matrix-free and matrix-based techniques, because of their special properties. Microfluidic technology has already been presented as a technological platform that enables matrix-free as well as matrix-based 3D cell cultures (besides multiple other cultivation formats such as single cell and 2D cultures). Another prominent example is cell cultivation on *microcarriers*. Microcarriers are small beads, typically of spherical shape, with 100-300 µm diameter. They are made of cell culture compatible materials and feature surfaces that promote cell adhesion. Microcarriers have been used for over 40 years in production bioreactors (e.g., for antibodies or vaccines) if adherently growing cells are selected as production organism [2]. More recently, they have gained increasing importance for cell expansion for tissue engineering applications [11]. Microcarrier cultures can yield high cell numbers while preserving the characteristic cell morphology and phenotype. The use of microcarriers facilitates the adaptation of suspension culture protocols and equipment, such as stirred-tank bioreactors, for anchorage dependent cell types. In most cases the cells grow as a monolayer only on the outer surface of the microcarriers. Consequently, microcarriers are typically not true 3D culture formats. Because of their bent surface, microcarriers are sometimes referred to as 2½D culture systems.

5.2.3.3 Magnetic Nanoparticles

Nanoparticles are functional units with a diameter between 1 and 100 nm which can be fabricated from a broad spectrum of materials. They are of special scientific interest since they display often unexpected properties and thus have potential for applications in the fields of electronics, optics, physics, and medicine. Magnetic nanoparticles can be used to treat cells in order to control their spatial position in a magnetic field. The magnetic levitation method uses magnetic nanoparticles to levitate and concentrate cells without the need of a matrix to facilitate the formation of 3D aggregates with cell-cell interactions [7]. Also,

controlled 3D co-culturing of different cell types is possible with this technique allowing for the generation of more complex 3D cultures. Although, no external matrix is involved, magnetic levitation is different from other matrix-free culture formats: The magnetic nanoparticles constitute a foreign ingredient, which could potentially alter cell physiology.

5.2.3.4 Complex 3D Assemblies

To generate functional tissue, the interplay of multiple cell types in a complex matrix is often required. 3D assemblies are systems that incorporate multiple components, i.e., several cell types and/or matrices, in order to build a more complex and thus more functional tissue. For example, in the field of vascular tissue engineering, self-assembling cell sheets were developed. Smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts are cultivated in 2D for 30 days to produce a firm collagen-rich cell sheet which is subsequently rolled up on a mandrel to form a tubular structure. The inner lumen of this structure then undergoes endothelialization resulting in a matured functional vascular graft with equivalents to the three layers of a blood vessel (intima, media, and adventitia) [9]. Another complex 3D assembly was established to overcome thickness limitations in a 3D cardiac tissue graft. This cultivation system consists of triple-layered cardiac cell sheet on top of a collagen gel with embedded medium-perfused microchannels. Migration of endothelial cells from the cardiac tissue into the microchannels below was observed and resulted in a perfused tissue with a functional vasculature [17]. Furthermore, it was possible to expand the tissue by another three-layered cardiac cell sheet on top of the first one to build a comparatively thick tissue graft which was still sufficiently supplied with oxygen and nutrients.

5.3 Applications of 3D Cell Cultures

5.3.1 General Considerations

Applications of 3D cell cultures can be separated into two main categories: (a) in vitro test systems and (b) clinical application for tissue repair. Both share the common need for recapitulating human (or animal) physiology. The typical steps of a tissue engineering process are depicted in **P** Fig. 5.3. First, the target cells need to be isolated from the respective organism. This can be either matured cells or multipotent stem cells which can be differentiated into the target cell type in vitro. Then, cells are expanded to yield a sufficient amount of cells for further operations. Subsequently, cells are combined with a biomaterial to generate a 3D cell-matrix construct which then can be either used in in vitro test models or for clinical applications.

5.3.2 Tissue Engineering

In the case of clinical application, the cells itself are the required product. The tissueengineered 3D cell-matrix constructs are used to replace damaged or missing tissue. To function properly the engineered tissue needs to reconstitute the original tissue. For this, cells on the biomaterial need to be cultivated in an environment that represents the physiologic environment. Automated bioreactor systems are often used to generate and keep the necessary culture conditions, such as mechanical stimulation, during cultivation in order to produce functional tissue (see > Chap. 10).



Fig. 5.3 Concept of the tissue engineering process: Cells are collected from a healthy donor site (1) and expanded in standard 2D culture (2). The propagated cells (**3a**) are combined with a biomaterial (**3b**) to create a 3D cell culture (4). Optional (mechanical) stimulation (**5**) can be applied to achieve tissue maturation. The final 3D cell culture construct (**6**) can then be used for clinical applications (**7a**) or as an in vitro test model (**7b**)

For clinical applications it is important that the entire cultivation process is performed according to the guidelines of the respective country. Good manufacturing practice (GMP) are widely used guidelines that comprise the minimum requirements a manufacturer must fulfill to meet a specific quality standard and to avoid risks for the consumer (patient). Furthermore, in Europe tissue-engineered constructs are considered as advanced therapy medicinal products (ATMPs) which are regulated by European Medicines Agency, while in the USA these kinds of products are regulated by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). During clinical application good clinical practice (GCP) need to be considered.

3D constructs for clinical application are always comprised of primary cells which can be either differentiated cells or stem cells. Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are pluripotent meaning they can develop into almost every other cell type. Thus, ESCs seem to be the perfect source for any kind of tissue-engineered construct. However, since ESCs are derived from the inner cell mass of a blastocyst (an early-stage embryo), ethical concerns on the use of ESCs have ever been and still are present. Multipotent stem cells, such as mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), can be isolated from many different adult tissues and thus are free of ethical concerns. Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are reprogrammed somatic cells that can again develop into many different cell types and thus represent an interesting cell source. However, genetic and epigenetic aberrations of iPSCs have been observed, and thus iPSCs cannot be considered as safe so far. Therefore, MSCs are still considered as the most promising candidate for tissue engineering applications.

Although tissue engineering is more and more entering clinical applications, a major limitation is the construction of large-size tissues. Especially in the field of musculoskeletal engineering where large-size defects occur frequently, diffusion is not sufficient to supply the entire construct with oxygen and nutrients. Consequently, a necrotic core and thus non-functional tissues are observed. The dynamic cultivation, i.e., in perfusion

87

5

bioreactors, reduces diffusion gradients by active transport of the cultivation medium (see Chap. 10). Still, the effects of convection in dynamic cultivation are limited and thus a perfusable vessel-like network in a 3D cell-matrix construct is favorable. Different strategies have been developed to solve the problem of in vitro prevascularization. Vessel-like scaffolds of synthetic or natural origin can be seeded with vessel-forming cells such as endothelial cells and cultivated until the constructs are fully populated by them. Also, cell sheet technology can be used to generate monolayers of different cell types which are subsequently stacked to multilayer constructs including endothelial cells for the formation of blood vessels. Another approach incorporates spheroids composed of endothelial cells and/or undifferentiated MSCs into the tissue construct. The spheroids have been shown to develop a dense network of vessel-like structures. Furthermore, vascular channels and networks can be formed by molding a non-sacrificial material (i.e., hydrogels) around a sacrificial component (i.e., gelatin) which is then chemically dissolved, followed by seeding of endothelial cells. Also, 3D printing is heavily investigated as a possibility to generate off-the-shelf complex tissue with a functional vasculature [10].

5.3.3 Test Models

The most important application for 3D culture today is in vitro test models. Since 3D cultivation better represents the physiologic environment experienced by cells in the body, the cells react in a more physiologic way to external cues than in 2D cultivation. This is referred to as the "relevance" of a model. Today, animal models are accepted to have the highest relevance while at the same time being the most costly (see **•** Fig. 5.4). 3D cell culture models are bridging the gap between conventional 2D cell culture models and animal models. Therefore, 3D cell cultivation is of enormous interest in the field of drug development as well as in the study of tissue development and diseases. Representative



Cost

Fig. 5.4 Relative relevance and costs of 2D and 3D cell culture and animal models

physiologic models of specific tissues such as the liver, intestine, or brain or pathophysiologic (disease) models and tumor models are needed to study drug metabolism and toxicity. In animal testing researchers must explain why there is no alternative to using animals for research. The underlying guidelines are called the "three R" rule: replace, reduce, and refine. Replace the use animals with an alternative approach or technique. Reduce the amount of animals needed for testing to a minimum while obtaining the same amount of information. Refine the experimental procedures to keep animal suffering to a minimum. Altogether animal testing is costly and ethically questionable, and the direct transfer of results to humans is often limited. Therefore companies with the need for animal testing are interested in highly relevant in vitro models that are less costly. 3D in vitro models do not only reduce animal testing but at the same time allow for high-throughput screening of different substances or conditions. A complex 3D in vitro model of a specific tissue is often referred to as an "organoid." They can be either derived from primary cells or ESCs and iPSCs, and for many tissues organoid models have already been developed [5].

A specific application of in vitro tissue models is the organ-on-a-chip technology which combines the 3D cultivation of different cell types with microfluidic systems to build a functional unit that mimics the behavior of an entire organ. Even 3D models do not represent the complex interactions between different tissues, such as tissue-to-tissue interface interactions or the transport of soluble cues such as growth factors. Organ-on-a-chip may therefore better simulate the actual in vivo situation than classic 3D models [23].

5.4 Summary and "Lessons Learned"

Traditional standard cell culture is very useful for a wide range of applications but is fundamentally different from physiologic conditions found in living tissues. In contrast, 3D cell cultivation enables for the generation of a more physiologic environment. Due to increased cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions as well as the possibility to migrate in all three dimensions, cells display a more physiologic behavior. Matrix-free approaches like spheroid or cell sheet cultivation foster cell-cell interactions and trigger the cells' own matrix production. With matrix-based approaches, the behavior of cells can be controlled via the architecture or functionalization of the matrix. Often 3D cultivation is carried out in a bioreactor to apply mechanical forces such as shear, pressure, or strain. 3D tissue constructs are already used for in vitro test models and in the field tissue engineering. However, limitations such as the development of a proper vasculature or the analysis of 3D constructs hamper broad applications.

Take-Home Messages

- The main aspects of so-called standard cell culture comprise temperature, composition of atmosphere, and medium.
- However, many aspects of standard cell culture do not represent physiologic conditions.
- The main differences between 2D and 3D cell culture are soluble gradients, polarity, discrete matrix fibrils, migration which is sterically hindered, adhesion possible in three dimensions, and lower substrate stiffness.
- Protocols for the analysis of 2D cannot be transferred to 3D without modification.
- Most approaches for 3D cell culture are either matrix-free or matrix-based.

- Mainly, 3D cell cultures are currently applied in tissue engineering processes and for in vitro test models.
- Animal models are costly and ethically questionable and the transfer to humans is limited.

Further Reading

- 1. Baker BM, Chen CS. Deconstructing the third dimension-how 3D culture microenvironments alter cellular cues. J Cell Sci. 2012;125:3015–24.
- 2. Clark J, Hirstenstein H, Gebb C. Critical parameters in the microcarrier culture of animal cells. Dev Biol Stand. 1980;46:117–24.
- 3. Costa M, Cerqueira MT, Santos TC, et al. Cell sheet engineering using the stromal vascular fraction of adipose tissue as a vascularization strategy. Acta Biomater. 2017;55:131–43.
- 4. Ertl P, Sticker D, Charwat V, et al. Lab-on-a-chip technologies for stem cell analysis. Trends Biotechnol. 2014;32:245–53.
- 5. Fatehullah A, Tan SH, Barker N. Organoids as an in vitro model of human development and disease. Nat Cell Biol. 2016;18:246–54.
- 6. Fennema E, Rivron N, Rouwkema J, et al. Spheroid culture as a tool for creating 3D complex tissues. Trends Biotechnol. 2013;31:108–15.
- 7. Haisler WL, Timm DM, Gage JA, et al. Three-dimensional cell culturing by magnetic levitation. Nat Protoc. 2013;8:1940–9.
- 8. Haycock JW. 3D cell culture: a review of current approaches and techniques. Cell Cult Methods Protoc. 2011;3D:1–15.
- 9. L'heureux N, Paquet S, Labbe R, et al. A completely biological tissue-engineered human blood vessel. FASEB J. 1998;12:47–56.
- 10. Laschke MW, Menger MD. Prevascularization in tissue engineering: current concepts and future directions. Biotechnol Adv. 2016;34:112–21.
- 11. Li B, Wang X, Wang Y, et al. Past, present, and future of microcarrier-based tissue engineering. J Orthop Transl. 2015;3:51–7.
- 12. Macri-Pellizzeri L, Pelacho B, Sancho A, et al. Substrate stiffness and composition specifically direct differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A. 2015;21:1633–41.
- 13. Mathur A, Loskill P, Shao KF, et al. Human iPSC-based cardiac microphysiological system for drug screening applications. Sci Rep. 2015:5.
- 14. Nath S, Devi GR. Three-dimensional culture systems in cancer research: focus on tumor spheroid model. Pharmacol Ther. 2016;163:94–108.
- Pelham RJ, Jr., Wang Y (1997) Cell locomotion and focal adhesions are regulated by substrate flexibility. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:13661–13665.
- 16. Ravi M, Paramesh V, Kaviya S, et al. 3D cell culture systems: advantages and applications. J Cell Physiol. 2015;230:16–26.
- 17. Sakaguchi K, Shimizu T, Horaguchi S, et al. In vitro engineering of vascularized tissue surrogates. Sci Rep. 2013;3:1316.
- 18. Schmitz S. Der Experimentator: Zellkultur: Springer; 2011.
- 19. Schrader J, Gordon-Walker TT, Aucott RL, et al. Matrix stiffness modulates proliferation, chemotherapeutic response, and dormancy in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Hepatology. 2011;53:1192–205.
- 20. Vickers AE, Fisher RL. Organ slices for the evaluation of human drug toxicity. Chem Biol Interact. 2004;150:87–96.
- 21. Yamato M, Okano T. Cell sheet engineering. Mater Today. 2004;7:42-7.
- Yao X, Peng R, Ding J. Cell-material interactions revealed via material techniques of surface patterning. Adv Mater. 2013;25:5257–86.
- Zheng FY, Fu FF, Cheng Y, et al. Organ-on-a-chip systems: microengineering to biomimic living systems. Small. 2016;12:2253–82.
- Zustiak S, Nossal R, Sackett DL. Multiwell stiffness assay for the study of cell responsiveness to cytotoxic drugs. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2014;111:396–403.



Biomaterials

Rainer Detsch, Julia Will, Jasmin Hum, Judith A. Roether, and Aldo R. Boccaccini

- 6.1 **Biocompatibility – 92** Materials and Synthesis – 93 6.2 6.2.1 Materials - 93 6.2.2 Preparation – 94 6.2.3 Sterilization – 96 Material Characteristics - 96 6.3 6.3.1 Porosity – 97 6.3.2 Degradation – 97 6.3.3 Wettability – 99 6.3.4 Stiffness - 100 6.3.5 Roughness - 100
- 6.4 Tissue Engineering and Biofabrication 102

References – 104

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

Biomaterials are a special class of materials that have been engineered to take a form which, alone or as part of a complex system, is used to direct the course of any therapeutic or diagnostic procedure, by controlling interactions with components of living systems [1]. Furthermore, biomaterials can be classified as types of materials – be it natural or synthetic, alive or lifeless and usually made of multiple components – that interact with biological systems [2]. They are used either for therapeutic (treat, augment, repair or replace a tissue function) or for diagnostic (sensors, cancer models, animal test substitution) purposes.

This book chapter – *cells meet surface* – deals primarily with the most important aspect of biomaterials, i.e. their interactions with cells. More particularly, the chapter is focused on biocompatibility and characteristics for enhanced performance of permanent and non-permanent biomaterials, surface properties as well as tissue engineering and biofabrication.

6.1 **Biocompatibility**

There are several definitions for biocompatibility in the literature dependent on the different related disciplines including biology, material science, physics, chemistry and medicine. Overall, biocompatibility and also the opposite term "biotoxicity" can be viewed as a biomaterial property that involves physical, chemical, biological and medical aspects of a biomaterial. In a regulatory sense, biocompatibility is a materials property to determine the potential toxicity resulting from bodily contact with a material or medical device. Biocompatibility is an essential criterion for medical devices and encompasses both local and systemic reactions. That means that systemic reactions affect parts of the body away from the location of the implant or device [3]. The term biocompatibility itself is connected to three levels of the biological evaluation and addresses the biosafety of a medical device (**©** Fig. 6.1). Testing the biological behaviour of biomaterials always starts with cell culture trials (in vitro tests), followed by more comprehensive investigations on experimental animals (in vivo), and clinical studies are the final step of the evaluation process. With the increase of the investigation level, complexity and costs are also increasing.

The in vitro biocompatibility evaluation also termed "cytocompatibility testing" of materials or eluates is the first step in the assessment of biological behaviour of biomaterials and scaffolds: the standard EN 30993, part 5, gives guidelines to perform such tests [4]. In this norm, simple cell lines, like fibroblasts from mice (L929) or human osteoblast-like cells (MG-63), are suggested to evaluate cell proliferation, viability and morphology. In more advanced setups, primary cells or even stem cells can be used for more detailed understanding of cell-material interactions, and cell differentiation studies can be performed. However, it seems to be reasonable to exploit the target cell type l, for which the material has been intended for future implantation. Cell culture systems may be of value in testing the biocompatibility of prosthetic materials before they are introduced into clinical use. In recent years, in vitro methods for assaying biomaterials have gained importance owing to the growing concern over the use of animals for biomaterials testing.

Cells are generally more sensitive to toxic materials in vitro than in vivo tissue. Therefore, a material showing a moderate to high level of toxicity in vitro may result not particularly toxic for the tissue in vivo, while a material harmless to the cells, even in longlasting assays, is likely to be inert also in vivo. However, the word biocompatibility refers also to the interaction of a living system or tissue with a finished medical device or



Fig. 6.1 Relationship between biocompatibility and its increase in relevance, complexity and costs

component material. The biological response of tissue cells to an implant can alternatively be assessed by tissue engineering and biofabrication approaches, which will be explained later in this chapter (> Sect. 6.4).

A medical device may comprise materials that are individually biocompatible; however, the composed device itself requires additional biocompatibility testing. For this reason, also macrophages, endothelial cells or even embryonic stem cells are used to determine the biocompatibility of a certain material. At last, in vitro cell culture test systems have to demonstrate that they are strong alternatives to animal tests.

6.2 Materials and Synthesis

6.2.1 Materials

A very large number of different biomaterials are available for biomedical applications. Generally, biomaterials can be divided into alloplastic (synthetic) and biological materials as illustrated in **•** Fig. 6.2. Alloplastic materials can be further divided into different groups mainly ceramics, metals, polymers and composites of the former, whereas a biological material is living tissue from the same person (autograft), same species (autograft) or another species (xenograft).

Polymeric materials (e.g. PE, PMMA, PVC, etc.) are used either due to their flexibility or used for low-friction articulating surfaces. Natural polymers, e.g. collagen, starch or



Fig. 6.2 Classification of biomaterials into alloplastic and biological and their subdivisions. With all these materials, several combinations for composites are possible [5]

fibrin, are also used as biomaterials having the advantage of being highly biocompatible and bioactive and their ability to undergo biodegradation. Ceramic materials (e.g. zirconia, alumina) are characterized by their high biocompatibility, hardness and wear resistance and are used in applications such as articulating surfaces in joints. Metals (e.g. titanium, Ti alloys Ti-6Al-4V, cobalt alloys or stainless steel) typically possess high tensile, high fatigue and high yield strengths and are therefore used for load-bearing applications such as bone and joint replacements. Composites with different combinations of the materials outlined above can be tailored to the properties required; they offer a variety of advantages in comparison with homogeneous materials as the drawbacks of each individual material can be minimized. It is important for biomaterials that each constituent of the composite must be biocompatible. Examples of composites, bone particle or carbon fibre-reinforced methyl methacrylate bone cement and ultrahigh-molecular-weight polyethylene and porous surface orthopaedic implants (**•** Fig. 6.3).

Synthetic biomaterials (ceramics, metals, polymers and composites) are prepared using a large variety of different processing methods. There are several industrial processing methods for producing synthetic biomaterials; however in this book chapter, only laboratory-scale technologies are presented.

6.2.2 Preparation

Polymer synthesis can be described as the process of covalently bonding monomers (small molecules) to form a polymer chain or network of repeating structural units (also termed "macromolecules"). The formation of polymers can be achieved by different methods, including polymerization, polyaddition or polycondensation. Natural polymers can be harvested from plants, animals and humans. Technical polymers are generally produced synthetically, whereby a variety of different techniques (injection moulding, blow casting,



Fig. 6.3 Composite biomaterials are formed by combination of polymers, ceramics and metals, e.g. dental filling composites, bone particle or carbon fibre-reinforced methyl methacrylate bone cement and ultrahigh-molecular-weight polyethylene



Fig. 6.4 Flow charts of the processing routes for ceramics and metals

extrusion, thermoforming, etc.) can be applied. Many processing techniques used for the synthetic polymers have also been applied to natural polymers.

Ceramics (e.g. Al_2O_3) are fabricated starting from a raw ceramic powder which can be found in nature or produced synthetically, followed by different forming processes (e.g. slip casting or dry pressing). A treatment at high temperature (sintering) converts the porous green body into a dense solid. This process is connected with a volume change. Afterwards, the ceramic can be post-processed via polishing. Metals require a melting process of the raw material (e.g. iron ore), after which it is cast into the desired form. Metals can be recycled after the post-processing step. \Box Figure 6.4 illustrates simplified flow charts for the processing of ceramics and metals.



Fig. 6.5 Different physical and chemical methods to sterilize biomaterials

6.2.3 Sterilization

Sterilization is a process whereby harmful substances and living microorganisms (e.g. bacteria) are eliminated through the use of physical, chemical and physicochemical means (e.g. high temperature, intense radiation, concentrated toxic chemicals). The sterilization of a biomaterial is important for its success.

Biomaterials must be sterilized after processing and prior to packaging, so that their sterility can be maintained until the point of use. Sterilization depends on the contact of the sterilizing agent (e.g. dry heat, chemical solutions, steam, ethylene oxide, formalde-hyde gas, hydrogen peroxide plasma, ionization radiation, etc.) with all surfaces of the item to be sterilized. The selection of the sterilization method primarily depends on the material to be sterilized, as the process should not induce a change of material properties. Whereas ceramics and metals are not so sensitive towards sterilization agents, for polymers a change of material properties, like crystallinity or elasticity, can incur.

The method of choice in most labs is autoclaving using pressurized steam, whereas in industry sterilization with gamma radiation is the most commonly used source for sterilization. The advantage of the latter process is the possibility to sterilize materials, which are already in their outer packaging (**2** Fig. 6.5).

In this context it should be mentioned that UV radiation and alcohol solutions do not generate sterile conditions, as these are disinfection methods.

6.3 Material Characteristics

Cell-material interactions are a complex process and play an essential role for the integrity of biomaterials in the human body. Next to qualitative properties like compatibility or stability, other material characteristics influence the cellular interactions taking place at the interface. Especially, surface chemistry, elasticity, porosity and topography have a significant effect on the attachment, proliferation and differentiation of different cell types and can control shape, size and density of cells. Therefore, the following section describes and explains the influence of different parameters and provides an overview of the involved processes.



Fig. 6.6 Depiction of the pore volume inside a ceramic-based scaffold obtained using Avizo Fire software [6]

6.3.1 Porosity

Generally, porosity is defined as the void space in a material, whereas for cell culture the accessible porosity of a scaffold is the total amount of void space that culture media or body fluids can enter and pass through it. The pore geometry, size distribution and interconnectivity depend on the nature of the biomaterial and the fabrication process. Besides the pore size, the interconnectivity guides the tissue formation through the scaffold. In that context, the scaffold architecture plays an important role in cell behaviour and tissue ingrowth. One example of a highly porous scaffold with a porosity of 90% is shown in Fig. 6.6. The diameter of the pores was calculated to range between 690 and 1090 mm, whereas the pore volume is seen to vary between 0.175 and 0.675 mm³.

The methods to characterize porosity and pore sizes are explained in the review of Karageorgou and Kaplan [7]. Adequate measurements and techniques are gravimetry, mercury intrusion porosimetry, liquid displacement method as well as analysis of images from scanning electron microscopy (SEM) or other microscopic methods.

6.3.2 Degradation

Joint replacement materials (e.g. for hip joints) should ideally remain inert for years, whereas for other applications (e.g. osteosynthetic screws), degradability in the body is required. The degradation of biomaterials involves both chemical dissolution (physicochemical degradation) and resorption (cellular degradation by, e.g. osteoclasts, macrophages or fibroblasts). Within the efforts of regenerative medicine towards a *restitutio ad integrum*, biomaterials or even cell-loaded scaffolds that are implanted for the substitution of large defects should be completely degraded within an adequate period of time. Generally degradation can occur due to several mechanisms: mechanical degradation (e.g. wear) and chemical degradation (enzymes, corrosion). The wear degradation in, e.g. total hip joints (wear of the articulated surface) plays a critical role in the lifetime of an artificial hip joint. Hard-on-hard bearings such as ceramic-on-ceramic (CoC) or metal-on-metal (MoM) are technically promising solutions for this wear problem. This helps to develop new materials with tailored degradation behaviour. As mentioned before, there are different methods to describe the behaviour in vitro (ISO 10993) and in vivo (interface with cells and material).

6.3.2.1 Ceramics

Inert ceramics (e.g. Al_2O_3 or ZrO_2) show no degradation behaviour, whereas some "relatives" of hydroxyapatite (natural compound of the bone) such as tricalcium phosphate (TCP) or other calcium-alkali-orthophosphates are degradable in the body. Factors such as degree of micro- and macroporosity, crystallinity or chemical composition are factors which influence the degradability. One general characteristic of a bone substitute material used for bone regeneration is to be resorbed by osteoclast cells and replaced by new bone. For all bone substitute materials, it is essential that they are included in anabolism or tissue formation and catabolism or remodelling process [8]. In this context materials like calcium carbonate, hydroxyapatite (HA), bioactive glasses (BG), TCP, biphasic ceramics of HA and α - or β -TCP are of interest.

6.3.2.2 Metals

Corrosion is always a concern if using metallic implants. In most of the cases, the current research aims to minimize corrosion and effects of degradation because the degradation products (wear debris, colloidal complexes, free metallic ions, inorganic metal salts, oxides and hydroxides) might elicit toxic or hypersensitivity responses in the body. The effect of metal particles on bone cells and bone resorption is a crucial issue for orthopaedic implant durability, and some patients with metal implants show an elevated metal body content found in the body fluids and remote organs [9].

6.3.2.3 Polymers

Degradable polymers (e.g. polyglycolide acid [poly(L-lactide, poly(D-lactide PLGA, poly(c-caprolactone as well as collagen, gelatine or alginate) typically contain linkages susceptible to hydrolysis. If these materials are also hydrophilic and absorb water, they will degrade. Body enzymes can support these reactions. The degradation products such as gases and salts have to be non-toxic as well. This degradation effect can be used for drug delivery (where drugs are encapsulated into degradable polymers), surgical suture materials (the polymer degrades slowly with a rate which matches the rate of tissue regeneration) or as scaffolds in tissue engineering (the polymer degrades in the body once it has served its purpose of being a template for the regeneration tissue).

6.3.2.4 Composites

Composites are combinations of different material groups. Their degradation behaviour is connected to the degradation behaviour of their individual components. In order for a biomaterial to be successfully used, the degradation products and release rates have to be well characterized and controlled. The degradation mechanisms of each phase need to be understood to design a biodegradable composite for intended use as a temporary implant material.

6.3.3 Wettability

As cellular interactions take place between adhesive molecules and cells, the contact between cell and material can be described as an indirect reaction and is mediated by the protein adsorption on the surface of the biomaterial. Protein adsorption is a very rapid process driven by van der Waals forces, hydrogen bonding and electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions [10] and takes place within the first seconds of contact with biological fluids (like blood or culture medium). Proteins, which show the highest mobility (e.g. albumin), first attach to the surface and are replaced after time by proteins with higher affinity (e.g. fibrinogen) [11], described as the Vroman effect [12]. Due to the high sensitivity of the cell-material interaction, cells can attach and proliferate, or inflammation can cause cell death and rejection reaction in the worst case, depending on the adsorbed proteins on the surface [13]. One of the most important parameters influencing the behaviour of protein adsorption is hydrophilicity and accordingly hydrophobicity of a material, describing the wettability of a surface. The wettability of a material can be determined by static or dynamic contact angle measurement. Thereby, a sessile water droplet with defined volume is deposited on a flat surface. By establishing a tangent line between surface and droplet (\blacksquare Fig. 6.7), a contact angle θ can be determined. Small contact angles ($\le 90^\circ$) correspond to surfaces with hydrophilic behaviour, whereas high contact angles ($\geq 90^\circ$) describe surfaces with hydrophobic character [14].

In general, proteins have a higher affinity to adsorb more strongly to hydrophobic than to hydrophilic surfaces [15]. Adsorption is a spontaneous reaction and can be described by the following equation:

 $\Delta_{\rm ads}G = \Delta_{\rm ads}H - T\Delta_{\rm ads}S < 0$

where *G*, *H*, *T* and *S* are the Gibbs free energy, enthalpy, temperature and entropy, respectively. Δ_{ads} describes the net change of the parameters.

This behaviour can be attributed to the structure of proteins. Proteins are macromolecules consisting of different amino acids with varying side chains (hydrophobic and hydrophilic residues). In aqueous media, the hydrophobic parts of the amino acids tend to be located inside the protein core to minimize the conformational entropy, whereas the hydrophilic parts outside interact with water molecules resulting in water solubility of proteins. Due to interactions between sorbent hydrophobic surface and hydrophobic side chains, proteins unfold their amphiphilic structure resulting in an increase of the entropy which is also the driving force for the protein adsorption. The hydrophobic part of the



Fig. 6.7 Illustration of the measurement of the contact angle by creating a tangent line at the liquid-vapour interface, γlv, γsl and γsv describe the liquid-vapour, solid-liquid and solid-vapour interfacial tensions, respectively [14]. Reprinted with permission of Springer Link, tbc
protein core covers the hydrophobic surface to reduce the hydrophobic surface area exposed to the solvent [15] attributed to thermodynamic forces. Shortly summarized, interactions of proteins with hydrophobic surfaces are an energetically more favourable reaction compared to hydrophilic surfaces because of the gain of entropy.

6.3.4 Stiffness

Mechanical properties are an important part of tissue engineering to characterize different materials. They give information about the quality of a sample, how easy it is to handle or whether it is load bearing or not. These properties adjudicate for which application and in which environment the material is adaptable as well as if cells are able to grow on it or drugs can be incorporated and subsequently released [16]. Stiffness, also termed rigidity, elasticity or pliability, is a determining factor for cell fate especially in a 3D environment where the cells are surrounded by matrices. The substrate stiffness is sensed by cells through bidirectional ways: cells exerting stresses on the surrounding matrix during tissue regeneration, morphogenesis and differentiation and natural function through the ligand-integrin interactions between cells and the surrounding matrix. Simultaneously, the surrounding matrix exerts stress on the embedded cells, which depends not only on the cell-matrix bonds but also on the stiffness and density of the matrix. The stiffness of the surrounding matrix and the cell-matrix interactions through the ligand-integrin bonds, dictate the extent to which the embedded cells can contract the matrix [17, 18]. The degree of contraction of the surrounding matrix by the embedded cells is one of the determining factors of cell migration, proliferation and spreading in 3D matrices. Cells encounter less resistance in softer and compliant matrices than in stiffer matrices, which has been demonstrated by Bott et al. [19], showing that fibroblasts exhibit higher spreading and proliferation within softer than comparatively stiffer PEG hydrogels. The stiffness of soft biomaterials can be measured using different methods like atomic force microscopy (AFM) or nanoindentation, which will be described more in detail: The technique normally uses a probe, which is brought in contact with the material surface as a first step. There are a range of parameters that can be varied in this technique, i.e. different methods, tip diameters, local differences in the samples because of their heterogeneity, storage media used, temperature, hydration state, time between measurement and tissue excision/death, etc.; hence different results can be achieved. In the next step, the probe is pushed into the material and retracted. During the whole process, the load, displacement and the time are recorded (Fig. 6.8). The parameters are analysed with a range of models such as elastic or viscoelastic. The elastic model is used for materials that return to their original shape when the loads are removed and the unloading path is the same as the loading path, except for viscoelastic materials, which deform after applying and removing a load.

6.3.5 Roughness

It is well known that the micro- and nanotopography of a substratum controls cell behaviour [20]. Convex surfaces can be covered by cells (**•** Fig. 6.9a), whereas cells tend to bridge concave structures (**•** Fig. 6.9b). This was described by 3D printed HA granules for tissue engineering [21]. Furthermore, different nanostructures like gratings, pits or pillars



Fig. 6.8 Illustration of the three steps during one indentation cycle (*left* image): **a** approach, **b** loading and **c** unloading (Source: Optics 11, Amsterdam). Typical load – displacement curve for a nanoindenter measurement (*right*)



Fig. 6.9 Convex **a** and concave topographies **b** as well as nanostructures **c** can guide cell attachment and cell development. (Images drawn by Dr. Aldo Leal-Egaña, Institute of Biomaterials, Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nuremberg)

could guide cell adhesion (75–120 nm) or osteogenesis (300 nm), whereas small structures below 35 nm seem to inhibit cell adhesion [22–24].

The microscopic topography of a biomaterial surface is typically characterized by a series of peaks and valleys, which can be quantified using or 2D profile. Roughness average (Ra, defined as the integral of the absolute height values of peaks and valleys along the evaluated profile), vertical parameter (Rz, mean height from peak to valley along the roughness profile) and horizontal parameter (Rm, average interpeak distance along the roughness profile) are used to describe a surface profile (see also $\$ Fig. 6.10). For example, cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of myoblasts and osteogenic cells will be affected by the applied surface structure [25]. As compared with micron-scale surface structure, submicron-scale surface cell proliferation of osteoblasts [26]. In general, it seems that an optimal spectrum of Ra roughness for bone-forming cells ranges between 0.2 and 2 μ m [20]. On the other hand, the surface roughness needs to be optimized for each case of positive cell surface interaction.



Fig. 6.10 Schematic drawing of the influence of different rough surfaces on cell attachment. **a** On smooth surfaces cells will adhere fast and spread with flat morphology. **b** On a rougher surface, cells have to spend more energy to cover the surface. (Images drawn by Dr. Aldo Leal-Egaña, Institute of Biomaterials, Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nuremberg)

In summary, specifically tailored biomaterials with organ-specific functions, like porosity, degradation behaviour, wettability, stiffness, roughness and geometry, should be available not only to provide structural support to targeted cells but also to instruct or guide cells in their expansion and tissue formation function.

6.4 Tissue Engineering and Biofabrication

The term tissue engineering (TE) is mentioned in many chapters of this book. TE can be defined as, using the definition of Langer and Vacanti, "an interdisciplinary field that applies the principles of engineering and life sciences toward the development of biological substitutes that restore, maintain, or improve tissue function or a whole organ" [27]. Macro-, micro- and nonporous biomaterial scaffolds have gained much attention since they provide cells not only with mechanical support, growth factors and nutrients but also with a microenvironment for cell homing and for performing biological functions. Particularly, biodegradable polymers, bioceramics and bioactive glasses as well as composites have been widely used as scaffold fabrication and sterilization, cells with or without growth factors will be seeded onto the scaffolds. In some cases, the cells, scaffolds and growth factors are all mixed together at once, allowing the tissue formation. The basic principles of TE are illustrated in **■** Fig. 6.11.

In general, the cells of a donor organ are seeded and the scaffold is used to guide the new tissue formation. This process has been used to bioengineer heart, liver, bone cartilage, lung and kidney tissue [28]. This regeneration approach seems to be promising combining a patient's own cells to make customized organs that will not be rejected by the immune system.

The main goal in biofabrication approach is to build living tissue substitutes on demand. In order to create functional tissue structures, additive manufacturing technologies are being increasingly considered. They allow the generation of functional structures created out of CAD models within a short period of time and with a very high precision.

The basic concept of biofabrication is the combination of a matrix (hydrogel) with living cells or bioactive molecules and additive manufacturing (3D printing techniques) in order to generate cells in a three-dimensional environment (Fig. 6.12). The fabricated products



Fig. 6.11 Scheme of the tissue engineering dogma: After their isolation and expansion, cells are seeded on a suitable scaffold. Growth factors and bioreactors can stimulate the attached cells to differentiate into the target tissue type before the construct will be implanted



• Fig. 6.12 For biofabrication, hydrogel is mixed with cells, and afterwards this solution will be processed by additive manufacturing to form a three-dimensional cell-containing construct for the use in regenerative medicine and for research models

can be used for tissue engineering approaches, like regeneration of tissue or model systems for drug and disease research. The scaffold acts as a supporting structure with an interconnected pore network for the cells. This means that the cells are effectively organized and attached in a three-dimensional matrix. Furthermore the scaffold should support the migration, growth and differentiation of cells. Therefore, it is crucial to consider the physicochemical properties, morphology and degradation behaviour. Different techniques are already established to build three-dimensional (3D) complex cell-loaded structures [29].

One promising biofabrication approach is the use of a hydrogel system based on oxidized alginate covalently cross-linked with gelatin (ADA-GEL). This system is utilized to design biodegradable tissue engineering scaffolds, in which enhanced cell growth, proliferation and migration was observed [30]. Moreover, the plotted ADA-GEL hydrogel constructs exhibit a hierarchy of pore sizes from the nano- to the micrometre range. The biological properties of these hydrogels were studied by comparing the viability and morphology of MG-63 osteosarcoma cells, encapsulated in gelatin and RGD-modified alginate, as reported elsewhere [31].

In conclusion, the key parameter for the success of the bioprinting approach is the biocompatibility of the substrate. The development of cells on a biomaterial surface can be tailored by surface properties. Tissue engineering and biofabrication applications will open more complex but also more efficient insights into the *cell meets surface* issue.

Take-Home Messages

- Biocompatibility is a complex material property, which has been determined by in vitro, in vivo and clinical tests.
- Biomaterials are manufactured by synthetic or biological-derived materials.
- The sterilization of biomaterials is essential, and the selection of the appropriate sterilization method is determined by the used material composition.
- The adjustment of porosity, degradation, wettability, stiffness and roughness are applied to tailor cell-material interaction.
- Biofabrication generates living tissue and includes the perfect interplay of bioink (hydrogel), cells and additive manufacturing.

References

- 1. Langer R, Tirrell DA. Designing materials for biology and medicine. Nature. 2004;428:487–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02388.
- Ratner BD, Bryant SJ. Biomaterials: where we have been and where we are going. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2004;6:41–75. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bioeng.6.040803.140027.
- 3. Williams DF. On the mechanisms of biocompatibility. Biomaterials. 2008;29:2941–53. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.04.023.
- Wallin RF, Arscott EF. A practical guide to ISO 10993-5: cytotoxicity. Med Device Diagnostic Ind. 1998;20:2–4. http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-0032047897&partnerID=tZOt x3y1
- 5. Detsch R, Boccaccini AR. The role of osteoclasts in bone tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2015;9:1133–49. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.1851.
- Detsch R, Alles S, Hum J, Westenberger P, Sieker F, Heusinger D, Kasper C, Boccaccini AR. Osteogenic differentiation of umbilical cord and adipose derived stem cells onto highly porous 4555 Bioglass[®]based scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2015;103:1029–37. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.35238.
- 7. Karageorgiou V, Kaplan D. Porosity of 3D biomaterial scaffolds and osteogenesis. Biomaterials. 2005;26:5474–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.02.002.

- 8. Detsch R, Mayr H, Ziegler G. Formation of osteoclast-like cells on HA and TCP ceramics. Acta Biomater. 2008;4:139–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2007.03.014.
- 9. Sansone V. The effects on bone cells of metal ions released from orthopaedic implants. A review. Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab. 2013. https://doi.org/10.11138/ccmbm/2013.10.1.034.
- 10. Xu L-C, Siedlecki CA. Effects of surface wettability and contact time on protein adhesion to biomaterial surfaces. Biomaterials. 2007;28:3273–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.03.032.
- 11. Kasemo B, Gold J. Implant surfaces and Interface processes. Adv Dent Res. 1999;13:8–20. https://doi. org/10.1177/08959374990130011901.
- 12. Vilaseca P, Dawson KA, Franzese G. Understanding and modulating the competitive surfaceadsorption of proteins through coarse-grained molecular dynamics simulations. Soft Matter. 2013;9:6978. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3sm50220a.
- 13. Hayes JS, Czekanska EM, Richards RG. The cell-surface interaction. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol. 2012;126:1–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2011_110.
- Yuan Y, Lee TR. Contact angle and wetting properties. In: Bracco G, Holst B, editors. Surface science techniques, Springer series, Surface sciences, vol. 51. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer; 2013. p. 3–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-34243-1_1.
- 15. Wang K, Zhou C, Hong Y, Zhang X. A review of protein adsorption on bioceramics. Interface Focus. 2012;2:259–77.
- Oyen ML. Nanoindentation of biological and biomimetic materials. Exp Tech. 2013;37:73–87. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-1567.2011.00716.x.
- Maia FR, Fonseca KB, Rodrigues G, Granja PL, Barrias CC. Matrix-driven formation of mesenchymal stem cell-extracellular matrix microtissues on soft alginate hydrogels. Acta Biomater. 2014;10:3197– 208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2014.02.049.
- 18. Yamada KM, Cukierman E. Modeling tissue morphogenesis and cancer in 3D. Cell. 2007;130:601–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.006.
- Bott K, Upton Z, Schrobback K, Ehrbar M, Hubbell JA, Lutolf MP, Rizzi SC. The effect of matrix characteristics on fibroblast proliferation in 3D gels. Biomaterials. 2010;31:8454–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2010.07.046.
- 20. Curtis A, Wilkinson C. Topographical control of cells. Biomaterials. 1997;18:1573–83. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0142-9612(97)00144-0.
- Seitz H, Deisinger U, Leukers B, Detsch R, Ziegler G. Different calcium phosphate granules for 3-D printing of bone tissue engineering scaffolds. Adv Eng Mater. 2009;11:B41–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/ adem.200800334.
- Curtis ASG, Gadegaard N, Dalby MJ, Riehle MO, Wilkinson CDW, Aitchison G. Cells react to nanoscale order and symmetry in their surroundings. IEEE Trans Nanobioscience. 2004;3:61–5. https://doi. org/10.1109/TNB.2004.824276.
- Choi CH, Heydarkhan-Hagvall S, Wu BM, Dunn JCY, Beygui RE, Cjkim CJ. Cell growth as a sheet on three-dimensional sharp-tip nanostructures. J Biomed Mater Res – Part A. 2009;89:804–17. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.32101.
- Dalby MJ, Gadegaard N, Oreffo ROC. Harnessing nanotopography and integrin-matrix interactions to influence stem cell fate. Nat Mater. 2014;13:558–69. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat3980.
- Hu X, Park S-H, Gil ES, Xia X-X, Weiss AS, Kaplan DL. The influence of elasticity and surface roughness on myogenic and osteogenic-differentiation of cells on silk-elastin biomaterials. Biomaterials. 2011;32:8979–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.08.037.
- Zhang J, Sun L, Luo X, Barbieri D, de Bruijn JD, van Blitterswijk CA, Moroni L, Yuan H. Cells responding to surface structure of calcium phosphate ceramics for bone regeneration. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2017;11:3273. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.2236.
- 27. Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science. 1993;260:920–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8493529.
- Ikada Y. Challenges in tissue engineering. J R Soc Interface. 2006;3:589–601. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsif.2006.0124.
- Malda J, Visser J, Melchels FP, Jüngst T, Hennink WE, Dhert WJA, Groll J, Hutmacher DW. 25th anniversary article: engineering hydrogels for biofabrication. Adv Mater. 2013;25:5011–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201302042.
- 30. Zehnder T, Sarker B, Boccaccini AR, Detsch R. Evaluation of an alginate–gelatine crosslinked hydrogel for bioplotting. Biofabrication. 2015;7:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/7/2/025001.
- Grigore A, Sarker B, Fabry B, Boccaccini AR, Detsch R. Behavior of encapsulated MG-63 cells in RGD and gelatine-modified alginate hydrogels. Tissue Eng Part A. 2014;20:2140–50. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ten.tea.2013.0416.



Cell–Surface Interactions

Megan Livingston and F. Kurtis Kasper

7.1	Overview – 108
7.1.1	Stem Cells in Culture for Tissue Engineering – 109
7.1.2	Scope – 109
7.2	Naturally Derived Biomaterials – 110
7.2.1	Decellularized Organs/Tissues – 110
7.2.2	Extracellular Matrix Derivatives: Natural Polymers and Hydrogels – 112
7.2.3	Challenges of Naturally Derived Biomaterials – 113
7.3	Synthetic Biomaterials – 114
7.3.1	Advantages – 114
7.3.2	Disadvantages – 114
7.3.3	Modification of Synthetic Biomaterials – 115
7.4	Hybrid Materials – 119
7.5	Future Directions – 121
7.5.1	Bioprinting – 121
7.5.2	Responsive Polymers – 122
7.6	Summary – 122
	References - 123

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

The interactions that can occur between a cell and an adjacent biomaterial in culture are vast and depend on the biochemical, physical, and mechanical properties of the biomaterial. The present chapter will discuss the effects of key biomaterial properties on cell attachment, proliferation, migration, and differentiation in culture. These cell–surface interactions will be discussed in the context of the envisioned clinical application of the biomaterials to facilitate an improved understanding of the "big picture" considerations when studying biomaterial-based technologies in cell culture, with a particular focus on tissue engineering technologies.

7.1 Overview

When studying cell–surface interactions, primarily in the context of cell interactions with biomaterials in culture, it is important to consider the clinical significance of the technology you are studying/developing. The biocompatibility of a biomaterial generally will be assessed on the pathway to development of a product or technology for a clinical application, especially if the envisioned application involves some interaction with living tissue in a specific context. Biocompatibility is not an inherent material property, but it depends on the intended biological environment and the interactions that occur between the material and its surrounding environment in vivo [4].

Within a biological environment, the chemical and physical properties of material surfaces exert a considerable influence on cell adhesion, proliferation, migration, and differentiation [124]. Cells in a complex organism are surrounded by a multifactorial extracellular architecture of proteins, polysaccharides, and proteoglycans that constantly undergo change due to assembly, remodeling, and degradation events. The intrinsic flex-ibility of this structure allows the microenvironment to be modified locally in response to unique patterns of protein secretion and modification. Cell adhesion to specific components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) via integrins, cadherins, and discoidin domain receptors activates signaling programs specific to the conformation and composition of that ECM [70]. Cell shape and ECM stiffness govern membrane properties like curvature and tension [90, 93, 99]. These characteristics, in turn, determine membrane composition, protein distribution, and intracellular trafficking [28, 99].

In an in vivo environment, the distribution of signaling molecules and interstitial pressure facilitate formation of molecular gradients that can variably influence cells within a tissue matrix based on their location. These gradients are established through cell secretion, protein diffusion, and proteoglycan-mediated stabilization [3, 13, 62, 93]. Additionally, topographical cues presented by the ECM directly affect cell behaviors such as adhesion, migration, cytoskeletal arrangement, and differentiation [40]. Cells are inherently sensitive to local microscale and nanoscale topographic and molecular patterns in the ECM, a phenomenon called "contact guidance" [47]. Cells respond to physical cues from their surrounding environment manifested through ECM characteristics including adhesive ligand density and pattern, rigidity, and dimensionality and anisotropy [21].

In an invitro culture setting, an artificial microenvironment for cells is formed by a complex combination of factors, including cytokines, scaffold material, cell–cell interactions, and physical stress [38]. Proteins and biomolecules are key factors that determine

cell-material interactions, and these will nonspecifically adsorb to material surfaces from culture medium. Nonspecific interactions between a cell and a surface do not require a receptor, i.e., only physical attachment. Electrostatic, van der Waals, and hydrophobic forces mediate nonspecific cell-surface adhesion. Proteins typically adsorb to the surface of a biomaterial in a nonspecific way [91, 124]. Therefore, unless the surface of a biomaterial has been chemically modified with ligands/peptides for attachment to specific cell membrane receptors, interactions between cells and a material in culture will be nonspecific.

7.1.1 Stem Cells in Culture for Tissue Engineering

One of the most common clinically driven applications requiring study of the interactions of biomaterials and cells in culture is tissue engineering. With that in mind, this chapter will emphasize technologies utilizing a biomaterial scaffold to encourage regeneration or repair of an individual type of tissue or an entire organ structure. In this realm of research, scientists commonly study the interactions of materials and stem cells (i.e., cells capable of self-renewal and differentiation into specific cell types) and/or progenitor cells in an effort to understand how such cells are affected by cues from their surrounding environment. Unfortunately, the quantity of environmental cues and mechanisms possibly directing stem cell fate has made these cells difficult to control in vitro and in vivo [71].

In tissue engineering, many types of cells have been studied in an attempt to decipher/ control stem cells on biomaterial surfaces. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) give rise to all blood cell types [122], while human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) can differentiate into osteoblasts, chondrocytes, and adipocytes. In vitro, MSCs can be differentiated into various cell types including cardiomyocytes, neuronal cells, and others, which they generally are not capable of becoming in vivo; this phenomenon is called "trans-differentiation" or "stem cell plasticity" [72]. More recently, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) have been shown to differentiate into various cell types associated with the three germ layers, supporting the immense potential of iPSCs with regard to applications in regenerative medicine [120]. Producing a homogenous resulting cell population when working with stem cells remains a high priority for implantation, drug screening, and/or disease treatment [96].

7.1.2 Scope

This chapter will highlight examples of interactions of cells with naturally and synthetically derived biomaterials, as well as combinations of the two, in the context of tissue engineering. For the purposes of this chapter, naturally derived biomaterials include scaffolds constituted from tissue/organ ECM as well as bulk materials fabricated from individual components of mammalian ECM. Systems based on nonnatural substances, specifically synthetic polymers, are considered to be synthetic biomaterials. While metals and ceramics might additionally qualify as synthetic biomaterials, this chapter will focus on cell–surface interactions with polymers due to the historical emphasis of polymeric materials in tissue engineering applications.

7.2 Naturally Derived Biomaterials

The selection of an appropriate biomaterial is driven by the specific requirements associated with the intended use of the material. Clearly, a biomaterial can present benefits and shortcomings in the context of a given application; it is the responsibility of the researcher to determine if the advantages of a material outweigh its disadvantages through testing and analysis. Given the breadth of clinical needs driving the development of biomaterials, the research community continues to invest tremendous effort in studying the interactions of cells with biomaterials in a wide range of contexts.

Biomaterials can be classified generally into two groups: namely, naturally derived and synthetically derived biomaterials. Many researchers propose that naturally derived biomaterials offer unique advantages for select tissue engineering applications because they can present natural biological features that synthetic biomaterials generally lack. Scaffolds comprising naturally derived materials have been widely studied in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering because it has been suggested that there is no better way to replace a tissue than with its homologous structure [69]. This school of thought lends itself to the notion that tissue engineering scaffolds ideally should mimic the native ECM and actively interact with cells to direct cell adhesion, proliferation, migration, and differentiation toward a desired outcome [73].

7.2.1 Decellularized Organs/Tissues

Some investigators seek to leverage the biological cues naturally resident in the extracellular matrix of organs and tissues by decellularizing the structures and applying the resulting biomaterial construct as a scaffold to direct cell behavior in an organ- or tissuespecific manner. For example, "whole-organ engineering" involves the removal of cellular components (decellularization) from an organ followed by repopulation of the resulting scaffold with specific cell populations. This approach confers the potential to increase the number of available organs for therapy or transplantation, assuming the functionality of the recellularized organ or tissue can be restored [5, 6, 25, 101, 118]. The concept has been applied to decellularize organs and tissues toward the production of scaffolds to support the repair or regeneration of a variety of tissues and organs.

These scaffolds represent the secreted products of cells in each tissue or organ, transducing functional signals deployed through integrins and other cell surface receptors [11, 26, 42, 79]. Biologic decellularized scaffolds (see **•** Fig. 7.1 for an example) retain a



Fig. 7.1 Preparation and ultrastructural analysis of an example acellular liver bioscaffold. **a** Macroscopic view of a decellularized animal liver before, during, and after the decellularization process. Scale bar = 1 cm. **b** View of a decellularized lobe of the liver exhibiting clear parenchyma, defined liver capsule, and vasculature. (Adapted from Baptista et al. [8] with permission from Wiley)

plethora of bioactive molecules and can facilitate tissue reconstruction by encouraging cellular attachment, proliferation, and differentiation via the ECM molecules and proteins retained in the scaffold from the original tissue. Decellularized scaffolds can attenuate intracellular signaling pathways and cell transcriptional events, imbuing cells seeded in these scaffolds with important characteristics of tissue identity [112]. Although the cellular and molecular mechanisms by which decellularized scaffolds facilitate tissue reconstruction are only partially understood, a body of literature has suggested that an ability to recruit stem/progenitor cells may contribute to an improved remodeling outcome [112].

Early work has generated considerable excitement based on assumptions that both cell lineage and fate could be directed by decellularized scaffolds and that functionally appropriate cellular connections could be made [112]. Important examples of decellularized scaffolds are whole or partial lungs, small intestinal submucosa, acellular dermis, bladder acellular matrix, and amniotic membrane. These types of scaffolds have been shown to quickly incorporate with the surrounding tissue, induce the recruitment of cells and deposition of additional ECM, and accelerate angiogenesis, a critical factor for tissue survival in vivo [4, 63].

7.2.1.1 Decellularization Methods

Common methods for the production of decellularized scaffolds include [112]:

- Physical method: This approach typically involves repeated freeze-thaw cycles in order to rupture cell membranes and induce cell lysis. It could also include preparation of frozen or freeze-dried material and/or treatment with hypertonic saline or irradiation. Although freeze-thaw techniques can kill cells, dead cells are not necessarily removed by these approaches, and, therefore, they may require augmentation using other decellularization procedures [112].
- Chemical decontamination method: The common agents for chemical decontamination are classified generally as either nonionic or ionic detergents. Nonionic detergents (e.g., Triton X-100) may disrupt lipid–lipid and lipid–protein interactions, but largely leave protein–protein interactions intact, so a tissue or organ treated with a nonionic detergent should retain functional protein conformations [97]. Ionic detergents (e.g., sodium dodecyl sulfate, SDS) are commonly used as a supplement to nonionic detergents. Ionic detergents have been known to destroy cells by dissolving in the cytoplasm and breaking up the nucleus and membrane by disrupting protein–protein links, denaturing the proteins [97]. Compared with other detergents, SDS yields a more complete removal of nuclear remnants and cytoplasmic proteins, while disrupting native tissue structure in the process [112].
- Enzyme digestion method: Examples include treatment with trypsin, pepsin, collagenase, DNase, and RNase [78].

The freeze-thaw method combined with the chemical method is considered to be one of the most effective approaches to generate decellularized allografts of more fragile tissue, at present, as this procedure effectively removes cells while retaining a complete ECM [112]. Some researchers have suggested that optimal decellularization protocols require a combination of physical, enzymatic, and chemical treatments to eliminate as much of the cellular residues as possible to make the construct safe for transplantation [69].

Unfortunately, evidence advises that the vast majority of current decellularization techniques present some limitations in terms of weakening the decellularized matrix [69]. Many of the utilized detergents affect crucial proteins present in the ECM. Non-denaturing,

nonionic detergents have the least damaging effect on collagens, elastins, and laminins, whereas denaturing and zwitterionic detergents deplete these critical structural ECM/ basement membrane proteins in both the vascular and airway compartments, hindering the ability of a scaffold to revascularize [102]. Overall, decellularization protocols still need to be refined and standardized to better maintain the integrity of tissue vasculature, in particular that of delicate capillary beds, to decrease the potential for complications, including hemorrhage, upon implantation [102].

7.2.1.2 Shortcomings of Decellularized Matrices

Decellularization of tissue/organs often damages the ECM to some degree [102]. For example, lungs perfused with 0.1% SDS during decellularization suffered a loss of ~80% of collagen and 90–95% of glycosaminoglycans [86, 87]. Damage to these critical ECM components decreases reseeding potential by presenting fewer cell attachment proteins, impeding the potential of the scaffold for success in vivo. Additionally, recellularization of complex tissue (e.g., whole organs) is extremely difficult because the recellularization process is typically dependent on perfusion, which impedes precise control of cell attachment, movement, and proliferation [51].

Decellularized matrices can be very intricate structures, making it quite difficult to characterize which specific ECM components are driving the desired effects. In an effort to simplify the system in vitro, some researchers carry out less complex approaches to leverage naturally derived materials to present certain elements of the ECM environment to controllably and reproducibly drive cell behavior.

7.2.2 Extracellular Matrix Derivatives: Natural Polymers and Hydrogels

Cells attach to the ECM through integrin receptors, and engagement of these receptors initiates multiple intracellular signaling cascades that regulate cell survival, proliferation, and differentiation [4, 32, 43]. It is often advantageous for biomaterial scaffolds to mimic particular characteristics of the natural ECM [73]; therefore, some researchers employ materials composed of bulk ECM derivatives in order to direct cell actions on material surfaces as an alternative to using the whole ECM presented by decellularized organs and tissues.

Natural polymers derived from extracellular matrix components (e.g., collagen, gelatin, fibrin, and hyaluronate) contain specific molecular domains that can support and guide cells at various stages of their development, possibly allowing enhanced biological interactions of the scaffold with cells and the host environment [80]. To study cell adhesion in 3D environments, many techniques have been developed to encapsulate cells in hydrogels (hydrated polymer networks that behave as viscoelastic solids) [93]. Cells in 3D respond differently to exogenous growth factors than they do in 2D [93, 111, 121], enabling the hydrogel structure to be morphologically similar to that of the ECM when used to encapsulate cells [12]. Natural hydrogels are therefore used in a variety of tissue engineering applications to direct the behavior of encapsulated cells. The interested reader is directed to ▶ Chap. 6 in this textbook for additional discussion of differences between 2D and 3D culture.

In addition to biochemical cues, the mechanical cues presented by naturally derived material can impact interactions with cells. For example, the mechanical properties of natural polymers and hydrogels can be modified via cross-linking to match the design criteria necessary for a variety of tissue regeneration applications. Generally, the stiffness of the material increases with the degree of cross-linking in the material, which can in

of the material increases with the degree of cross-linking in the material, which can in turn impact cell phenotype. Accordingly, one must balance consideration of the potential effects of biochemical and mechanical cues presented by a material to cells within the context of the envisioned application.

Collagen-based hydrogels, for example, are considered to be a favorable biomaterial for both cartilage and bone scaffolds, as collagen is the predominant protein in the ECM of these tissues [4]. Cell attachment to collagen can be altered by chemical modification, including the incorporation of fibronectin, chondroitin sulfate, or low levels of hyaluronic acid into the collagen matrix. Using these components to formulate collagen hydrogels has resulted in biomaterials designed for reconstruction of the liver, skin, blood vessels, and the small intestine [4, 65].

7.2.3 Challenges of Naturally Derived Biomaterials

In addition to the challenges with decellularization processes described above, naturally derived materials face many challenges that must be addressed to ensure the widespread clinical utility and success of these technologies.

Decellularized scaffolds must be sterilized before implantation or reseeding in order to eliminate endotoxins and bacteria, virus, or prion presence remaining in the scaffold [92], while preserving the structural, biochemical, and mechanical properties of the ECM [69]. These scaffolds may be sterilized by simple treatments such as incubation in acids [48] or solvents [44], but these methods may not provide sufficient penetration or may damage key ECM components [45]. Other sterilization techniques such as ethylene oxide (ETO) exposure, gamma irradiation, and electron beam irradiation are known to alter ECM structure and mechanical properties [39, 105], including properties of clinical products composed of ECM [46, 77]. ETO treatment can result in the inhibition, inactivation, or destruction of nucleic acids and proteins. As a result, ETO has been shown to decrease the stiffness and increase the maximum elongation of the sterilized scaffold [39]. ECM degradation during irradiation is at least partially attributed to the denaturation of key structural proteins including collagen; this process cannot be mitigated by exposure and even occurs at relatively low doses [105]. This degradation occurs because gamma irradiation additionally causes residual lipids to become cytotoxic [77] and accelerates enzymatic degradation of the ECM [25, 46]. Denaturation of structural proteins arising from sterilization may affect the interactions of the material with cells. These consequences of sterilization techniques should be considered for all biomaterials including a naturally derived component as they may impact the interactions of these materials with cells.

Furthermore, signaling molecules remaining in decellularized tissue are sometimes not sufficient in type and/or quantity to repair large defects, requiring the incorporation of additional signaling molecules to augment those present in the scaffold [73]. In addition, mature tissue matrices often do not present pore structure flexibility to tune the material for quick and uniform cell migration and proliferation throughout, which is generally thought to be essential for successful tissue engineering/repair in many applications [73]. Therefore, decellularized ECM or its derivatives may not be the ideal scaffold for certain tissue engineering applications, as tissue engineering should ideally promote tissue regeneration compared to natural functional wound healing.

Naturally derived materials present unique advantages by expressing biomimetic cues to drive cell interactions, but challenges to their clinical application remain, such as controlling the specific cues present and/or material properties. On the other hand, synthetic materials generally feature tunable material properties but typically lack inherent biologically active domains to drive cell interactions/function. However, various techniques can be employed to integrate biologically active domains or topographic features on synthetic biomaterials in a controlled fashion to direct cell interactions in a tunable way.

7.3 Synthetic Biomaterials

7.3.1 Advantages

Synthetic biomaterials allow material scientists to mimic specific advantageous features of natural ECM by imbuing biomaterials with patterns of adhesion, composition, growth factor and mechanical gradients, cell positioning, degradation rates, and geometry to direct tissue morphogenesis [23, 71, 73]. The intrinsic properties of raw synthetic materials play a strategic role in the production, structure, morphology, and, consequently, the functional performance of the synthetic polymer scaffold [4, 20]. These biomaterials exhibit tunable physical, chemical, and biological properties in order to instruct precise cell signaling, allowing researchers to uncouple these signals in an effort to reduce the complexity of a cell culture system [71]. In other words, synthetic biomaterials allow researchers flexibility to engineer scaffolds with tunable properties to determine the role of specific physiological elements, whether they be physical or chemical.

7.3.2 Disadvantages

Certain disadvantages to synthetic biomaterials must be understood when studying interactions between these materials and cells in culture. Current standard stem cell culture protocols for 2D culture on traditional polystyrene (i.e., tissue culture plastic) do not provide specific interactions, instead relying on nonspecific interactions, which do not effectively mimic the natural microenvironment [113]. Cells normally exist in complex tissues and organ systems fed by blood vessels and substantially affected by environmental changes, such as the expansion and contraction of lung tissues during inspiration and expiration. These conditions cannot be replicated suitably in an ordinary Petri dish [124]. While surfaces can be designed to present epitopes (e.g., cell adhesion peptides) for binding of specific cell surface receptors, it is not clear how long the cell has access to these epitopes in vitro or in vivo [58]. The combinatorial complexity of incorporating various ECM proteins, signaling molecules, mechanical stimuli, and heterogeneous cell populations in different spatial and temporal patterns creates an enormously large search space from which to evaluate the effective engineering of synthetic biomaterials [71].

The following considerations have been attempted to facilitate the overall success of synthetic biomaterials for tissue engineering applications: synthesis of material compositions or properties similar to those of the ECM (i.e., chemical modifications), novel processing techniques to achieve structures mimicking the ECM (i.e., physical modifications), and approaches to emulate cell–environment interactions (i.e., mechanical modifications) [73].

7.3.3 Modification of Synthetic Biomaterials

In general, surface and bulk modifications of materials can be employed to achieve desired cellular interactions with a synthetic biomaterial [73]. Many researchers suggest that understanding and selectively presenting components and characteristics of the in vivo ECM in a cell culture setting can potentially improve the success of biomaterial technologies and help answer fundamental scientific questions [58].

7.3.3.1 Synthetic Biomaterials for Tissue Engineering

When tailoring synthetic biomaterials for specific clinical applications, standards necessary for success in that area must be paramount. For example, synthetic biomaterials for tissue engineering should generally meet the following criteria: (I) three-dimensional architecture, (II) interconnected pores to ensure cell growth and transport of nutrients and metabolic waste, (III) suitable surface chemistry, (IV) controllable degradation and resorption, and (V) suitable mechanical properties [4, 82]. A tissue engineering scaffold should have specific biological properties, including biocompatibility, absence of a chronic inflammatory or immune response, a close interaction with cells, and adequate mechanical properties for the intended application [22].

Mimicking cell niches in vitro may include complex surface characteristics such as topography/chemistry or even more complex approaches such as 3D culture, coculture, flowing media, physical stimulation, or a combination of these [113]. Without proper culture systems and protocols, some cell types cannot grow normally outside the body and will gradually lose their characteristics and function [61]. For example, in the absence of precise control over stem cell differentiation, the likely outcome is a heterogeneous cell population or, with non-fully differentiated pluripotent cells (i.e., iPSCs), the potential to form a teratoma or undesired cell types after transplantation [113].

7.3.3.2 Chemical Modifications to Synthetic Biomaterial Surfaces

Inspired by features of the ECM, researchers have developed numerous chemical surfaces capable of interacting with precise components of biological systems such as proteins, nucleic acids, and cells, many of which allow the fine control of spatial patterning, substrate composition, and tunable length of ligand linkers [89, 124]. Material surfaces can be modified with functional groups using methods such as self-assembled monolayer formation, Langmuir–Blodgett deposition, layer-by-layer assembly, and surface-bound peptides [124].

Different surface chemistries and topographies, particularly at the nanoscale, can change the amount and conformation of protein adsorption, which may subsequently lead to modulated outcomes [35, 53, 55]. Researchers should carefully evaluate the conformation of adsorbed proteins and their resulting effects because they can significantly affect interactions with cells. For example, platelet adhesion and activation on material surfaces can lead to blood coagulation and thrombosis, which largely determine the successful application of a biomaterial in artificial organ implantation and blood-contacting medical devices [104].

Techniques like Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) and fluorescence lifetime imaging microscopy (FLIM) allow researchers to study protein–protein interactions [93] in order to replicate specific cell–environment interactions in vitro. In particular, FRET has been used to study membrane receptor–ligand binding as well as protein conformation [41, 93, 110]. The use of adsorbed proteins to achieve cell–surface adhesion is a relatively simple approach. However, proteins adsorbed to a surface can denature and may



Fig. 7.2 Changes to surface-attached ligands. Over time, the cell-material interface can be dynamically altered through: **a** removal of cell-adhesive ligands from the surface, **b** degradation/denaturation of the ligand, and **c** unintended or obstructed attachment over time due to secreted or adsorbed molecules. (Reprinted from Krutty et al. [58], with permission from Elsevier)

change in α -helix content, β -sheet content, and structural rigidity [98]. Coatings that form the cell–material interface can be composed of individually purified glycoproteins (e.g., fibronectin) or heterogeneous mixtures of proteins (e.g., Matrigel) [58]. The orientation of these adsorbed proteins is not easy to control [30, 58]. From a shelf-life perspective, the stability and biological activity of protein-coated surfaces can be difficult to retain for long periods of time, undergoing multiple possible changes over time (see **D** Fig. 7.2), the effects of which are furthered during commonly used sterilization techniques such as gamma irradiation [113].

To better control the concentration and population of biologically active sequences on a biomaterial surface, polymer substrates can be modified with a non-fouling layer and short peptide sequences derived from ECM proteins (e.g., collagen, fibronectin, and laminin) or growth factor-mimicking peptides [56, 67, 95]. Common peptide–polymer bonds include amide, carbamate, alkyl sulfide, thioester, triazole, ester, thioether, and disulfide bonds, which may be vulnerable to hydrolysis, displacement, or proteasemediated degradation [17, 58]. Carbamate, thioester, and ester bonds are generally susceptible to hydrolytic degradation at physiological pH, while amide bonds are more stable [58, 94].

Oligopeptides (i.e., short peptides containing up to 20 amino acids) derived from or inspired by ECM proteins have also been widely studied in the context of synthetic biomaterials [108]. Synthesis of oligopeptides is relatively inexpensive, their conjugation onto surfaces is straightforward (e.g., carbodiimide coupling chemistry), and their stability is relatively high (i.e., lower enzymatic degradation than proteins) without having the immunogenicity- and sterilization-related issues of proteins [27]. In addition to native peptides (inspired by or derived from ECM proteins) and semisynthetic peptides (e.g., cyclic RGD), fully synthetic peptide mimetics have recently attracted significant attention due to their consistent properties, lower cost, and high integrin affinity and specificity [84, 85]. Changes to the peptide structure (i.e., linear RGD vs. cyclic RGD) can also increase



Fig. 7.3 Common examples of surface modification by protein adsorption and peptide grafting. I Nonspecific protein adsorption generates a biointerface with multiple signals and binding sites presented in a surface- and time-dependent manner. II Linear RGD tripeptide grafted to the biomaterial surface. III RGD tripeptide grafted to the surface with spacers to increase the chance for cell recognition. IV Grafted semisynthetic cyclic RGD pentapeptide has been reported to have a higher cell affinity than linear RGD. V Grafted peptide mimetics with spacers have shown greater cell affinity and are more cost effective and reproducible than native peptides. (Reprinted from Wang et al. [113], with permission from Elsevier)

the specificity of integrin recognition and stimulate other cellular responses such as differentiation and/or phenotype maintenance [57]. A schematic of these types of surface functionalization can be seen in • Fig. 7.3.

Patterns and spacing of attached bioactive molecules can also alter cell response. Ligands/peptides spaced too closely together can cause cells to stay relatively spherical while binding sites too far apart may not allow for strong enough attachment or growth of the cells [64]. In addition, the presence of polymer sequence spacers, of varying length and molecular weights, between the material surface and the attached cell has been shown to increase cell attachment and proliferation on synthetic hydrogels [100].

Some synthetic biomaterials lack the reactive groups required for direct covalent functionalization with cell binding sites. These substrates may require additional treatment with plasma, silanization, other chemicals, or coating with a reactive layer [58]. For example, plasma treatment can induce a shift from a hydrophobic to a hydrophilic surface without significantly altering morphology, exposing potential attachment sites for bioactive molecules [73].

7.3.3.3 Physical Modification of Synthetic Biomaterial Surfaces

As chemical modifications to a biomaterial surface can change over time in an uncontrollable and non-reproducible manner, many researchers have studied the effects of physical modifications in order to elicit specific cell functions. For example, the pore size of threedimensional scaffolds can affect cell binding, migration depth, and phenotypic expression [81]. The porosity of a synthetic biomaterial can be changed to optimize a scaffold for a specific application. However, some polymers undergo bulk erosion, feasibly causing scaffolds to fail prematurely. The resulting burst release of acidic degradation products from some materials can cause a strong inflammatory response [9, 75], warranting consideration of several factors when designing a porous scaffold.

A popular option for porous synthetic biomaterials is nanofibrous scaffolds, whose pores comprise the gaps between nanofibers. Nanofibrous polymer scaffolds advantageously mimic the scale of the natural ECM to enhance tissue regeneration while circumventing potentially adverse immune responses and pathogens that might be observed with use of natural ECM components [73]. Cells have been shown to adhere to nanofibrous scaffolds at a quantity 70% greater than on solid-walled scaffolds [73, 116]; however cell penetration within nanofiber scaffolds may present challenges.

Nanotopography refers to nanometer-scale physical features of biomaterial surfaces. Because the cytoskeleton connects to the cell nucleus, changes in the cytoskeleton can cause a more direct effect on gene expression and signal transduction than cell signaling via the cytoplasm [113]. It is clear that nanotopographies underneath the attached cells directly interact with their filopodia and lamellipodia due to a similar size scale. Nanogrooves of a similar size to filopodia and lamellipodia can guide cells through receptor–ligand interactions (e.g., integrins) and can trigger complex intercellular pathways (e.g., MAPK-mediated pathways) [10, 54, 76]. In addition, nanoprotrusions are structures frequently found in the native ECM [14]; they can appear as spikes, pillars, and/or hemispheres [113]. The edge of ridges can also accumulate more proteins or alter protein conformation, influencing focal adhesion at the ridge edge and, eventually, cell alignment [10]. Although the native ECM structure is not perfectly ordered and the size is widely distributed, ordered, uniform topographies provide excellent insight into cell–surface interactions in a defined and controllable manner [113].

Nanotopography can induce stem cell differentiation via different intracellular pathways than differentiation media [29]. Therefore, many researchers are using nanotopography as a way to design simple, reproducible synthetic biomaterials for tissue engineering applications. For example, nanotopography alone can induce the differentiation of MSCs into a neuronal lineage and induce a more significant upregulation of neuronal markers compared to microtopography, highlighting the importance of size in topography-induced differentiation [66, 119]. Another research group found that bone morphogenetic protein-2 immobilized on 15-nm-diameter nanotubes promoted osteogenic differentiation, while 100-nm-diameter nanotubes reduced cell adhesion, increased apoptosis, and promoted chondrogenic differentiation [83]. This suggests that stem cells can sense physical material characteristics on the order of tens of nanometers and alter their adhesion profiles [113].

Different methods, including template-based techniques, photolithography, chemical vapor deposition, electrochemical deposition, electron beam lithography, femtosecond laser ablation, and atomic force microscopy tip scratching, are used to fabricate various nanostructures on a wide variety of synthetic materials [113]. However, the pattern area is often very small (<1 cm²) using these technologies because of the fine features and time-consuming processes involved [113]. Recently, soft lithography has emerged as a popular technique to confer ordered nanotopographies on a biomaterial surface, as it offers control over multiple features in a culture system, including geometry, patterns of ECM protein functionalization, and application of flow [52, 93, 115]. Minor differences in protocols, surface treatments, and cell types can generate different topographic results, and the underlying mechanism of cell–surface interactions is not yet fully understood [113].

7.3.3.4 Modification of the Mechanical Properties of Synthetic Biomaterial

The stiffness of the ECM is known to impact various cell activities from gene transcription and cytoskeleton remodeling to cell-cell interactions [37]. Most cells not only sense but also respond to mechanical properties of the ECM by adjusting their focal adhesion structure, cytoskeleton organization, and overall state [114, 124]. Increased membrane tension decreases the probability of vesicular budding and favors exocytic merging of vesicles with the plasma membrane [28, 93]. This affects the overall balance of vesicular trafficking within the cell, which can influence diverse signaling pathways such as growth factor receptor signaling, reactive oxygen species production, and phagocytosis [93]. Therefore, evidence suggests, for example, that soft matrices (mimicking the brain) can be neurogenic, stiffer matrices (mimicking muscle) can be myogenic, and rigid matrices (mimicking collagenous bone) can be osteogenic [34].

There are many tools beyond material stiffness that can be used to mimic the in vivo mechanical microenvironment of cells, such as optical tweezers, flow chambers, and micropipettes [124]. A direct method to provide mechanical stimuli to cells is to culture them on elastic membranes, then stretch them, and fix them for immunostaining or biochemical analysis [16]. Additional details regarding dynamic cultivation and mimicking physiology in cell cultures can be found in ▶ Chaps. 8 and 9, respectively.

7.4 Hybrid Materials

As naturally and synthetically derived biomaterials individually suffer from the shortcomings discussed previously, some researchers have developed hybrid biomaterials in an effort to more accurately and reproducibly replicate characteristics of natural tissue, leveraging the advantageous qualities of both natural and synthetic materials. For example, many cell types have been shown to synthesize ECM molecules in vitro, including collagen, elastin, laminin, fibronectin, aggrecan, decorin, glycosaminoglycans, and calcium



Fig. 7.4 Scanning electron micrographs (250× magnification) of constructs seeded with cells for enough time to establish an ECM, then decellularized via different processing methods to isolate the ECM on a polymer fiber matrix. Constructs presented were processed using the following methods: **a** exposure to ethylene oxide (ETO) for 14 h after 12 days of culture with MSCs, **b** 3 freeze–thaw cycles followed by 14 h of ETO exposure after 12 days of MSC culture, **c** treatment with Triton X-100 and ammonium hydrox-ide detergents followed by 14 h of ETO exposure after 12 days of MSC culture, **d** 3 freeze–thaw cycles followed by EDTA treatment at 14 h of ETO exposure after 12 days of MSC culture, **e** exposure to ETO for 14 h after 16 days of MSC culture, **g** treatment with Triton X-100 and ammonium hydroxide detergents followed by 14 h of ETO exposure after 16 days of MSC culture, **h** 3 freeze–thaw cycles followed by 14 h of ETO exposure after 16 days of MSC culture, **b** 3 freeze–thaw cycles followed by 14 h of ETO exposure after 16 days of MSC culture, **h** 3 freeze–thaw cycles followed by EDTA treatment at 14 h of ETO exposure after 16 days of MSC culture, **b** 3 freeze–thaw cycles followed by EDTA treatment at 14 h of ETO exposure after 16 days of MSC culture, **h** 3 freeze–thaw cycles followed by EDTA treatment at 14 h of ETO exposure after 16 days of MSC culture, **h** 3 freeze–thaw cycles followed by EDTA treatment at 14 h of ETO exposure after 16 days of MSC culture. (Adapted from Thibault et al. [107] with permission from Wiley)



Fig. 7.4 (continued)

deposits [2, 7, 15, 33, 74, 109, 117]. These cell-secreted matrices can then be decellularized and used to direct stem cell differentiation (see Fig. 7.4) [31, 58, 88].

In addition, some researchers have designed natural and synthetic biomaterial composites as biomimetic constructs for various clinical applications, including bone regeneration. Inorganic compounds, such as hydroxyapatite or calcium phosphates, in a synthetic composite scaffold can provide osteoconductivity, while the bulk polymer provides a continuous structure and design flexibility in order to achieve high porosity and surface area, which are necessary for anchorage-dependent cells to survive and differentiate [68, 73]. While hybrid materials present the potential to advantageously combine the tunability of synthetic materials with the biological activity of natural biomaterials, the complexity of the resulting constructs may present regulatory challenges on the pathway to clinical translation.

7.5 Future Directions

While the plethora of technologies discussed above have allowed for general study of different cell-material interactions, researchers continue to develop novel materials with advantageous characteristics of natural and synthetic biomaterials in addition to abilities not seen with any of the materials previously mentioned.

7.5.1 Bioprinting

Bioprinting combines the biological elements of natural tissue with printing technologies, both 2D and 3D, facilitating the ability of researchers to print various structures. Examples of bioprinted systems being tested include 2D patterned ligand designs for cell attachment in precisely controlled arrangements and 3D hydrogel patches to induce desired stem cell differentiation for various clinical applications. Bioprinting technologies are now capable of printing biomaterials, ligands/molecules, and cells with size resolutions on the micrometer scale and an immensely advantageous ability to tune both the mechanical and physical properties of the printed material (see SFig. 7.5). However, the relative novelty of bioprinting has not allowed sufficient time for consideration and testing, as of yet, of the possible chronic inflammatory and adaptive immunity responses to these types of biomaterials in a range of applications [51].



Fig. 7.5 Schematic showing examples of components used as bioinks in 3D bioprinting. This controllable technology aims to manufacture spatially defined tissues or organs across multiple size scales in three dimensions. (Adapted with permission from Jung et al. [51])

7.5.2 Responsive Polymers

Responsive polymers can change their surface physical and chemical properties according to external stimuli, such as temperature change, light irradiation, and electric fields [103, 104]. Examples of types of responsive polymers include thermoresponsive (e.g., 2-dieth-ylaminoethyl acrylate) [36, 123] or photoresponsive (e.g., methacrylated hyaluronic acid) hydrogels [59]. Photoresponsive polymers are photosensitive materials whose physical and chemical properties, such as conformation, shape, surface wettability, membrane potential, membrane permeability, pH, solubility, sol-gel transition temperature, and phase separation temperature, can be reversibly changed by photoirradiation [50, 124].

Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAAm) [106], a commonly utilized thermoresponsive polymer, can be formulated to support mammalian cell adhesion to the material film and proliferation into a confluent sheet at temperatures higher than its lower critical solution temperature (LCST) of about 32 °C. However, when the temperature of cell culture drops below 32 °C, the cells detach, retaining cell–cell and cell–matrix interactions, and can be harvested as a sheet for tissue engineering applications, something not possible when using trypsin to detach cells in standard culture [1, 18, 19, 60]. Furthermore, the wettability and conformational changes of this polymer could induce corresponding adsorption of ECM proteins above the LCST and desorption below the LCST [24].

7.6 Summary

Many challenges persist in efforts to fully understand cell-material interactions in culture. For one thing, achieving control over the cell-surface interactions and maintaining long-term substrate stability in culture conditions remain difficult [49]. Moreover, there is still only a limited understanding of the dynamics of cell-surface interactions over time [58]. It is generally regarded that the current state-of-the-art culture tools are limited and that this could hinder progress in our attempts to understand how cells function on surfaces and how they can be controlled for clinically relevant applications [113].

New materials, and the properties that their surfaces impart, are anticipated for the next generation of implants, regenerative medicine and tissue engineering devices, as well as biosensors and drug delivery devices for disease diagnosis and treatment [124]. The quantitative characterization of cell-secreted ECM molecules, protein adsorption after surface degradation, and degradation of functional peptides on biomaterials is likely to be a highly significant area of upcoming study. In order to maintain control and biological relevance in vitro, there is a need to create material surfaces designed for real-time characterization of polymer stability, peptide stability, ECM molecule secretion, protein adsorption, and cell-mediated ECM degradation/remodeling. Ultimately, a clearer understanding of cell-biomaterial dynamics may lead to innovative approaches for materials to adapt to cell behavior in a controlled and predictable manner [58].

Take-Home Messages

- Materials exhibit various surface properties that affect how cells react to and interact with the material.
- Biologically active domains present in the ECM of tissues and organs impact cell function and can serve as a guide for developing materials to direct cell behavior.
- Tissues and organs can be decellularized to utilize the secreted ECM proteins and molecules as a scaffold for stem cell programming and differentiation.
- Decellularization procedures can alter scaffold protein content and structure and, in turn, cell interactions.
- Isolated extracellular matrix proteins can be used as bulk materials for scaffolds to direct cell interactions.
- Synthetic polymeric biomaterials feature tunable chemical, biological, and physical properties that can be harnessed to control cell interactions with the material.
- Synthetic materials can be modified with attached peptides and ligands to control cell function.
- Nanotopography on a biomaterial surface can be used to control cell attachment, movement, and stem cell fate.

References

- Akiyama Y, Kikuchi A, Yamato M, Okano T. Ultrathin poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) grafted layer on polystyrene surfaces for cell adhesion/detachment control. Langmuir. 2004;20:5506–11. https://doi. org/10.1021/la036139f.
- Amable PR, Teixeira MVT, Carias RBV, Granjeiro JM, Borojevic R. Protein synthesis and secretion in human mesenchymal cells derived from bone marrow, adipose tissue and Wharton's jelly. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2014;5:53. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt442.
- 3. Ashe HL, Briscoe J. The interpretation of morphogen gradients. Development. 2006;133:385–94. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02238.
- 4. Asti A, Gioglio L. Natural and synthetic biodegradable polymers: different scaffolds for cell expansion and tissue formation. Int J Artif Organs. 2014;37:187–205. doi:10.530/ijao.5000307.
- Badylak SF, Taylor D, Uygun K. Whole-organ tissue engineering: decellularization and recellularization of three-dimensional matrix scaffolds. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2011;13:27–53. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-bioeng-071910-124743.
- 6. Badylak SF, Weiss DJ, Caplan A, Macchiarini P. Engineered whole organs and complex tissues. Lancet. 2012;379:943–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60073-7.
- Bahramsoltani M, Slosarek I, De Spiegelaere W, Plendl J. Angiogenesis and collagen type IV expression in different endothelial cell culture systems. Anat Histol Embryol. 2014;43:103–15. https://doi. org/10.1111/ahe.12052.
- 8. Baptista PM, Siddiqui MM, Lozier G, Rodriguez SR, Atala A, Soker S. The use of whole organ decellularization for the generation of a vascularized liver organoid. Hepatology. 2011;53:604–17.
- 9. Bergsma EJ, Rozema FR, Bos RR, de Bruijn WC. Foreign body reactions to resorbable poly(L-lactide) bone plates and screws used for the fixation of unstable zygomatic fractures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1993;51:666–70.
- Biggs MJP, Richards RG, Dalby MJ. Nanotopographical modification: a regulator of cellular function through focal adhesions. Nanomedicine. 2010;6:619–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2010.01.009.

- 11. Bissell MJ, Radisky DC, Rizki A, Weaver VM, Petersen OW. The organizing principle: microenvironmental influences in the normal and malignant breast. Differentiation. 2002;70:537–46. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1432-0436.2002.700907.x.
- 12. Bokhari MA, Akay G, Zhang S, Birch MA. The enhancement of osteoblast growth and differentiation in vitro on a peptide hydrogel-polyHIPE polymer hybrid material. Biomaterials. 2005;26:5198–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.01.040.
- 13. Bollenbach T, Pantazis P, Kicheva A, Bokel C, Gonzalez-Gaitan M, Julicher F. Precision of the Dpp gradient. Development. 2008;135:1137–46. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.012062.
- 14. Bosman FT, Stamenkovic I. Functional structure and composition of the extracellular matrix. J Pathol. 2003;200:423–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.1437.
- Bosnakovski D, Mizuno M, Kim G, Takagi S, Okumura M, Fujinaga T. Chondrogenic differentiation of bovine bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in different hydrogels: influence of collagen type II extracellular matrix on MSC chondrogenesis. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2006;93:1152–63. https://doi. org/10.1002/bit.20828.
- 16. Brown TD. Techniques for mechanical stimulation of cells in vitro: a review. J Biomech. 2000;33:3–14.
- 17. Canalle LA, Lowik DWPM, van Hest JCM. Polypeptide-polymer bioconjugates. Chem Soc Rev. 2010;39:329–53. https://doi.org/10.1039/B807871H.
- Canavan HE, Cheng X, Graham DJ, Ratner BD, Castner DG. Surface characterization of the extracellular matrix remaining after cell detachment from a thermoresponsive polymer. Langmuir. 2005a;21:1949– 55. https://doi.org/10.1021/la048546c.
- Canavan HE, Cheng X, Graham DJ, Ratner BD, Castner DG. Cell sheet detachment affects the extracellular matrix: a surface science study comparing thermal liftoff, enzymatic, and mechanical methods. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2005b;75:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.30297.
- 20. Carson JS, Bostrom MPG. Synthetic bone scaffolds and fracture repair. Injury. 2007;38(Suppl 1):S33–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2007.02.008.
- 21. Chen CS, Mrksich M, Huang S, Whitesides GM, Ingber DE. Geometric control of cell life and death. Science. 1997;276:1425–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.276.5317.1425.
- Chen J, Xu J, Wang A, Zheng M. Scaffolds for tendon and ligament repair: review of the efficacy of commercial products. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2009;6:61–73. https://doi.org/10.1586/17434440. 6.1.61.
- Chung I-M, Enemchukwu NO, Khaja SD, Murthy N, Mantalaris A, Garcia AJ. Bioadhesive hydrogel microenvironments to modulate epithelial morphogenesis. Biomaterials. 2008;29:2637–45. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.03.008.
- Cole MA, Voelcker NH, Thissen H, Griesser HJ. Stimuli-responsive interfaces and systems for the control of protein-surface and cell-surface interactions. Biomaterials. 2009;30:1827–50. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.12.026.
- 25. Crapo PM, Gilbert TW, Badylak SF. An overview of tissue and whole organ decellularization processes. Biomaterials. 2011;32:3233–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.01.057.
- Crapo PM, Tottey S, Slivka PF, Badylak SF. Effects of biologic scaffolds on human stem cells and implications for CNS tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A. 2014;20:313–23. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten. TEA.2013.0186.
- 27. Dahmen C, Auernheimer J, Meyer A, Enderle A, Goodman SL, Kessler H. Improving implant materials by coating with nonpeptidic highly specific integrin ligands. Angew Chem Int Ed. 2004;43:6649–52. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200460770.
- Dai J, Sheetz MP. Regulation of endocytosis, exocytosis, and shape by membrane tension. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 1995;60:567–71. https://doi.org/10.1101/SQB.1995.060.01.060.
- Dalby MJ, Gadegaard N, Tare R, Andar A, Riehle MO, Herzyk P, Wilkinson CDW, Oreffo ROC. The control of human mesenchymal cell differentiation using nanoscale symmetry and disorder. Nat Mater. 2007;6:997–1003. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat2013.
- 30. Daly SM, Przybycien TM, Tilton RD. Coverage-dependent orientation of lysozyme adsorbed on silica. Langmuir. 2003;19:3848–57. https://doi.org/10.1021/la026690x.
- Datta N, Holtorf HL, Sikavitsas VI, Jansen JA, Mikos AG. Effect of bone extracellular matrix synthesized in vitro on the osteoblastic differentiation of marrow stromal cells. Biomaterials. 2005;26:971–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.04.001.
- De Arcangelis A, Georges-Labouesse E. Integrin and ECM functions: roles in vertebrate development. Trends Genet. 2016;16:389–95.

- Elhadj S, Mousa SA, Forsten-Williams K. Chronic pulsatile shear stress impacts synthesis of proteoglycans by endothelial cells: effect on platelet aggregation and coagulation. J Cell Biochem. 2002;86:239– 50. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.10226.
- 34. Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL, Discher DE. Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. Cell. 2006;126:677–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.044.
- Ercan B, Khang D, Carpenter J, Webster TJ. Using mathematical models to understand the effect of nanoscale roughness on protein adsorption for improving medical devices. Int J Nanomedicine. 2013;8(Suppl 1):75–81. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S47286.
- Fan R, Deng X, Zhou L, Gao X, Fan M, Wang Y, Guo G. Injectable thermosensitive hydrogel composite with surface-functionalized calcium phosphate as raw materials. Int J Nanomedicine. 2014;9:615–26. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S52689.
- Fioretta ES, Fledderus JO, Baaijens FPT, Bouten CVC. Influence of substrate stiffness on circulating progenitor cell fate. J Biomech. 2012;45:736–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.11.013.
- Freshney RI. Culture of animal cells: a manual of basic technique and specialized applications. Hoboken: Wiley-Blackwell; 2016. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470649367.
- Freytes DO, Stoner RM, Badylak SF. Uniaxial and biaxial properties of terminally sterilized porcine urinary bladder matrix scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2008;84:408–14. https://doi. org/10.1002/jbm.b.30885.
- Fu J, Wang Y-K, Yang MT, Desai RA, Yu X, Liu Z, Chen CS. Mechanical regulation of cell function with geometrically modulated elastomeric substrates. Nat Methods. 2010;7:733–6. https://doi. org/10.1038/nmeth.1487.
- Gaborit N, Larbouret C, Vallaghe J, Peyrusson F, Bascoul-Mollevi C, Crapez E, Azria D, Chardes T, Poul M-A, Mathis G, Bazin H, Pelegrin A. Time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer (TR-FRET) to analyze the disruption of EGFR/HER2 dimers: a new method to evaluate the efficiency of targeted therapy using monoclonal antibodies. J Biol Chem. 2011;286:11337–45. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.223503.
- 42. Gassmann P, Enns A, Haier J. Role of tumor cell adhesion and migration in organ-specific metastasis formation. Oncol Res Treat. 2004;27:577–82. https://doi.org/10.1159/000081343.
- 43. Giancotti FG, Ruoslahti E. Integrin signaling. Science. 1999;285:1028–32.
- Gorschewsky O, Klakow A, Riechert K, Pitzl M, Becker R. Clinical comparison of the Tutoplast allograft and autologous patellar tendon (bone-patellar tendon-bone) for the reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament: 2- and 6-year results. Am J Sports Med. 2005a;33:1202–9. https://doi. org/10.1177/0363546504271510.
- Gorschewsky O, Puetz A, Riechert K, Klakow A, Becker R. Quantitative analysis of biochemical characteristics of bone-patellar tendon-bone allografts. Biomed Mater Eng. 2005b;15:403–11.
- 46. Gouk S-S, Lim T-M, Teoh S-H, Sun WQ. Alterations of human acellular tissue matrix by gamma irradiation: histology, biomechanical property, stability, in vitro cell repopulation, and remodeling. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2008;84:205–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.30862.
- Guillemette MD, Cui B, Roy E, Gauvin R, Giasson CJ, Esch MB, Carrier P, Deschambeault A, Dumoulin M, Toner M, Germain L, Veres T, Auger FA. Surface topography induces 3D self-orientation of cells and extracellular matrix resulting in improved tissue function. Integr Biol (Camb). 2009;1:196–204. https:// doi.org/10.1039/b820208g.
- Hodde J, Hiles M. Virus safety of a porcine-derived medical device: evaluation of a viral inactivation method. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2002;79:211–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.10281.
- 49. Hudalla GA, Murphy WL. Chemically well-defined self-assembled monolayers for cell culture: toward mimicking the natural ECM. Soft Matter. 2011;7:9561–71. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1SM05596H.
- 50. Irie M. Photoresponsive polymers. In: New polymer materials. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer; 1990. p. 27–67.
- Jung JP, Bhuiyan DB, Ogle BM. Solid organ fabrication: comparison of decellularization to 3D bioprinting. Biomater Res. 2016;20:27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40824-016-0074-2.
- 52. Kane RS, Takayama S, Ostuni E, Ingber DE, Whitesides GM. Patterning proteins and cells using soft lithography. Biomaterials. 1999;20:2363–76.
- Karakecili A, Messina GML, Yurtsever MC, Gumusderelioglu M, Marletta G. Impact of selective fibronectin nanoconfinement on human dental pulp stem cells. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2014;123:39– 48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2014.08.008.
- Kim D-H, Provenzano PP, Smith CL, Levchenko A. Matrix nanotopography as a regulator of cell function. J Cell Biol. 2012;197:351–60. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201108062.

- Koegler P, Clayton A, Thissen H, Santos GNC, Kingshott P. The influence of nanostructured materials on biointerfacial interactions. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2012;64:1820–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2012.06.001.
- Koepsel JT, Brown PT, Loveland SG, Li W-J, Murphy WL. Combinatorial screening of chemically defined human mesenchymal stem cell culture substrates. J Mater Chem. 2012;22:19474–81. https://doi. org/10.1039/C2JM32242K.
- 57. Kolhar P, Kotamraju VR, Hikita ST, Clegg DO, Ruoslahti E. Synthetic surfaces for human embryonic stem cell culture. J Biotechnol. 2010;146:143–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2010.01.016.
- Krutty JD, Schmitt SK, Gopalan P, Murphy WL. Surface functionalization and dynamics of polymeric cell culture substrates. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2016;40:164–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2016.05.006.
- Kufelt O, El-Tamer A, Sehring C, Meissner M, Schlie-Wolter S, Chichkov BN. Water-soluble photopolymerizable chitosan hydrogels for biofabrication via two-photon polymerization. Acta Biomater. 2015;18:186–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2015.02.025.
- Kushida A, Yamato M, Konno C, Kikuchi A, Sakurai Y, Okano T. Temperature-responsive culture dishes allow nonenzymatic harvest of differentiated Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cell sheets. J Biomed Mater Res. 2000;51:216–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(200008)51:2<216::AID-JBM10>3.0.CO;2-K.
- 61. Lambshead JW, Meagher L, O'Brien C, Laslett AL. Defining synthetic surfaces for human pluripotent stem cell culture. Cell Regen. 2013;2:7. https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-9769-2-7.
- 62. Lander AD, Nie Q, Wan FYM. Do morphogen gradients arise by diffusion? Dev Cell. 2002;2:785–96.
- Laschke MW, Harder Y, Amon M, Martin I, Ph D, Farhadi J, Ring A, Ph D, Ru M, Carvalho C, Heberer M. Angiogenesis in tissue engineering : breathing life into constructed tissue substitutes. Tissue Eng. 2006;12:2093–104. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.2006.12.2093.
- Lee KY, Alsberg E, Hsiong S, Comisar W, Linderman J, Ziff R, Mooney D. Nanoscale adhesion ligand organization regulates osteoblast proliferation and differentiation. Nano Lett. 2004;4:1501–6. https:// doi.org/10.1021/nl0493592.
- 65. Lee KY, Mooney DJ. Hydrogels for tissue engineering. Chem Rev. 2001;101:1869–79.
- Lee MR, Kwon KW, Jung H, Kim HN, Suh KY, Kim K, Kim K-S. Direct differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into selective neurons on nanoscale ridge/groove pattern arrays. Biomaterials. 2010;31:4360–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.02.012.
- 67. Lin E, Sikand A, Wickware J, Hao Y, Derda R. Peptide microarray patterning for controlling and monitoring cell growth. Acta Biomater. 2016;34:53–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.01.028.
- 68. Liu X, Ma PX. Polymeric scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng. 2004;32:477–86.
- 69. Lovati AB, Bottagisio M, Moretti M. Decellularized and engineered tendons as biological substitutes: a critical review. Stem Cells Int. 2016;3:1–24.
- 70. Lukashev ME, Werb Z. ECM signalling: orchestrating cell behaviour and misbehaviour. Trends Cell Biol. 1998;8:437–41.
- Lund AW, Yener B, Stegemann JP, Plopper GE. The natural and engineered 3D microenvironment as a regulatory cue during stem cell fate determination. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2009;15:371–80. https:// doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEB.2009.0270.
- 72. Lv F-J, Tuan RS, Cheung KMC, Leung VYL. Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells. 2014;32:1408–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1681.
- 73. Ma PX. Biomimetic materials for tissue engineering. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2008;60:184–98. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addr.2007.08.041.
- 74. Mann BK, Tsai AT, Scott-Burden T, West JL. Modification of surfaces with cell adhesion peptides alters extracellular matrix deposition. Biomaterials. 1999;20:2281–6.
- 75. Martin C, Winet H, Bao JY. Acidity near eroding polylactide-polyglycolide in vitro and in vivo in rabbit tibial bone chambers. Biomaterials. 1996;17:2373–80.
- McNamara LE, McMurray RJ, Biggs MJP, Kantawong F, Oreffo ROC, Dalby MJ. Nanotopographical control of stem cell differentiation. J Tissue Eng. 2010;2010:120623. https://doi.org/10.4061/2010/120623.
- 77. Moreau MF, Gallois Y, Basle MF, Chappard D. Gamma irradiation of human bone allografts alters medullary lipids and releases toxic compounds for osteoblast-like cells. Biomaterials. 2000;21:369–76.
- Nair R, Shukla S, McDevitt TC. Acellular matrices derived from differentiating embryonic stem cells. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2008;87:1075–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.31851.
- 79. Nelson CM, Bissell MJ. Of extracellular matrix, scaffolds, and signaling: tissue architecture regulates development, homeostasis, and cancer. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2006;22:287–309. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.22.010305.104315.

- Nooeaid P, Salih V, Beier JP, Boccaccini AR. Osteochondral tissue engineering: scaffolds, stem cells and applications. J Cell Mol Med. 2012;16:2247–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2012.01571.x.
- 81. O'Brien FJ, Harley BA, Yannas IV, Gibson LJ. The effect of pore size on cell adhesion in collagen-GAG scaffolds. Biomaterials. 2005;26:433–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.02.052.
- Olah L, Borbas L. Properties of calcium carbonate-containing composite scaffolds. Acta Bioeng Biomech. 2008;10:61–6.
- Park J, Bauer S, Pittrof A, Killian MS, Schmuki P, von der Mark K. Synergistic control of mesenchymal stem cell differentiation by nanoscale surface geometry and immobilized growth factors on TiO2 nanotubes. Small. 2012;8:98–107. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201100790.
- Pelay-Gimeno M, Glas A, Koch O, Grossmann TN. Structure-based design of inhibitors of proteinprotein interactions: mimicking peptide binding epitopes. Angew Chem Int Ed. 2015;54:8896–927. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201412070.
- Peng L, Liu R, Marik J, Wang X, Takada Y, Lam KS. Combinatorial chemistry identifies high-affinity peptidomimetics against alpha4beta1 integrin for in vivo tumor imaging. Nat Chem Biol. 2006;2:381– 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio798.
- Petersen TH, Calle EA, Colehour MB, Niklason LE. Matrix composition and mechanics of decellularized lung scaffolds. Cells Tissues Organs. 2012;195:222–31. https://doi.org/10.1159/000324896.
- Petersen TH, Calle EA, Zhao L, Lee EJ, Gui L, Raredon MB, Gavrilov K, Yi T, Zhuang ZW, Breuer C, Herzog E, Niklason LE. Tissue-engineered lungs for in vivo implantation. Science. 2010;329:538–41. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1189345.
- Pham QP, Kasper FK, Scott Baggett L, Raphael RM, Jansen JA, Mikos AG. The influence of an in vitro generated bone-like extracellular matrix on osteoblastic gene expression of marrow stromal cells. Biomaterials. 2008;29:2729–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.02.025.
- Pulsipher A, Yousaf MN. Self-assembled monolayers as dynamic model substrates for cell biology. In: Börner HG, Lutz J-F, editors. Bioactive surfaces. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer; 2011. p. 103–34.
- 90. Raucher D, Sheetz MP. Cell spreading and lamellipodial extension rate is regulated by membrane tension. J Cell Biol. 2000;148:127.
- 91. Roach P, Farrar D, Perry CC. Interpretation of protein adsorption: surface-induced conformational changes. J Am Chem Soc. 2005;127:8168–73. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0428980.
- Robertson A, Nutton RW, Keating JF. Current trends in the use of tendon allografts in orthopaedic surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2006;88:988–92. https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.88B8.17555.
- 93. Rubashkin MG, Ou G, Weaver VM. Deconstructing signaling in three dimensions. Biochemistry. 2014;53:2078–90. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi401710d.
- Schmitt SK, Murphy WL, Gopalan P. Crosslinked PEG mats for peptide immobilization and stem cell adhesion. J Mater Chem B. 2013;1:1349–60. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2TB00253A.
- Schmitt SK, Trebatoski DJ, Krutty JD, Xie AW, Rollins B, Murphy WL, Gopalan P. Combinatorial screening of chemically defined human mesenchymal stem cell culture substrates. J Mater Chem. 2012;22:19474–81. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2JM32242K.
- 96. Schriebl K, Lim S, Choo A, Tscheliessnig A, Jungbauer A. Stem cell separation: a bottleneck in stem cell therapy. Biotechnol J. 2010;5:50–61. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.200900115.
- 97. Seddon AM, Curnow P, Booth PJ. Membrane proteins, lipids and detergents: not just a soap opera. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr. 2004;1666:105–17.
- Sethuraman A, Vedantham G, Imoto T, Przybycien T, Belfort G. Protein unfolding at interfaces: slow dynamics of alpha-helix to beta-sheet transition. Proteins. 2004;56:669–78. https://doi.org/10.1002/ prot.20183.
- 99. Sheetz MP, Dai J. Modulation of membrane dynamics and cell motility by membrane tension. Trends Cell Biol. 1996;6:85–9.
- 100. Shin H, Jo S, Mikos AG. Modulation of marrow stromal osteoblast adhesion on biomimetic oligo[poly(ethylene glycol) fumarate] hydrogels modified with Arg-Gly-Asp peptides and a poly(ethyleneglycol) spacer. J Biomed Mater Res. 2002;61:169–79.
- 101. Song JJ, Ott HC. Organ engineering based on decellularized matrix scaffolds. Trends Mol Med. 2011;17:424–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2011.03.005.
- Stabler CT, Lecht S, Mondrinos MJ, Goulart E, Lazarovici P, Lelkes PI. Revascularization of decellularized lung scaffolds: principles and progress. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2015;309:L1273–85. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00237.2015.
- Stuart MA, Huck WTS, Genzer J, Müller M, Ober C, Stamm M, Sukhorukov GB, Szleifer I, Tsukruk VV, Urban M, Winnik F, Zauscher S, Luzinov I, Minko S. Emerging applications of stimuli-responsive polymer materials. Nat Mater. 2010;9:101–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat2614.

- 104. Sun T, Qing G, Su B, Jiang L. Functional biointerface materials inspired from nature. Chem Soc Rev. 2011;40:2909–21. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0cs00124d.
- 105. Sun WQ, Leung P. Calorimetric study of extracellular tissue matrix degradation and instability after gamma irradiation. Acta Biomater. 2008;4:817–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2008.02.006.
- 106. Takezawa T, Mori Y, Yoshizato K. Cell culture on a thermo-responsive polymer surface. Biotechnology (N Y). 1990;8:854–6.
- 107. Thibault RA, Mikos AG, Kasper FK. Osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells on demineralized and devitalized biodegradable polymer and extracellular matrix hybrid constructs. J Biomed Mater Res – Part A. 2013;101:1225–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34610.
- 108. Ulijn RV, Smith AM. Designing peptide based nanomaterials. Chem Soc Rev. 2008;37:664–75. https://doi.org/10.1039/b609047h.
- 109. van der Smissen A, Hoffmeister P-G, Friedrich N, Watarai A, Hacker MC, Schulz-Siegmund M, Anderegg U. Artificial extracellular matrices support cell growth and matrix synthesis of human dermal fibroblasts in macroporous 3D scaffolds. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2015;
- Vilardaga J-P, Bunemann M, Krasel C, Castro M, Lohse MJ. Measurement of the millisecond activation switch of G protein-coupled receptors in living cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2003;21:807–12. https://doi. org/10.1038/nbt838.
- 111. Wang F, Weaver VM, Petersen OW, Larabell CA, Dedhar S, Briand P, Lupu R, Bissell MJ. Reciprocal interactions between beta1-integrin and epidermal growth factor receptor in three-dimensional basement membrane breast cultures: a different perspective in epithelial biology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:14821–6.
- 112. Wang H, Lin X-F, Wang L-R, Lin Y-Q, Wang J-T, Liu W-Y, Zhu G-Q, Braddock M, Zhong M, Zheng M-H. Decellularization technology in CNS tissue repair. Expert Rev Neurother. 2015;15:493–500. https://doi.org/10.1586/14737175.2015.1030735.
- 113. Wang P-Y, Thissen H, Kingshott P. Modulation of human multipotent and pluripotent stem cells using surface nanotopographies and surface-immobilised bioactive signals: a review. Acta Biomater. 2016;45:31–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.08.054.
- 114. Wang P-Y, Tsai W-B, Voelcker NH. Screening of rat mesenchymal stem cell behaviour on polydimethylsiloxane stiffness gradients. Acta Biomater. 2012;8:519–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2011.09.030.
- 115. Whitesides GM, Ostuni E, Takayama S, Jiang X, Ingber DE. Soft lithography in biology and biochemistry. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2001;3:335–73. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bioeng.3.1.335.
- Woo KM, Chen VJ, Ma PX. Nano-fibrous scaffolding architecture selectively enhances protein adsorption contributing to cell attachment. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2003;67:531–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.10098.
- 117. Wu Y, Puperi DS, Grande-Allen KJ, West JL. Ascorbic acid promotes extracellular matrix deposition while preserving valve interstitial cell quiescence within 3D hydrogel scaffolds. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2015;11:1963. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.2093.
- 118. Yagi H, Soto-Gutierrez A, Kitagawa Y. Whole-organ re-engineering: a regenerative medicine approach to digestive organ replacement. Surg Today. 2013;43:587–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00595-012-0396-1.
- 119. Yim EKF, Pang SW, Leong KW. Synthetic nanostructures inducing differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells into neuronal lineage. Exp Cell Res. 2007;313:1820–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yexcr.2007.02.031.
- Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J, Jonsdottir GA, Ruotti V, Stewart R, Slukvin II, Thomson JA. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science. 2007;318:1917–20. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1151526.
- 121. Zahir N, Weaver VM. Death in the third dimension: apoptosis regulation and tissue architecture. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2004;14:71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2003.12.005.
- 122. Zhang J, Niu C, Ye L, Huang H, He X, Tong W-G, Ross J, Haug J, Johnson T, Feng JQ, Harris S, Wiedemann LM, Mishina Y, Li L. Identification of the haematopoietic stem cell niche and control of the niche size. Nature. 2003;425:836–41. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02041.
- 123. Zhang R, Mjoseng HK, Hoeve MA, Bauer NG, Pells S, Besseling R, Velugotla S, Tourniaire G, Kishen REB, Tsenkina Y, Armit C, Duffy CRE, Helfen M, Edenhofer F, de Sousa PA, Bradley M. A thermoresponsive and chemically defined hydrogel for long-term culture of human embryonic stem cells. Nat Commun. 2013;4:1335. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2341.
- 124. Zheng W, Zhang W, Jiang X. Precise control of cell adhesion by combination of surface chemistry and soft lithography. Adv Healthc Mater. 2013;2:95–108. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201200104.



Mimicking Physiological Oxygen in Cell Cultures

Nicholas R. Forsyth, Rachel Steeg, Muhammad Ahmad, Mohammed Al Zubaidi, Rakad Al-Jumaily, Marwan Merkhan, and Tina Dale

- 8.1 A Historical Basis for Modern Cell Culture 130
- 8.2 Oxygen in Cell Culture: Minimising the Shock? 131
- 8.2.1 Methods and Apparatus 132
- 8.2.2 Pluripotent Stem Cells 133
- 8.2.3 Multipotent Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells – 134
- 8.3 Future-Proofing Cell Culture: Creating a Normoxic Model – 134

References – 135

8

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

The *in vitro* mammalian cell culture environment is designed to replicate a wide range of biophysical and biochemical parameters as is sufficient to allow isolation and continued laboratory-based growth. There are a number of parameters to be considered in this regard including, but not limited to, sugar, oxygen, mechanical forces, substrate, nutrients (salts, amino acids, carbohydrates, vitamins, minerals), growth factors, hormones, pH, temperature and osmotic pressure. Some of these components are readily controllable via chemical formulation, while others require greater care to recapitulate and others still are ignored. This chapter will provide an overview of the history of mammalian cell culture followed by a more detailed view of the development and application of tools designed to recapitulate physiological normoxia within the *in vitro* laboratory environment.

The phrase physiological normoxia is used here to describe the normal oxygen values experienced by mammalian cells and tissues *in vivo*. Air oxygen (21% O₂) does not represent a physiologically normoxic value but can instead be considered as being physiologically hyperoxic. The opposite extreme to hyperoxia is hypoxia, and this occurs when oxygen levels drop below that which is ordinarily considered normoxic, i.e. 2% O₂ dropping to <0.1% O₂. The values presented here are arbitrary, and for helpful perspectives, we recommend the following articles [26, 40].

8.1 A Historical Basis for Modern Cell Culture

Cell culture forms the underlying basis for a great deal of biomedical research over the previous 50-60 years. The roots of mammalian cell culture however can be found over a century ago in an elegant body of work performed by Ross G. Harrison and colleagues [22]. Their breakthrough description, in 1907, noted the successful maintenance of viable frog spinal cord tissue for a period of 4 weeks where lymph clot was used a nutrient source. Their description provided a very early example of in vitro tissue culture which can be traced through to the tissue engineering ambitions at play in the twenty-first century. A further 5 years would pass before Alexis Carrel would publish the manuscript which underpins perhaps all of mammalian *in vitro* cell culture [4]. The concept at play in Carrel's work was that supplementation of cells with plasma or serum and strict aseptic technique would enhance *in vitro* growth. Though it is now apparent that additional cells may have been inadvertently added to the culture during supplementation steps, the underlying principles remain sound. The discovery and description of the utility of the serine protease, trypsin, as a convenient enzyme for disaggregating and passaging cells, established baseline principles for *in vitro* culture and expansion of cells [35].

The transition of mammalian cell culture into a whole laboratory endeavour is marked by the 1943 series of publications by Wilton Earle in the *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* describing a complete apparatus including glassware cleaning, glass Carrel flasks for *in vitro* growth, photomicrograph and microcinematography equipment, *in vivo* tumorigenesis and histopathological approaches [7–11, 31]. Though illustrative of approaches to study malignancy, this provided a window into the engineering approaches being utilised and the ingress of technology into the *in vitro* culture environment. This was followed shortly after by the description of methodologies to isolate and culture single cells by the use of glass capillaries realising single cell-based clonal analysis and the first description of a chemically defined medium [14, 38].

The early 1950s saw mammalian cell culture begin to develop a societal, cultural and ethical impact which would be felt through subsequent generations. This was marked by the isolation of the HeLa cell line from a carcinoma of the cervix and its subsequent emergence as a mainstay of cell research over the subsequent half century [39]. Shortly after this Harry Eagle defined the amino acid requirements for the L strain of mouse fibroblasts and in doing so provided the base recipe for many of the cell culture media formulations still in use today [6]. Progressive technological advancements were achieved over the next decade or so through improved instrumentation, engineering solutions and increasingly refined and defined media formulations. A good example of the continued ingress of engineering solutions was illustrated by the regulated cell culture incubator design presented by Ham and Puck in 1962 which in a similar manner to cell culture media contains many of the core design functionalities and construction parameters, including regulated CO₂ and humidity, found in twenty-first-century incubator design [19]. Simultaneous to his incubator design, Ham was also pioneering the formulation of new cell culture media describing initially his F7 and F10 solutions followed shortly after the description of the first chemically defined synthetic medium for culture of mammalian cells, F12 [20, 21]. At this point the broad consensus in mammalian cell culture was that all cells were principally immortal *in vitro* and that a failure to achieve continuous proliferation was due to technical failures in the culture environment. This dogma was overturned in the early mid-1960s by Hayflick and Moorhead with the pivotal observations of limited in vitro lifespans made in their descriptions of the isolation of foetal fibroblasts followed shortly after by the forming and advancement of the same hypothesis by Hayflick [23, 24]. The collected observations at this point have served to establish a firm foundation for cell culture research through to the current era. Additional key observations building on the frameworks established by Ham, Hayflick, Earle and Eagle amongst others include descriptions of the removal of serum from culture medium and its replacement by hormones and the observations that serum itself can induce premature mortality on mammalian cells which are bypassed by serum-free medium [25, 28]. These later observations necessitate an awareness that the cell culture milieu though well understood should not be viewed as complete but rather as a work in progress.

8.2 Oxygen in Cell Culture: Minimising the Shock?

At first glance the control of oxygen levels in cell culture appears to be a modern concern driven by an increased awareness of physiological approximation in model systems. However, it is quickly apparent that an awareness of the importance of controlling oxygen as a means to optimise culture conditions is evident almost as long as cell culture has existed. In the modern cell culture era, key reports date back to the late 1950s to early 1960s [5, 36]. The focus at this time was placed on oxygen toxicity and maximal tolerances vs. physiological normoxia effects. Collectively, Brosemer and Rutter, Rueckert and Mueller and Pace et al. as a component of their experimentation described the maintenance of a proliferative competency in a range of mammalian cells cultured in an $N_2/5\%$ CO_2 gaseous phase vs. toxicity at 95% O_2 [2, 32, 36].

By the mid- to late 1970s, an appreciation of a role of a physiological normoxia in mammalian cell culture had begun to emerge. Descriptions of enhanced clonogenicity, plating efficiency and cell growth of primary human fibroblasts had begun to emerge as it became increasingly clear that oxygen itself was a crucial component of the cell culture environment [33, 43]. This was further evidenced by the observations that reduced oxygen concentrations increased the proliferative lifespan of normal human diploid fibroblasts including those first described by Hayflick [15, 24, 37]. The remainder of this section will discuss specific examples of the application of physiological normoxia to relevant cell types.

8.2.1 Methods and Apparatus

With over half a century of experience in minimisation of *in vitro* cell culture exposure to air oxygen, a number of strategies have emerged. However, it is important to note that air oxygen-based in vitro cell culture, irrespective of its lack of fidelity to in vivo normoxia, remains reflective of the vast majority of experimental reports, while the application of physiological normoxia would represent a very small proportion. Systems designed to replicate aspects of physiological normoxia in vitro include the traditional humidified CO, incubator modified to include N, gas as a displacement for O, from air levels, or ~18% [46], down to the desired levels. These, referred to as tri-gas, incubators can include additional glass door frontages intended to allow inspection of cells without loss of gaseous environment. The glass door frontage can on occasion be subdivided further into, e.g. 4, 6 or 8, separately opening access points again intended to minimise gaseous control loss to the external environment upon door opening. A further approach frequently adopted is the use of modular systems which are themselves then placed within standard incubators to be maintained at 37 °C. Examples of these include the Billups Rothenberg environmental chamber and the inexpensive inverted 1 litre container with screw top fastening [47]. In both these instances, the system is purged with premixed gas for a fixed spell before sealing and placing into the standard 37 °C incubator. Commercial variants of these systems with increased sophistication can include real-time gas monitoring and modulation. The immediate drawback of the systems mentioned above is that all require handling outside of the controlled environment for microscopic viewing, media changes and passaging. For each of these steps, a loss of the desired gaseous environment and exposure to room air are an inevitable consequence of the action. In the tri-gas incubator, this loss of controlled gaseous environment will impact on all cells within the incubator, whereas the modular system will only impact on those stored within. Routine media changes and passaging would be performed in a standard class II biological safety cabinet again causing exposure to air oxygen. The situations described above represent the bulk scenario of most in vitro physiological normoxia cell culture experimentation.

Continuous gaseous environmental control through imaging, media changes and passaging can be provided by adoption of a hermetic chamber. These units, frequently with front glove ports for access and separate materials entry ports, act both as incubators and workstations providing controlled humidity, temperature and oxygen level control and in doing so remove the unavoidable fluctuations in oxygen experienced by the incubation methods described above. Limitations to these systems include difficulty in access, restrictions to usage via multi-user limitations and high gas usage. The final, and frequently overlooked, component of oxygen control is that of the medium itself. Nitrogen bubbling and passive deoxygenation have been described as measures to reduce the oxygen content of cell culture medium before its exposure to cells though these measures are difficult to control, variable in effect and not effective at scale. More recently we have developed the HypoxyCOOL[™] system in collaboration with Baker Ruskinn. The HypoxyCOOL[™]



■ Fig. 8.1 Defined deoxygenation of cell culture medium with HypoxyCOOLTM. Different volumes of DMEM medium were placed into the HypoxyCOOLTM unit and deoxygenated over a range of times (hours). DMEM bottle caps were removed aseptically and replaced with 0.2 µm vented caps before placing into unit. Smaller volumes were deoxygenated in 15 ml or 50 ml sterile tubes. Headspace was defined as 1% O_2 , 5% CO_2 and 94% N_2 and cycle time as specified on the *x*-axis. Measurements were performed with the Microx 4 Microsensor (Presens, Germany). All data points represent n = 3. Error bars indicate standard deviation. *X*-axis indicates time (hours), and *y*-axis indicates dissolved oxygen (mg/ml)

system combines controlled agitation, refrigeration and a defined headspace to deoxygenate culture media rapidly to desired levels (Fig. 8.1). The combination of workstation technology alongside a specified, deoxygenated, medium generates a platform for the provision of a controlled physiologically normoxic environment. At this time there are limited options available allowing empirical, simultaneous *in vitro* experimentation across multiple oxygen levels to allow definitive optimisation of individual cell type normoxia requirements.

8.2.2 Pluripotent Stem Cells

The remainder of this chapter will discuss instances where physiological normoxia, or best approximation, has been applied to two clinically relevant cell types: pluripotent stem cells (PSC) and multipotent bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Pluripotent stem cells have an inherent capacity to differentiate into all three germ layers being first described in 1981 for mice and 1998 for human [12, 30, 44]. A role for physiological normoxia was first proposed for human embryonic stem cells in the mid-2000s with a collective description emerging which described reduced spontaneous differentiation, enhanced clonogenicity, reduced chromosomal aberrations, a role in optimised de novo line isolation and a substantially altered transcriptome (vs. air cultured cells) [13, 16, 17, 29]. Where information is specified, it is clear that these studies drew on modular systems (see \blacktriangleright Sect. 8.2.1) for provision of physiological normoxia (in the range of 1–5% O₂) with handling (media changes, passaging) in air oxygen. The PSC repertoire underwent a significant and substantial expansion in 2006 with the first description of the generation of induced PSC from

mouse fibroblasts and a year later from human [41, 42]. Subsequently it was demonstrated that the generation of reprogrammed iPSC from both human dermal and mouse embryonic fibroblasts could be substantially enhanced by incubating samples in a tri-gas incubator held at a 5% O_2 level [48]. As above all manipulation steps were performed in air oxygen. As is clear from the above highlighted studies, it remains to be determined what additional role, if any, a controlled physiological normoxia environment where repeated air oxygen exposure is removed would have on PSC biology though this is identified by several authors as a potential limitation of their studies.

8.2.3 Multipotent Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Pioneer descriptions of what have become known as bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) date back to the late 1960 through Friedenstein's early transplantation experiments [18]. Repeated *in vitro* experimentation culminated in the 1991 hypothesis by Caplan of the existence of an in vivo MSC with a multipotent, mesengenic, differentiation capacity and the subsequent 1998 description of these cells by Pittenger et al. [3, 34]. Minimally hMSC are expected to have a tripotent differentiation potential: bone, fat and cartilage. With a history spanning back over the last half century, vs. the previous 20 years for hPSC, and relatively straightforward isolation and culture, it is unsurprising that hMSC have a vast accompanying literature as well as a high therapeutic potential evidenced by multiple, global, clinical trials and a surrounding bioscience industry [45]. A wide range of physiological normoxic conditions have been applied to the isolation of hMSC from bone marrow with a reported range spanning from 1% to 5% O₂ [27]. Importantly, and unlike hPSC, these studies have begun to incorporate hermetic workstations allowing continuous exposure to a controlled physiologically normoxic atmosphere resulting in enhanced cell isolation in comparison to air oxygen exposure and subsequent accumulation of oxygen 'shocks'. Intriguingly there are reports of isolation of hMSC for clinical application under 'hypoxic' conditions, 1% O₂, though it is unclear how these conditions were achieved, i.e., tri-gas, modular or workstation incubation [1]. It is clear therefore that substantial steps have been taken with hMSC and the application of physiological normoxia from research through to clinical usage readiness. However, similar to hPSC the incorporation of defined medium oxygen control into these hMSC isolation and characterisation measures has yet to be undertaken and outcomes presented.

8.3 Future-Proofing Cell Culture: Creating a Normoxic Model

In vitro cell culture has come a long way from its earliest descriptions and practitioners through to its mid-twentieth-century pioneers and into the modern era. Many aspects of the modern cell culture environment remain virtually identical to those first developed by the band of pioneers highlighted in > Sect. 8.1. It is now becoming increasingly clear that generating model environments reflective of the *in vivo* environment are essential for improved understanding of cell biology and behaviour as we move forward into the cell therapy era. Physiological normoxia is a single component of the environment, and equal attention will be required of sugars, salts, serum and matrix, amongst others.

Technology has begun to emerge which can now provide continuous control of the oxygen environment. This will help move the field beyond the tri-gas incubator and gas-flushed modular systems into controlled hermetic workstation and controlled media oxy-genation approaches. New technologies will likely emerge to provide improved handling and transportation while combining the added value of improved experimental control in a continuously physiologically normoxic environment.

Take-Home Message

- Mammalian cell culture has a rich century-old history.
- Physiological normoxia experimentation in mammalian cell culture dates back to the mid-1950s.
- Technological advances have generated state-of-the-art equipment which can now provide continuous oxygen-controlled environments for *in vitro* cell culture.

References

- Bigot N, Mouche A, Preti M, Loisel S, Renoud M-L, Le Guével R, et al. Hypoxia differentially modulates the genomic stability of clinical-grade ADSCs and BM-MSCs in long-term culture. Stem Cells. 2015;33(12):3608–20.
- 2. Brosemer RW, Rutter WJ. The effect of oxygen tension on the growth and metabolism of a mammalian cell. Exp Cell Res. 1961;25:101–13.
- 3. Caplan Al. Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res Off Publ Orthop Res Soc. 1991;9(5):641-50.
- 4. Carrel A. On the permanent LIFE of tissues outside of the organism. J Exp Med. 1912;15(5):516–28.
- 5. Cooper PD, Burt AM, Wilson JN. Critical effect of oxygen tension on rate of growth of animal cells in continuous suspended culture. Nature. 1958;182(4648):1508–9.
- 6. Eagle H. The specific amino acid requirements of a mammalian cell (strain L) in tissue culture. J Biol Chem. 1955;214(2):839–52.
- 7. Earle WR. Production of malignancy in vitro. I. Method of cleaning glassware. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 1943;4(2):131–3.
- 8. Earle WR. Production of malignancy in vitro. II. Photomicrographic equipment. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 1943;4(2):135–45.
- Earle WR, Crisp LR. Production of malignancy in vitro. III. Microcinematographic equipment. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 1943;4(2):147–64.
- Earle WR, Schilling EL, Stark TH, Straus NP, Brown MF, Shelton E. Production of malignancy in vitro. IV. The mouse fibroblast cultures and changes seen in the living cells. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 1943;4(2):165–212.
- Earle WR, Nettleship A, Schilling EL, Stark TH, Straus NR, Brown MF, et al. Production of malignancy in vitro. V. Results of injections of cultures into mice. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 1943;4(2):213–27.
- Evans MJ, Kaufman MH. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature. 1981;292(5819):154–6.
- Ezashi T, Das P, Roberts RM. Low O2 tensions and the prevention of differentiation of hES cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(13):4783–8.
- Fischer A, Astrup T. Growth of animal tissue cells in artificial media. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med Soc Exp Biol Med N Y N. 1948;67(1):40–6.
- 15. Forsyth NR, Evans AP, Shay JW, Wright WE. Developmental differences in the immortalization of lung fibroblasts by telomerase. Aging Cell. 2003;2(5):235–43.
- Forsyth NR, Musio A, Vezzoni P, Simpson AHRW, Noble BS, McWhir J. Physiologic oxygen enhances human embryonic stem cell clonal recovery and reduces chromosomal abnormalities. Cloning Stem Cells. 2006;8(1):16–23.

- Forsyth NR, Kay A, Hampson K, Downing A, Talbot R, McWhir J. Transcriptome alterations due to physiological normoxic (2% O2) culture of human embryonic stem cells. Regen Med. 2008;3(6):817–33.
- Friedenstein AJ, Piatetzky-Shapiro II, Petrakova KV. Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. J Embryol Exp Morphol. 1966;16(3):381–90.
- 19. Ham RG, Puck TT. A regulated incubator controlling CO2 concentration, humidity and temperature for use in animal cell culture. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med Soc Exp Biol Med N Y N. 1962;111:67–71.
- Ham RG. An improved nutrient solution for diploid Chinese hamster and human cell lines. Exp Cell Res. 1963;29:515–26.
- 21. Ham RG. CLONAL GROWTH OF MAMMALIAN CELLS IN A CHEMICALLY DEFINED, SYNTHETIC MEDIUM. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1965;53:288–93.
- 22. Harrison RG, Greenman MJ, Mall FP, Jackson CM. Observations of the living developing nerve fiber. Anat Rec. 1907;1(5):116–28.
- 23. Hayflick L, Moorhead PS. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. Exp Cell Res. 1961;25:585–621.
- 24. Hayflick L. THE LIMITED IN VITRO LIFETIME OF HUMAN DIPLOID CELL STRAINS. Exp Cell Res. 1965;37:614–36.
- 25. Hayashi I, Sato GH. Replacement of serum by hormones permits growth of cells in a defined medium. Nature. 1976;259(5539):132–4.
- 26. Ivanovic Z. Hypoxia or in situ normoxia: the stem cell paradigm. J Cell Physiol. 2009;219(2):271–5.
- Kay AG, Dale TP, Akram KM, Mohan P, Hampson K, Maffulli N, et al. BMP2 repression and optimized culture conditions promote human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell isolation. Regen Med. 2015;10(2):109–25.
- Loo DT, Fuquay JI, Rawson CL, Barnes DW. Extended culture of mouse embryo cells without senescence: inhibition by serum. Science. 1987;236(4798):200–2.
- 29. Ludwig TE, Levenstein ME, Jones JM, Berggren WT, Mitchen ER, Frane JL, et al. Derivation of human embryonic stem cells in defined conditions. Nat Biotechnol. 2006;24(2):185–7.
- 30. Martin GR. Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1981;78(12):7634–8.
- 31. Nettleship A, Earle WR, Clapp MP, Shelton E. Production of malignancy in vitro. VI. Pathology of tumors produced. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 1943;4(2):229–48.
- Pace DM, Thompson JR, Van Camp WA. Effects of oxygen on growth in several established cell lines. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1962;28:897–909.
- Packer L, Fuehr K. Low oxygen concentration extends the lifespan of cultured human diploid cells. Nature. 1977;267(5610):423–5.
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science. 1999;284(5411):143–7.
- 35. Rous P, Jones FSA. Method for obtaining suspensions of living cells from the fixed tissues, and for the plating out of individual cells. J Exp Med. 1916;23(4):549–55.
- 36. Rueckert RR, Mueller GC. Effect of oxygen tension on HeLa cell growth. Cancer Res. 1960;20:944–9.
- 37. Saito H, Hammond AT, Moses RE. The effect of low oxygen tension on the in vitro-replicative life span of human diploid fibroblast cells and their transformed derivatives. Exp Cell Res. 1995;217(2):272–9.
- Sanford KK, Earle WR, Likely GD. The growth in vitro of single isolated tissue cells. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1948;9(3):229–46.
- 39. Scherer WF, Syverton JT, Gey GO. Studies on the propagation in vitro of poliomyelitis viruses. IV. Viral multiplication in a stable strain of human malignant epithelial cells (strain HeLa) derived from an epidermoid carcinoma of the cervix. J Exp Med. 1953;97(5):695–710.
- 40. Stamati K, Mudera V, Cheema U. Evolution of oxygen utilization in multicellular organisms and implications for cell signalling in tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng. 2011;2(1):2041731411432365.
- 41. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126(4):663–76.
- 42. Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell. 2007;131(5):861–72.
- 43. Taylor WG, Richter A, Evans VJ, Sanford KK. Influence of oxygen and pH on plating efficiency and colony development of WI-38 and Vero cells. Exp Cell Res. 1974;86(1):152–6.
- 44. Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science. 1998;282(5391):1145–7.
- 45. Trounson A, Thakar RG, Lomax G, Gibbons D. Clinical trials for stem cell therapies. BMC Med. 2011;9:52.
- 46. Wenger RH, Kurtcuoglu V, Scholz CC, Marti HH, Hoogewijs D. Frequently asked questions in hypoxia research. Hypoxia (Auckl). 2015;3:35–43.
- 47. Wright WE, Shay JW. Inexpensive low-oxygen incubators. Nat Protoc. 2006;1(4):2088–90.
- 48. Yoshida Y, Takahashi K, Okita K, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S. Hypoxia enhances the generation of induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2009;5(3):237–41.



Co-cultures

Roland Jacobs and Ralf Hass

- 9.1Culture Techniques 1409.1.1Direct Co-culture 140
- 9.1.2 Transwell System 144
- 9.1.3 Culture Medium 146
- 9.2 Cell Properties 147
- 9.2.1 Long-Term, Short-Term Culture and Long-Lived, Short-Lived Cells – 147
- 9.2.2 Reactivity (Stimulation, Sensitivity to Killing) 148
- 9.2.3 Cell Origin 148
- 9.2.4 Cell Compatibility 149
- 9.3 Cell Ratios 149
- 9.4 Intended Role of the Co-cultured Cells 150
- 9.4.1 Mixed Lymphocyte Reaction 150
- 9.4.2 Cytotoxicity Assay 150
- 9.5 Co-culture Manipulation 151
- 9.6 Readouts After Co-culture 151
- 9.6.1 Cell Cycle Analysis 151
- 9.6.2 Analysis of Apoptosis 152

References – 153

Electronic Supplementary Material The online version of this chapter (https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74854-2_9) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 C. Kasper et al. (eds.), *Cell Culture Technology*, Learning Materials in Biosciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74854-2_9

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

Monocultures of cells including the study of their behavior at distinct conditions (pH, ionic strength, anoxic, hypoxic, normoxic, hyperoxic, etc.), their activation/stimulation with different agents (cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, metabolites, drugs, etc.), or their differentiation along certain pathways within the three germlines provide a facilitated model to obtain general answers. However, natural cell behavior, activation, or differentiation in fluids and tissues is much more complex involving three-dimensional interactions with several different cell types in the local vicinity and microenvironment rather than a two-dimensional development as an isolated cell type in a culture dish. Therefore, the study of cellular behavior in the presence of other cell types and their multiple cellular interactions requires the establishment of corresponding co-culture models.

Accordingly, this chapter will guide you through the complexity of cellular co-culture systems, e.g., considering indirect (transwell) co-culture which allows the exchange of common medium- and small-sized cellular or soluble products. In addition, this chapter will also provide various hints for a direct co-culture of different cell populations, starting with an appropriate cell ratio of the monocultures and finding the right culture medium for both cell types without changing their functionality. Moreover, examples are given for labeling the different cell populations to distinguish them in co-culture, and finally, certain alternative assays are suggested for discrimination of potential functional differences within the distinct cell populations during co-culture.

9.1 Culture Techniques

9.1.1 Direct Co-culture

9.1.1.1 Adherent Cells and Nonadherent Cells

Culture conditions depend on various parameters specified by the needs of the particular cells wished to keep in culture. Basically, cells can grow either adherently or in suspension. Moreover, cell culture needs to be distinguished between primary cell populations and cell lines. Usually, primary cells display a limited life span, whereas cell lines exhibit properties of unlimited growth.

After seeding, cells suitable for in vitro expansion will go through a defined growth cycle. The cycle starts with a lag phase before the cells proliferate and is followed by the exponential, or log phase, when the cells are rapidly dividing and the population continuously doubles for a certain time. Finally, the cells enter the plateau phase which is initialized by several factors such as reduced nutrient or substrate availability and contact inhibition which limits further cell proliferation. As a result, adherent cells will finally form a confluent monolayer. Although cells in suspension do not necessarily get in physical contact, they normally require a cell-specific density, below and above which cell growth is suboptimal.

According to these culture parameters, four different conditions may result from a co-culture system whereby certain effects need to be considered:

 Co-culture of adherent primary cells with an adherent cell line → the adherent cell line may eventually overgrow the primary cells; however, the co-culture may be limited by confluency.

- Co-culture of adherent primary cells with a suspension cell line →the suspension cell line can easily overgrow the primary adherent cells, since suspension cells do not reach confluency but may be limited by density.
- 3. Co-culture of suspension primary cells with a suspension cell line \rightarrow the co-culture will be limited by the cell density of both cellular partners.
- 4. Co-culture of suspension primary cells with an adherent cell line → the co-culture may be balanced, while the primary cells in suspension are limited by cell density in the supernatant and the adherent cell line is limited by the available space until confluency.

Co-culture conditions and the time scaling of experimental setup also depend on differences in the proliferation rate and cell cycle progression of each of the cellular partners. Studies on cellular interactions between different cell populations also require determination of the initial seeding number of the co-cultured cells, particularly if the corresponding cell partners display significant differences in their proliferative capacity. For example, cell type A with a 24 h doubling time and cell type B with a 48 h doubling time would be co-cultured ideally with a majority of cell type B compared to cell type A at the initial coculture start to limit rapid overgrowth of cell type A [14].

9.1.1.2 Feeding (Requirement of Centrifugation, Sedimentation, Detachment, Sorting)

As long as the cell density remains below maximum, all environmental parameters have to be maintained optimal, for example, by changing media. This provides sufficient nutrients and factors needed for cell proliferation and also ensures the essential removal of metabolites and waste material from the media. In addition, metabolic activity also affects the pH value of the media which is a critical factor for most cells. Therefore, in general, the vast majority of the media is buffered to stabilize the acid-base status, and in addition, many contain indicators such as phenol red which simplifies pH value control by color change (e.g., from red to yellow in case of acidification). In case of adherent cells, media exchange can be performed by partly or completely decanting the supernatant and replenishing the culture with the corresponding amount of preheated fresh media. In contrast, cells growing in suspension require sedimentation, for example, by centrifugation prior to media exchange.

An important requirement for cellular co-culture is the optimal growth medium. Usually, each cell type is growing at individual conditions in a certain kind of medium supplemented with distinct growth factors which most likely do not match between the co-culture partners. Therefore, preliminary experiments are recommended with different mixtures of the corresponding growth media of the two co-culture partners to evaluate optimal growth conditions for both cell types. Such preliminary tests also enable the determination of proliferative capacity of each co-culture partner in the optimized co-culture mixed medium.

Once the cell density reached its optimum, cells have to be split. To this end, cell suspensions can be aliquoted by transferring a suitable number of cells into fresh media. In contrast, adherent cells usually need to be detached from the culture dish surface they are growing on prior to splitting. This can be facilitated by physical or biochemical techniques. After media exchange with an isotonic serum-free solution such as phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), Hank's buffered salt solution (HBSS), or saline and subsequent addition of proteolytic enzymes (e.g., trypsin, accutase), cells are incubated for a few minutes until the cells are fully detached. The supernatants containing the cells are harvested, and enzymes are inactivated by adding serum containing natural antitrypsin activity which also serves as competing protein substrate. In order to prevent proteolysis of cell surface proteins, cells can also be detached by using cell scrapers, which, however, might physically damage the cells. Separation of the co-culture into the corresponding monocultures is simple if cells of different adherent properties are cultured such as adherent cells with suspension cells. In case of homotypic properties (both cell partners are suspension or adherent cells), a separation is much more difficult. For this purpose, the mixed co-culture can be separated, for example, by magnetic bead-associated cell sorting (MACS technology) according to a specific cell surface marker of one of the cellular partners. Alternatively, the cells can be labeled by a fluorescent dye (e.g., GFP or mCherry) prior to the co-culture, and separation into the respective monocultures can be performed by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) following co-culture [12].

Independent from the kind of detachment used for harvesting, inspection of cell viability is always required prior to performing experiments and subcultivation. A suitable way to check for dead cells is, for example, facilitated by mixing the cells with trypan blue dye, which permanently stains the cytoplasm only of damaged cells that can then easily be detected by microscopy.

9.1.1.3 Shape of Dishes and Plates (Culture U-Bottom, V-Bottom, Flat-Bottom)

In order to enable cell to cell contact, cells can be cultured in appropriate dishes or plates. Standard culture containers are flat, round (U)-, and pointed (V)-bottom tubes or wells in culture plates, respectively. Flat bottoms are useful for studying morphology and motility of cells by inverted microscopy without distortion by light refraction. U-bottoms are less suitable for microscopic monitoring. However, the U-shape sediments suspended cells gently, enabling soft cell contact, thereby supporting cell to cell signaling and physical interactions. Compared to U-bottom, sedimentation is increased when cells are maintained in V-bottom containers by which the cells are stronger packed. In addition, V-bottoms allow easy and efficient harvesting of cell-free supernatants. In contrast to other shapes, V-bottoms are not suitable at all for inverted microscopic inspection [7].

As outlined above, a certain cell to cell ratio is employed, which depends on several parameters that provide optimal conditions for the specific experiment. The ratio could, for example, be deduced from physiological conditions present at natural site of interaction in the body. It could also be based on theoretical considerations in order to achieve a certain effector to target ratio, for example, in case of cell-based tumor therapies.

A very important factor is the duration of the co-culture, particularly if the partners exert significantly different growth kinetics. The fast-proliferating cell population might then overgrow the less dividing cell population shifting the cell to cell ratio toward one competitor. Assuming that doubling of mammalian cells in culture takes about 10–12 hours it seems reasonable to not extend co-culture periods too much. Depending on cell type (e.g., tumor cells, primary cells) and other parameters (e.g., provision of growth factors), the reasonable duration of the co-culture has to be determined prior to any kind of experiment or analysis.

143

Another essential factor for a successful co-culture is the mutual tolerance of the employed cells. While normal somatic cells tolerate each other even if they were originally derived from different individuals (allogeneic) or species (xenogeneic), immunocompetent cells could target co-cultured cells. Targeting means recognition and responding to the challenge. The response patterns of the immune cells depend on their specific capabilities and could result in increased proliferation, release of soluble factors (cytokines), but also killing of the target cells.

Induction of proliferation requires recall antigens present on the stimulating cell and specific receptors on the responder side when purified responder cells are employed. When PBMC instead of purified lymphocytes are used, no cognate antigen is necessary to induce proliferation. PBMC also comprise antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as dendritic cells (DCs) and monocytes, which can sense foreign antigens present on the stimulators. APCs take up, process, and present the antigen to the responders, thereby inducing their proliferation. In this case, the co-culture will so to speak mimic a classical immune response and is known as mixed lymphocyte reaction (MLR). MLR could be used to test in vitro tissue compatibility between donor and recipient in a transplant setting.

Other responder cells could kill stimulator cells. In this case, stimulators must be equipped with a cytolytic apparatus which enables the killing of the stimulating cells. Main killing mechanisms are based on direct lysis by disintegrating the cell membrane and/ or by inducing programmed cell death (apoptosis). To this end, the effector cells release preformed cytolytic molecules from intracellular granules like perforin and granzymes. Perforin forms pores in the target membrane and enables granzymes to enter the cell and destroy the nucleus finally causing cell death. However, apoptosis of a target cell can also be induced by directly activating death receptor containing surface proteins by the effector cell which induces apoptosis bypassing prior cell membrane destruction [15].

However, also nonimmune cells can sense and respond in syngeneic and allogeneic settings. For example, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) can affect functions of co-cultured cells via soluble factors as well as direct cell to cell contact. MSCs are fibroblast-like cells that can be isolated from different sources such as adipose tissue, peripheral blood, the lung, and the heart [4]. MSCs have the potential to develop at least along osteoblast, chondroblast, and adipocyte lineages [5]. In addition, they exert a strong immunosuppressive capacity which can be mediated by soluble factors like prostaglandin (PG)E2 and activin A as well as direct cell contact. However, the receptor ligand pairs required for establishing the contact and enabling signal transduction are not identified so far [1]. It is possible that the close physical proximity between the cells alone is sufficient for signaling even if the soluble factors are released at very low concentrations. Close proximity of the cells is, for example, also essential for the immunosuppressive mechanism based on the expression of the ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73. Expressed on the surface in suitable density, they collaborate in degrading ATP in the environment via AMP to free adenosine. Adenosine binds to adenosine receptor which blocks phosphorylation of intracellular activating molecules such as ZAP70. This mechanism requires the availability of the substrates ATP and AMP in sufficient amounts in order to cleave off free adenosine. In addition, the distance between ectonucleotidase-expressing cells and responder cells in the co-culture needs to be short enough to provide a sufficient local concentration of free adenosine [2].

9.1.2 Transwell System

9.1.2.1 Contact-Dependent Interactions, Effects of Soluble Factors

In order to investigate if cellular interactions require cell to cell contact or are mediated by soluble factors, transwell systems can be employed as an appropriate tool. Basically, a transwell system comprises a normal cell culture dish containing one cell type and an insert with the other cellular partner (**2** Fig. 9.1). The bottom of the insert is a membrane, which is permeable for all soluble factors but not for cells. Accordingly, membranes of different pore sizes (>0.2 µm) are available for transwell co-cultures to allow/ prevent exchange of culture medium and factors/particles of certain size. Cells from both containers can be analyzed independently, and any co-culture-induced effect must be contact-independent and soluble factor-mediated since the cells are physically separated while they share the same media. However, it has to be taken in consideration that the distance between the factor-releasing cell and the responding cell might be too far and thus a low factor concentration may not suffice to exceed the threshold necessary for its activity. Moreover, formation of a local threshold of metabolites with reduced diffusion coefficient may limit the effectiveness to sufficiently induce target cells. Furthermore, short-lived metabolites also exhibit limitations to address adequate signals in the target cells which, however, would be more likely observed in a direct co-culture and, therefore, may include the risk of a wrong interpretation of a direct co-culture dependency. Consequently, transwell experiments need to be carefully designed, and resulting data require double-checking by appropriate control experiments to justify any conclusions [3].

Analyzing co-cultured cells apart from each other might require re-isolation techniques which depend on the specific cells that were employed. From transwell systems, both cell partners can be simply harvested since they have not been mixed up. A suspension of different cells cultured in the same dish is more complicated to separate afterward from each other. If one partner is adherent, while the other is growing in suspension, the isolation can be easily performed by harvesting the supernatant to recover the nonadherent cells and detaching the adherent cells from the dishes.

In case of two adherent cells or two cell types growing in suspension, the two partners finally have to be sorted out from each other prior to further analysis. This can be done, for example, by microscopy if cell properties (e.g., the morphology) significantly differ from each other and readout parameters can be visually evaluated. For a more detailed analysis, flow cytometry can be considered. Usage of one characteristic distinguishing marker for each of the two partners enables determining other intra- and extracellular markers separately for both cell populations. If this virtual cell separation is not adequate because further functional experiments are contrived, the cells have to be physically separated, for example, by flow cytometric or magnetic sorting (see above). Here, we don't want to go too much into detail, but it is important to adequately plan the sorting strategy. Both methods are based on specific antibodies which are either labeled with dyes (flow cytometric cell sorting) or paramagnetic particles (magnetic cell sorting). Depending on the available flow cytometric sorting device and hence the number of fluorescence detectors, several population might be simultaneously sorted from one cell population. In addition, it is also possible to sort according to the expression density of a molecule (e.g., low and high expression). In contrast, magnetic sorting normally just allows the discrimination of two



Fig. 9.1 Transwell culture system. **a** Cells are cultured in a dish (A). An insert with a membrane is placed into the dish (B). Different cells are loaded into the media on top of the membrane (C). **b** The pores of the membrane are too small to enable any contact between cells of both chambers while media and soluble factors (red and blue particles) can freely spread between the two compartments

conditions (positive or negative) but requires less sophisticated equipment. Independent of the method used, a possible activation of the cells by using antibodies for cell sorting has to be considered. The antibodies might bind surface receptors resulting in cell activation signal by cross-linking. Therefore, a negative sorting strategy should be preferred if possible, meaning that the unwanted cells are targeted by antibodies and removed while leaving the cells of interest untouched [13].

9.1.2.2 Migration Assay (Boyden Chamber)

While transwell systems have very small pores that prevent cells from passing through, migration systems like Boyden chambers are equipped with wider pores enabling cells to migrate through the membrane if the attracting stimulus is sufficient. The pore diameter of an adequate membrane depends on the subject cells. For example, 3 μ m pore size is appropriate for leukocyte or lymphocyte migration, and 5 μ m pore size might be suitable for monocytes and macrophages. Pores of transwell systems normally have diameters of 0.4 μ m.

9.1.3 Culture Medium

9.1.3.1 Optimal Medium Composition and Conditions for Co-cultures

Growth conditions depend on various factors such as environmental temperature. While, for example, insect cells can be maintained at room temperature, standard temperature for culturing mammalian cells, which will be focused on hereinafter, is 37 °C. However, the optimal temperature might be slightly different as derived from physiology of the respective source species. Accordingly, incubators can be adjusted to the cell-specific optimal temperature and regulated by rheostat control.

9.1.3.2 Gas Conditions (Normoxia, Hypoxia, Anoxia)

Gas exchange between cells and environment is another fundamental factor for growth conditions. Gas exchange is essential for cell breathing but also for stabilizing the cell environment. Efficacy of the exchange strongly depends on partial gas pressure and ventilation of the incubator and also the employed dishes. For this reason, culture flasks are also available with caps equipped with gas-permeable membranes.

While the normal CO_2 concentration of tidal air is around 0.04%, the atmosphere in incubators is enriched with additional CO_2 reaching levels of 5% or even more. However, the additional CO_2 is not provided in order to improve cell breathing but rather to stabilize pH value of the media. Generally, in order to provide optimal culture conditions, the media in which cells grow need to be buffered to achieve in most of the cases more or less neutral pH (around pH 7). Sodium phosphates, Tris or Hepes, can be added as buffering compounds, but these agents might also negatively affect the cells' growth. The HCO₃- and H₂CO₃ carbonate buffer system has been found to affect the growth of cells the least. H₂CO₃ in water is in equilibrium with H₂O + CO₂, and in order to keep the CO₂ in the buffer solution at the right level, CO₂ has to be supplemented to the atmosphere above the buffer. Otherwise, all the CO₂ would be deprived, and thereby the H₂CO₃ be withdrawn, disabling the buffering effect (the medium would become alkaline).

Cellular respiration means specifically the gas exchange by oxygen uptake and CO_2 elimination and is essential for any aerobic cell. Dry air contains around 21% oxygen, while in tissues and plasma, the physiological environment of cells, oxygen concentrations could considerably differ. The actual oxygen condition which might be higher, equal, or lower compared to the air is referred to as normoxia, hypoxia, and anoxia. Hyperoxia exerting higher levels (>21%) of oxygen plays no role in cell culture systems as it is normally not occurring and would be toxic to cells. Oxygen tensions between 10 and 21% are described as normoxia. Culture of cells or tissues at lower oxygen levels can be achieved by addition of variable amounts of nitrogen to the incubator which replaces

oxygen and thereby lowers the O_2 concentration. For this, the incubator requires a special equipment including an O_2 electrode to equilibrate to the desired oxygen concentration. Alternatively, specific hypoxia chambers can be used for variation of O_2 levels. Hypoxia is a condition of low oxygen, typically in the range 1–5% O_2 , whereby even lower O_2 levels are considered as anoxic conditions. This is often observed in central regions of tumors due to poor vascularization. Clearly, the prevailing O_2 concentrations affect cell growth, and particular experiments may require variation of the O_2 tension in order to achieve special conditions.

9.1.3.3 Evaluation of Growth Properties and Functionalities (Cell Surface Markers) in the Adapted Co-Culture Conditions

Over time, cells may alter in culture which could, for example, result in changing morphology, marker profiles, functional capabilities, viability, and genetic stability. Hence, the different features have to be regularly controlled during maintenance. Cell morphology can be easily assessed by inverted microscopy of the culture in the dish. Alternatively, cells can be taken from the culture and scrutinized by light or fluorescence microscopy, respectively. Determining the marker profiles requires staining of a cell aliquot with appropriate antibodies prior to subjecting the sample to flow cytometry or comparable methods. Cell viability can also be assessed by light microcopy using trypan blue staining solution or flow cytometry using nuclear dye such as propidium iodide (PI) or 7AAD. Trypan blue can pass damaged cell membranes only, indicating respective cells as dead by intense blue staining of plasmatic proteins. Similarly, PI and 7AAD cannot permeate intact cell membranes. Once the cell membrane is disrupted, the dyes can bind to the nucleus resulting in clear staining of dead cells only. By combining this analysis with determining annexin V exposure, it is possible to evaluate the degree of early apoptosis which precedes cell death. A very variable feature of cells is their functionality and depends on their specific genetic capabilities. These functions could be the ability to migrate, move, contract, conduct stimuli, generate or conduct electricity, pulse, produce and release metabolites, kill other cells, or phagocytose particles or pathogens. For most of these functional features, appropriate assays are available and could be employed to monitor for changes over time. During in vitro culture, DNA repair mechanisms of the cells may not be as effective as in the living organism. Hence, genetic stability of the cells may be less and the risk of mutations could be increased. If occurrence of culture-induced mutations is suspected, monitoring by PCR or sequencing techniques could be useful [8].

9.2 Cell Properties

9.2.1 Long-Term, Short-Term Culture and Long-Lived, Short-Lived Cells

Changes over time have to be taken into consideration especially if cells are kept in culture or co-culture for a longer period. Short-term cultures for up to 24 h hours are in most cases not too much affected by the aspects mentioned above. However, this also depends on the cell type which is employed. There are long-lived as well as short-lived cells. To illustrate this, white blood cells may serve as an example. While lymphocytes from peripheral blood can be cultured in vitro without any problems for weeks, in contrast, most of the granulocytes from the same sample will be dead after 24 h.

9.2.2 Reactivity (Stimulation, Sensitivity to Killing)

Success of a co-culture is also dependent on compatibility of the employed cells. In most of the cases, different cell types are compatible, which means they can be cultured together without affecting each other. For example, co-culturing mouse muscle cells and human nerve cells will be mostly harmless for both cell types. However, co-culture of immune cells could have significant effects on one or the other cell type. The outcome depends on the multifaceted ability to sense each other. Both cells might ignore each other due to lack of any cognate receptor ligand pairs. However, one cell might recognize its counterpart. This could, depending on the cellular capabilities of the two involved cells and their receptor and ligand equipment, respectively, result in activation of one, the other, or both cells through receptor/ligand triggering. Indeed, the ligand/receptor interaction could also lead to agony or tolerance. Furthermore, recognition of one cell could also induce destruction of the co-cultured cell. This could happen if the effector is a cytotoxic cell that senses a target cell (e.g., virus infected or tumor cell). It is obvious that these interactions, which will be explained below in more detail, significantly affect the co-culture system (see Intended Role of the Cultured Cells) [10].

9.2.3 Cell Origin

Growth kinetics and dynamics are affected by the cell source. Primary cell cultures are initiated by subjecting cells to culture directly after isolation from fresh blood or tissue samples. To initiate a primary cell culture can be difficult and may require much effort to define suitable culture conditions. After subculturing, the cells are termed secondary cells. In case of adherent cells, a subculture requires prior detachment by extracellular matrix protease treatment and seeding in an adjusted cell concentration which is termed passaging of the cells, and the passage number of the subcultured cells is increased accordingly. Maintaining secondary cells is easier than primary cells since culture circumstances are already established and cells might also be adapted to in vitro conditions. In most cases unproblematic is the culturing of cells obtained from tumors or artificially immortalized cells, respectively. These cells are characterized by an unlimited division capability providing hereby an inexhaustible source of cell material. Primary cells are closest to normal in vivo conditions, while secondary cells might already have undergone alterations in their genetic and phenotypical profiles.

Immortalized cells are unnatural and might considerably differ from the originating cells in all aspects, which have to be taken in account when using these cells for experiments. Most cells, regardless if primary, secondary, or tumorous, can be cryopreserved until usage. To this end, cells are stored in liquid nitrogen after resuspension in freezing media containing dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) as cryoprotectant. DMSO prevents the formation of intracellular ice crystals that would otherwise destroy the cells. Nevertheless, cell recovery after thawing is significantly less than 100%, and the cells are stressed by the freezing/thawing procedure. Therefore, cell growth and function can be delayed after thawing and might require some extra time to regain full functionality.

9.2.4 Cell Compatibility

If the different cells intended for co-culture stem from the same individual, the system is termed autologous. Since all cells have an identical makeup, no cellular sensing and challenging will occur in this setting. Even if immunocompetent cells are included, immune responses will not occur since immune cells develop under maturation pressure, which ensures that any potential autoreactive cells will be eliminated immediately after emergence.

Allogeneic means that cells of two or more individuals of the same species are involved. In contrast to protozoa, some lower species, and inbred animals, cells of all higher animals express individual patterns of surface proteins genetically encoded in the so-called major histocompatibility complex (MHC). These proteins are marked by a very strong individual variability making the individuals of a species unique and different from each other also on a cellular level. These individual patterns are of particular interest in cell and organ transplantation since disparity could result in graft rejection. A strong mutual activation of immune cells in a mismatched allogeneic co-culture is very likely, while nonimmune cells of the same donors can be co-cultured without any interference.

In a xenogeneic system, co-cultured cells stem from individuals of different species. This combination is difficult to envisage regarding the response of the cells exposed to foreign cells. Most probably, most cells of different species will not interfere with each other. In case of immune cells, the response patterns will mostly depend on the ability to sense foreign molecules on the co-cultured counterpart. However, like in the allogeneic system, activation of immune cells by xenogeneic stimulators is very likely.

9.3 Cell Ratios

When determining the optimal cell ratio for co-culture experiments, it has always to be considered that cells optimally grow and function at a certain specific cell density. Therefore, first, the optimal individual cell density has to be determined and then the ratio required for the particular experiment. If intended to mimic in vivo conditions, the ratio may be selected according to the in vivo conditions where, for example, type x cells may be ten times more than type y cells. In that respective experiment, a certain number of type y cells would then be co-cultured with ten times more type x cells. However, in vitro conditions cannot fully adapt any in vivo situation where cells are organized in tissues in which they reside and can also actively migrate. Different types of cellular movement can be distinguished including a slower mesenchymal mode of migration which is exhibited by fibroblasts or mesenchymal stroma/stem cells by strong substrate adherence, prominent stress fibers, and extended formation of protruding lamellipodia/ruffles at the leading edge. Alternatively, a faster amoeboid-like cell migration is utilized, e.g., by immune cells, and characterized by weaker adhesion, absence of stress fibers, and formation of actionrich pseudopods in the cellular fronts paralleled by myosin II-driven contractility in the rears. Migration is not a random process but mostly driven by gradients of chemicals such as chemokines which are released by other cells in the environment. By this mechanism, susceptible cells are recruited to the site of the highest chemokine concentration where the cells can then interact at a locally and temporarily much higher ratio between the interaction partners as compared to other areas of the same tissue. Since it is nearly impossible to simulate the complex cell interactions found in vivo, it is indispensable to find out the optimal cell ratios by trial and error for every experimental setting. Clearly, reasonable ratios have to be selected to give the cells a real physical chance for interaction.

9.4 Intended Role of the Co-cultured Cells

The intended role of each cellular partner in a co-culture experiment is of particular importance for planning the culture system. The employed cells could, for example, serve as stimulators, responders, feeder cells, target cells, competitors, transporters, and supporters.

9.4.1 Mixed Lymphocyte Reaction

Using cells as stimulators or responders is typical for mixed lymphocyte reactions (MLR) or mixed lymphocyte culture (MLC). In this case, PBMC of two different individuals are co-cultured for a few days, and proliferation is determined. This culture setup is called a two-way MLR as it allows both partners to respond to the stimuli offered by the other one. This means both cell fractions act as stimulators and responders at the same time. In contrast, in a one-way MLR, the proliferative capability of one cell suspension is prevented, for example, by irradiation. These cells can act only as stimulators, whereas the nonirradiated cells can respond with proliferation. MLR is a suitable assay to determine the foreignness of two individuals and hence useful to check for the ability of rejection in transplantation settings.

9.4.2 Cytotoxicity Assay

Cellular cytotoxicity assays also involve at least two partners which are called in this context effectors and targets instead of responders and stimulators, respectively. Principally, this assay is a short-term co-culture of effector and target cells. The effector cells are capable to lyse susceptible target cells, whereas the latter are not. Therefore, the targets don't have to be inactivated or irradiated prior to the assay. At the end of the assay, the percentage of dead cells are determined, for example, by measuring release of radioactive isotopes or using fluorochromes in flow cytometry. An important feature of this kind of assay is the selection of adequate E/T ratios. The standard natural killer (NK) cell cytotoxicity assay might serve as an example. This assay is normally performed by using different effector (E)/target (T) ratios spanning a range in which reliable results are expected. In the human system, for example, radioactive chromium-labeled K562 cells are used as targets. K562 is a human tumor cell line which lacks MHC-1 and is therefore susceptible only to NK cell-mediated killing. If pure NK cells (NK cell lines, clones, or sorted NK cells) are employed as effectors, E/T ratios of 10:1 or 5:1 will be optimal for lysing approximately 20 to 80 percent of the tumor cells as assessed by measuring the release of radioactive chromium. If PBMC are used instead of pure NK cells, the ratios have to be adapted in order to achieve comparable results. Since PBMC roughly contain 15% (one sixth) NK cells, six times higher E/T ratios such as 60:1 and 30:1 are used. Many researchers also include further E/T ratios (e.g., 15:1 and 7.5:1) since in most of the cases the exact number of NK cells is not known when the assay is started [6].

9.5 **Co-culture Manipulation**

Above, it is shown that the function within a cell mixture might be attributed to only one partner. This can be due to the natural different functional capabilities of the co-cultured cells (e.g., effectors can kill; targets cannot) or by inactivating one cell population, e.g., by irradiation. Further techniques for manipulating cell suspensions can be employed in coculture. Sometimes, it is wanted to eliminate defined cell subpopulations. This can effectively be facilitated by depletion using specific antibodies and respective fluorescence- or magnetic-based techniques. If the presence of a particular cell in a co-culture is irrelevant, however, the interaction with other cells is aimed to be suppressed; it might be suitable just to eliminate specific functional properties. This could be facilitated by blocking receptors or factors released by the cells by using small chemical inhibitors or blocking antibodies. It is also possible to directly suppress the expression of specific molecules, for example, by treating the cells with siRNA. On the other side, to investigate the importance of a particular molecule, it might be suitable to increase the expression of particular molecules by adding, for example, cytokines or by genetic transfection of the cells. In this regard, it is always to be considered that in most co-culture systems several different effects are induced. The stronger effects might then overweigh weaker signals making them invisible and become only apparent when the main effects are blocked. For example, in a recent study, the co-culture of human-activated monocytes with NK cells appeared ineffective at first glance. However, unraveling the different factors induced under co-culture conditions revealed that the activating effect of monocyte-released IP-10 on NK cell activity was outcompeted by immunosuppressive PGE2 which was concomitantly produced by the monocytes. Only by adding PGE2 blockers to the system the IP-10 mediated activation of the NK cells was uncovered [10].

The applications described above are used to directly manipulate the functional features of a cell population. Sometimes it is not necessary to interfere with the functional features of cells but to manipulate them just to allow the identification of specific cells. For this purpose, cells of interest can be stained with appropriate labeled antibodies allowing the identification in the suspension. Apart from that, separate cell fractions can also be permanently stained before combining in the co-culture. This can be achieved by using cell staining dyes like carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE), a fluorescent agent which is cell permeable and covalently binds to intracellular molecules establishing a permanent and stable staining without any so far described side effects. Alternatively, molecular biological methods could be applied such as introducing fluorescent dye genes [9].

9.6 Readouts After Co-culture

9.6.1 Cell Cycle Analysis

Co-culture is not an end in itself. Finally, readouts for the experiment are needed. As important as the effects that can be measured are suitable controls for each setting, for example, using the identical setting of the experiment but leaving the stimulus off. Moreover, controls for the co-culture may also include appropriate monocultures of the involved cellular partners at similar experimental conditions. Possible parameters that could be determined have been mentioned above. Briefly, this could be proliferation. Proliferation means cell division and occurs when cells get stimulated or as a result of tumorigenic transformation of cells. The cell cycle is divided into different phases G₀; G₁, S, G₂, and M. During the S or replication phase, the DNA is doubled which requires synthesis of new DNA. This step can be used for measuring DNA synthesis by adding a surplus of labeled nucleotides only present in DNA (not in RNA). Thymidine is such a nucleotide. Tagged with a radioactive isotope of hydrogen (³H, tritium), incorporated radioactivity of the DNA can be used as a measure of DNA synthesis directly corresponding to cell proliferation. Alternatively, nonradioactive methods have been established using, for example, fluorochrome-labeled bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), which is a chemical thymidine analogue that can be incorporated into synthesized DNA instead of thymidine. BrdU incorporation is determined by analyzing the fluorescence intensities of respective cells. More detailed cell cycle analysis can be performed after fixation of the cells in 70% of ice-cold methanol followed by staining with propidium iodide or DAPI. Both of these dyes enter the permeabilized membranes of the methanol-fixed cells and stain the nuclear localized DNA by intercalation. Afterward, these labeled cells can be analyzed by flow cytometry to distinguish the different phases of the cell cycle (G0/G1, S, and G2/M phase). Cell cycle analysis can be performed in separated cell populations after co-culture. If the DNA content of the co-cultured cell types displays significant differences (e.g., when a polyploid tumor cell line is co-cultured with normal diploid MSCs), a cell cycle analysis is even possible directly in the co-culture exhibiting different fluorescence values according to the corresponding cell cycle phases [11].

9.6.2 Analysis of Apoptosis

In contrast to proliferation, cells could also undergo apoptosis as a result of a co-culture. Cells might get apoptotic due to signaling via surface receptors containing death domains after binding to cognate ligands or by soluble factors released by the cellular counterpart (paracrine) or the apoptotic cell itself (autocrine). However, apoptosis could also be induced by strong activation as a physiological regulative mechanism which is called activation-induced apoptosis (AIA). This mechanism normally limits immune reactions in vivo to prevent damage. Apoptosis can, for example, be analyzed by flow cytometry by measuring the surface occurrence of phosphatidylserine as an early event of apoptosis or the intracellular active caspase-3 which is a key enzyme of the apoptotic pathway [12].

Take-Home Message

Each cell culture system requires specific conditions in terms of nutrients, growth factors, temperature, oxygen concentration, pH value, and cell density. Some cells (e.g., tumor cells) can be very easily maintained in culture, while others (e.g., primary cells) might be very fastidious. Once the optimal conditions are defined, most cultured cells can serve for days to weeks as continuous sources for experiments. Co-culture systems, however, are much more complex than just a mixture of two or more established mono cell cultures. General culture conditions of the different cells might be extremely contrary excluding any co-culturing. Growth kinetics of the partners could considerably differ eventually leading to overgrowing of one cell line. In case of immune cells, direct cellular interactions might result in cell stimulation, suppression, or even killing of cell populations. Therefore, optimizing co-culture conditions is indispensable and might take much longer than the initial experiment. Finally, one has to be aware that genetic and physiological changes of the cells may occur over time probably altering their functional features. Therefore, a careful evaluation of the results obtained from cell culture experiments is mandatory, and comparability with uncultured cells has always to be critically scrutinized.

References

- Chatterjee D, Marquardt N, Tufa DM, Hatlapatka T, Hass R, Kasper C, et al. Human Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Utilize Activin-A to Suppress Interferon-γ Production by Natural Killer Cells. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 16];5:662. Available from: http://www. pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4278046&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.
- Chatterjee D, Tufa DM, Baehre H, Hass R, Schmidt RE, Jacobs R. Natural killer cells acquire CD73 expression upon exposure to mesenchymal stem cells. Blood [Internet]. 2014 Jan 23 [cited 2014 Jan 23];123(4):594–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24458278.
- Chatterjee D, Marquardt N, Tufa D, Beauclair G, Low H, Hatlapatka T, et al. Role of gamma-secretase in human umbilical-cord derived mesenchymal stem cell mediated suppression of NK cell cytotoxicity. Cell Commun Signal [Internet]. 2014 Sep 30 [cited 2014 Oct 2];12(1):63–74. Available from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25266361.
- 4. Hass R, Kasper C, Böhm S, Jacobs R. Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): A comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Commun Signal CCS [Internet]. BioMed Central. 2011;9(1):12. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender. fcgi?artid=3117820&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.
- Hatlapatka T, Moretti P, Lavrentieva A, Hass R, Marquardt N, Jacobs R, et al. Optimization of culture conditions for the expansion of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem or stromal cell-like cells using xeno-free culture conditions. Tissue Eng Part C Methods. 2011;17(4):485–93.
- Jacobs R, Stoll M, Stratmann G, Leo R, Link H, Schmidt RE. No Title. Blood. Abt. fur Klinische Immunologie und Transfusionsmedizin, Medizinische Hochschule Hannover, Germany; 1992 Jun 15;79(0006– 4971 (Print)):3239–44.
- 7. Jacobs R, Schmidt RE. In: Schedlowski M, Tewes U, editors. Foundations in immunology. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers; 1999. p. 39.
- Jacobs R, Schmidt RE. Foundations in immunology. In: Schedlowski M, Tewes U, editors. Psychoneuroimmunology an interdisciplinary introduction. New York/Boston/Dordrecht/London/Moscow: Springer; 1999. p. 39–62.
- 9. Jacobs R, Schmidt RE. In: Sack U, Tarnok A, Rothe G, editors. Characterization of natural killer cells. Freiburg: S. Karger Verlag; 2009. p. 230.
- Müller C, Tufa DM, Chatterjee D, Mühlradt PF, Schmidt RE, Jacobs R. The TLR-2/TLR-6 agonist macrophage-activating lipopeptide-2 augments human NK cell cytotoxicity when PGE2 production by monocytes is inhibited by a COX-2 blocker. Cancer Immunol Immunother [Internet]. 2015 Jun 3 [cited 2015 Jun 3]; Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00262-015-1723-3.
- Otte A, Bucan V, Reimers K, Hass R. Mesenchymal stem cells maintain long-term in vitro stemness during explant culture. [cited 2017 May 23]; Available from: http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/ pdf/10.1089/ten.tec.2013.0007.
- Tufa DM, Chatterjee D, Low HZ, Schmidt RE, Jacobs R. TNFR2 and IL-12 coactivation enables slanDCs to support NK cell function via membrane-bound TNF-α. Eur J Immunol [Internet]. 2014 Sep 17 [cited 2014 Sep 17];44(12):3717–28. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25229755.
- Wendt K, Wilk E, Buyny S, Buer J, Schmidt RE, Jacobs R. Gene and protein characteristics reflect functional diversity of CD56dim and CD56bright NK cells [Internet]. J Leukoc Biol. 2006; 1529–41. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16966385.
- Weyand B, Dominici M, Hass R, Jacobs R, Kasper C. Mesenchymal stem cells: basics and clinical application I. In: Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology. Heidelberg/New York/Dordrecht/ London: Springer; 2013.
- Wilk E, Wendt K, Schmidt RE, Jacobs R. Different gene and Protein expression in CD56dim and CD56bright natural killer cells reflecting effector and regulatory functions. Immunobiol. 2004;208:92.



Automation of Cell Culture Processes

Jan Hansmann, Ivo Schwedhelm, Andreas Clementi, Dominik Egger, and Cornelia Kasper

10.1	Bioreactors in the Field of Cell Culture Technology – 156
10.2	Control of Cell Culture and Tissue Engineering Processes – 158
10.3	Mathematical Modeling and Simulations – 161
10.4	Finite Element Method – 164
	References – 168

What You Will Learn in This Chapter

This chapter gives insight into commercially available automated cultivation systems for cell culture technologies as well as the theoretical background of process automation and modeling. Exemplary bioreactor systems with sensors, actors, and process principles are described, ranging from the classical stirred tank reactor to more advanced perfused systems. Further, this chapter gives an introduction to principles of process modeling and simulation as well as a theoretical background in process automation and control.

10.1 Bioreactors in the Field of Cell Culture Technology

As discussed in previous chapters, there are different concepts in reactor design. Here we would like to give representative examples of commercially available systems in the field of cell culture technology. One promising candidate is the Mobius[®] (Merck Millipore) product family. It is a scalable platform of stirred tank bioreactors that provide flexibility by configuring software, hardware, and single-use assemblies for use in suspension and adherent cell culture applications, ranging from 3 to 2000 l in volume. The *Mobius 3 L* bioreactor was introduced in 2009 and thereby standing in the field of stirred single-use bioreactors between laboratory and pilot scale (see **•** Fig. 10.1).

This unbaffled bioreactor consists of a rigid plastic cultivation vessel with a total volume of 3 l, in which mixing is achieved by a marine impeller. The impeller's diameter is equal to 1/2 the tank diameter offering an off-bottom clearance of 0.028 m. The vessel has a diameter of 0.137 m with an H/D ratio of 1.82, and, for aeration, a microsparger (sintered polyethylene, 15–30 μ m pore size) is installed below the impeller [8]. The Mobius 3 L does not have built-in sensors and motor; instead compatibility with various process control

• Fig. 10.1 Mobius 3 L, a disposable stirred tank bioreactor for suspension and adherent cell culture applications. (Image kindly provided by Merck Millipore)



units is granted [3]. For instance, a control unit by ez-Control (Applikon Biotechnology) was already used successfully for measuring pH, DO, and temperature in a CHO suspension culture [5].

For wave-mixed bioreactors, the most widely used and commercially available systems are the WAVE^M bioreactors from GE Healthcare. A first version of the system was first introduced to the market in the 1990s as a disposable alternative to stainless steel bioreactors. It is operated outside of an incubator and consists of a single-use plastic bag filled with culture medium and cell inoculum, placed on a motorized platform. The platform performs a rocking motion, which provides excellent mixing and gas transfer without damaging fluid shear or gas bubbles [12]. Furthermore, the system is equipped with integrated sensor technology and control software to improve automation, reliability, and reproducibility.

Today different versions and scales of the wave-mixed bioreactor family are available to cover the needs of both research and GMP manufacturing applications [14]. The most recent WAVE bioreactor from GE Healthcare is the ReadyToProcess WAVE[™] 25 which can be seen in **I** Fig. 10.2. It is characterized by the 25 liter culture bag, an enhanced rocking motion, and features such as advanced sensors and intelligent control strategies.

• Fig. 10.2 The single-use ReadyToProcess WAVE 25 bioreactor system is a cell culture device for working volumes up to 25 L (Image kindly provided by GE Healthcare)





Fig. 10.3 Quantum[®] Cell Expansion System (Image kindly provided by Terumo BCT)

Commercial hollow fiber systems for adherent cell cultivation are also available, with the Quantum[®] Cell Expansion System (Terumo BCT) being the most advanced and widely used example. It is a GMP compliant, closed cell culture platform for adherent cells that uses hollow fibers to achieve a high surface-to-volume ratio (• Fig. 10.3).

The hollow fiber architecture used with the Quantum system contains about 11.500 single fibers, providing a 2.1 m² cell culture surface area, while occupying a total volume of only 180 ml. The same surface area can be achieved with 120 T-175 flasks, but requiring labor-intensive procedures baring risks of contamination. These challenges were resolved with the Quantum system by providing a high degree of automation which allows an adaptation to different cell culture tasks. Via a computer interface peristaltic pumps, fluid sensors and tubing valves are controlled by the user. Additionally, the two-loop system (intraluminal and extraluminal loop) facilitates cell or product harvest. For cell expansion of mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), this system allows to harvest $1.5-3 \times 10^8$ MSCs, but it also needs a high amount ($\sim 2 \times 10^7$) of initial cells and medium [10, 11]. Notably, the Quantum system performs well for clinical applications, but due to the large size and cost, its suitability for the research level is very limited.

10.2 Control of Cell Culture and Tissue Engineering Processes

Basic cellular activities are determined by extrinsic signals sent from the microenvironment in which the cells are embedded. Furthermore, cellular state and functions are influenced by external stimuli such as mechanical, biochemical, or electrical cues [7]. This fundamental mechanism must be considered when culturing cells in a bioreactor. Due to the sensitivity of cells to the provided culture conditions, bioreactor systems comprise control units to ensure reproducible culture conditions that mimic the physiological environment.

A bioreactor system can be interpreted as a dynamic system with in- and output signals (Fig. 10.4). Thereby, the system is represented by the state variables $\underline{x(t)}$ that are influenced by the input variables $\underline{u(t)}$. The output $\underline{y(t)}$ of a dynamic system is a combination of the state variables and can be a physical signal measured by a sensor or a biological



Fig. 10.5 Closed-loop control

parameter such as biomass or metabolite concentrations. In general, the in- and the output as well as the state variables can be scalars or vectors. Due to the relation between input u(t) and system state x(t), the input signals allow to control a dynamic system.

To ensure optimal process conditions, there are two types of control strategies: openand closed-loop control. An open-loop controller sets the input of a system independently from the system's output. This mechanism is relatively simple. However, it is only applicable for systems that are robust to external disturbances since deviations from the reference value are not detected and thus not compensated. The renewal of cell culture medium in a bioreactor on a timely basis is an example for an open-loop control application. Without measuring the actual nutrient concentrations, fresh medium restores the nutrients content in the bioreactor to a specific level. Over time, the cultured cells change the composition of the medium by consuming nutrients and releasing waste products. Thus, the medium renewal and the metabolic activity of the cultured cells can induce time-dependent changes of nutrient concentrations. Nevertheless, medium exchange on a timely basis has proven to be suitable for many cell lines and primary cells demonstrating the robustness of this procedure.

In contrast to open-loop control, closed-loop controllers set the input signals depending on the deviation of the system's output from reference value w(t) (**D** Fig. 10.5). Therefore, the system's output is monitored, compared to the reference values, and the control action is computed. Thus, this mechanism allows to detect and compensate external disturbances. An example for a closed-loop control application is the temperature control used in cell culture incubators. A temperature sensor measures the actual temperature in the incubator, and the controller drives a heating system to maintain the required temperature, usually 37 °C. A typical source of disturbance is an increased loss of heat when the incubator door is opened. Moreover, varying ambient temperatures require a controlled introduction of heat. In many cases, stable temperatures in an incubator can be achieved by a simple control mechanism, which is called two-point controller. When the measured temperature drops below a specific threshold, which is equal or lower than the required reference temperature, the heating system is activated. However, introduced heat is usually not controlled and depends on the heating power and the characteristics of the heated space. If the temperature rises above a second temperature threshold, which is higher than the first threshold value, the heating system is switched off. During operation, the temperature oscillates between the two threshold temperatures in the range of the required reference value.

A very frequently used controller that allows more consistent characteristics of the control value is the proportional-integral-derivative controller (PID controller) (Fig. 10.6). For a scalar system, a PID controller applies a correction to the system's input u(t) based on the continuously calculated error e(t) between the reference value and the measured system output. Thereby, the correction is the weighted sum of a proportional, an integral, and a derivative term of e(t). The controller can be adjusted to the given system by the parameters $k_{\rm p} k_{\rm p}$, and $k_{\rm D}$. While the proportional term accounts for the actual error, the derivative term accounts for the current rate change and thus for a predicted trend of the error. As the integral term can also prevent a permanent control deviation [6]. If the controller works properly, it minimizes e(t) over time and can even change unstable system dynamics into a stable behavior.

PID controllers do not necessarily require knowledge on the underlying process and are thus applicable for many tasks in different fields like engineering, biotechnology, or automotive. To adapt the controller on a specific process or to ensure robust control characteristics, heuristic tuning methods are described [13]. Therefore, defined input signals such as step functions are applied to the non-controlled system, and k_p , k_p and k_D are calculated from the response. For some systems, such as power plants or sensitive communication systems, applying a test function to the input is not possible due to safety or economic reasons. Here, a controller must be designed based on information on the respective process. To gain mechanistic understanding of the process to be controlled, computational modeling can be applied.





10.3 Mathematical Modeling and Simulations

Computer simulations facilitate to study complex systems by deriving functions that describe the system's dynamics. A transducer to measure the pressure in a bioreactor is an example for a modeling application. For simplification, it can be regarded as a spring and mass system (Fig. 10.7). In a pressure transducer, a small mass is moved from the resting position in dependency of the pressure $F_{\rm p}$ (N) that is monitored. A spring and a damper, both attached to the mass and the housing of the transducer, generate counterforces bringing the mass back to the resting position when the external force disappears. Therefore, the spring force F_{C} (N) acts in the opposite direction to the motion denoted by the position x(t). In addition to the spring, the damper dissipates energy from the system. The force $F_{\rm D}$ (N) induced by the damper reacts in the opposite direction to the velocity dx(t)/dt. The pressure transducer can be interpreted as a dynamic system, whereby the system's input is represented by the force $F_{\rm p}$ and the system's output is the resulting position x(t) of the mass m. In a real transducer, this position is subsequently converted into an electrical signal. The dynamics of the transducer, and thus the signal transmission, is determined by the mass m (kg), the spring constant C (N/m), and the damper constant D (Ns/m).

Applying Newton's law, a differential equation revealing the connection between the system parameters and the system dynamics can be derived.

$$\Sigma F = m \frac{d^2 x(t)}{dt^2} = F_{\rm C} + F_{\rm D} + F_{\rm P}$$
$$m \frac{d^2 x(t)}{dt^2} = -Cx(t) - D \frac{dx(t)}{dt} + F_{\rm D}$$

Thereby, $md^2x(t)/dt^2$, Cx(t), and Ddx(t)/dt represent the transducer dynamics, whereas F_p denotes the external input. Depending on the systems parameter *m*, *C*, and *D*, the obtained ordinary differential equation of second order can exhibit a free oscillatory behavior or oscillatory characteristics with an amplitude gradually decreasing to zero. Moreover, when exceeding a critical damping, also an asymptotic behavior is possible [2].



Fig. 10.7 A spring and mass system in a pressure transducer



Fig. 10.8 Model for cells cultured in a perfusion bioreactor

In addition to physical systems such as the described pressure transducer, also biological aspects of cell culture processes can be addressed by mathematical modeling and simulation. An example is the growth of adherent cells in a perfused bioreactor (Fig. 10.8).

In this example, cells are embedded in a porous scaffold avoiding that cells are removed from the culture volume $V_{\rm R}$ (m³). Over time, cells proliferate depending on the nutrients $C_{\rm S}$ (g/m³) as well as the cell concentration $C_{\rm C}$ (g/m³), respectively. The proliferation results in an increase of biomass $C_{\rm C}$ and additionally in the production of waste products $C_{\rm W}$ (g/m³). In the given example, the presence of waste products entails a decrease of the cell concentration. Cell proliferation and cell death are characterized by the reaction rates r_1 (m³/g/s) and r_2 (m³/g/s). To prevent high waste product concentrations and to provide a sufficient amount of nutrients, the bioreactor system is perfused with cell culture medium with a nutrients concentration $C_{\rm S0}$ (g/m³) at the bioreactor inlet. Hereby, $Q_{\rm in}$ (m³/s) denotes the inlet flow rate. Outflowing medium with a flow rate of $Q_{\rm out}$ (m³/s) at the bioreactor outlet contains both soluble components, nutrients and waste products in the respective concentrations. For the model, $C_{\rm C}$, $C_{\rm S}$, and $C_{\rm W}$ represent the state variables of the dynamic system. Based on the model assumptions and the reaction rates, the bioreactor can be described by a system of differential equations:

$$\frac{dC_{\rm C}}{dt} = r_1 C_{\rm S} C_{\rm C} - r_2 C_{\rm C} C_{\rm W} \tag{10.1}$$

$$\frac{dC_{\rm S}}{dt} = \frac{Q_{\rm in}}{V_{\rm R}} C_{\rm S0} - r_{\rm I} C_{\rm S} C_{\rm C} - \frac{Q_{\rm out}}{V_{\rm R}} C_{\rm s}$$
(10.2)

$$\frac{dC_{\rm W}}{dt} = r_{\rm l}C_{\rm S}C_{\rm C} - \frac{Q_{\rm out}}{V_{\rm R}}C_{\rm W}$$
(10.3)

The first differential equation represents the change of the biomass and considers cell growth and cell death with the respective rates r_1 and r_2 . Hereby, cell growth induces a

163



Fig. 10.9 Qualitative time course of the cell concentration C_c , the nutrients concentration C_s , and the waste product concentration C_w

positive change indicated by the positive sign, whereas cell death decreased the biomass concentration, indicated by a negative sign. To note, only if both species, cells and nutrients, or cells and waste products are present, the two products are greater than zero and contribute to the concentration change. The second differential equation describes the change of the nutrients. In addition to the consumption of nutrients for cell growths, nutrients are introduced or removed by inlet or outlet volume flow. Finally, the third differential equation accounts for the production of waste products and the removal thereof due to the bioreactor perfusion.

By using a numerical solver, the solution of the differential equation system can be computed following the definition of initial values for the three species. When assuming that at the beginning of the culture process only a small amount of biomass and no nutrients as well as no waste products are present in the bioreactor, a typical time course for C_C , C_S , and C_W is depicted in • Fig. 10.9. Initially, the nutrient concentration increases quickly, whereas the cells remain in a lag phase. Following this lag phase, the cell concentration rises rapidly and entails a strong increase of waste products. The high proliferation of cells consumes high amounts of nutrients. Due to the waste products, the cell concentration reaches a maximum and decreases gradually to a steady-state level.

The initial transient behavior depicts the dynamic of the process; however for reallife applications, the steady state is of higher interest. The steady-state solution reveals the productivity of the bioreactor run at the given parameters. For many processes, the steady-state solution can be calculated analytically by setting the changes of the concentration to zero:

$$0 = r_1 C_S C_C - r_2 C_C C_W$$
(10.4)

$$0 = \frac{Q_{\rm in}}{V_{\rm R}} C_{\rm S0} - r_{\rm I} C_{\rm S} C_{\rm C} - \frac{Q_{\rm out}}{V_{\rm R}} C_{\rm s}$$
(10.5)

$$0 = r_1 C_S C_C - \frac{Q_{\text{out}}}{V_R} C_W$$
(10.6)

Thereby, the system of differential equations is converted into a system of nonlinear equations. The solutions for C_C , C_S , and C_W are shown in \blacksquare Fig. 10.9. Interestingly, the analytical solution of the system for steady-state conditions clearly reveals the impact of the technical parameters such as the reactor volume V_R or the perfusion rate Q on the final cell concentration, which allows the optimization of the investigated cell culture process. Although the described mathematical model facilitates mechanistic understanding, it renders a simplification of the real cell culture experiment. For example, concentrations in the bioreactor were assumed as homogeneous and the fluid dynamics were neglected. To study such aspects, sophisticated finite element method (FEM) is available.

10.4 Finite Element Method

The FEM is based on numerical procedures to approximate the solution of complex processes that are represented by partial differential equations [4]. The principle of the FEM is to divide a mathematical model into a number of smaller parts – the finite elements – which are easier to handle compared to the initial model. To solve the mathematical problem, all finite elements are converted into a system of equations. In its practical mode of operation, the FEM includes the generation of a mesh, whereby the mesh elements are associated to small spatial areas in the system of interest.

An example for a FEM application is the characterization of the fluid dynamics inside a bioreactor that is used to culture cells on a scaffold under shear stress conditions (Fig. 10.10). The system comprises several in- and outlet ports for the perfusion with the medium. The scaffold or tissue is mounted in the middle of the bioreactor and thereby separates two



Fig. 10.10 Computer-aided design of a flow bioreactor. Left, explosion view; top right, collapsed view; bottom right, FEM mesh applied to the reactor geometry

165

• Fig. 10.11 FEM-based simulation on the fluid velocity field inside the reactor during operation



fluid compartments. While in operation, cells on the scaffold are exposed to pressure and mechanical shear stress that dictate tissue development [9]. However, due to the complex geometry of the bioreactor, the correlation between flow conditions and mechanical stress on the scaffold is difficult. Nevertheless, this problem can be investigated by FEM. In a first step, the geometry data of the bioreactor is harnessed to create a three-dimensional mesh that subdivides the domain of interest into a finite number of elements (**■** Fig. 10.10).

Thereby, the fluid inside the bioreactor is the relevant domain for the prediction of the mechanical culture conditions, whereas the solid bioreactor components represent boundary domains. Following the definition of the model geometry, the underlying physics must be applied to the respective domains. In this case study, the Navier-Stokes equation solving for laminar fluid flow is applied to the fluid domain, representing the traveling cell culture medium. For the simulation, also model parameters such as material properties like the fluid density or viscosity are required in addition to the temperature or pressure. The definition of boundary and initial conditions finally allows to derive the solution (Fig. 10.11). In general, the solution can be a steady-state solution or a time-dependent transient solution that usually entails higher computational costs. The computation of the steady-state solution is based on a system of equations, while the transient solution is characterized by a system of ordinary differential equations [1].

The FEM is also a powerful tool to optimize the design of a bioreactor system by evaluating different reactor geometries *in silico* prior to manufacturing. In contrast to experimental design optimization, the FEM-based approach is more cost- and time-efficient and provides information on physical problems that are hardly accessible by experimental approaches. For example, **©** Fig. 10.12 depicts the flow dynamics of three different bioreactor designs. The first design lacks a homogeneous shear stress distribution across the cell-seeded scaffold (red arrow). By increasing the width of the flow chamber, shear stress heterogeneity can be reduced. However, turbulences at the inlet region (yellow arrow) as visible for the second design indicate undefined culture conditions, e.g., when introducing a cell suspension during seeding. The third design is optimal regarding shear stress distribution on the scaffold surface and alignment of the streamlines. Therefore, the incoming medium is guided through the bioreactor by a very smooth flow compartment with no sharp edges.



Fig. 10.12 Fluid flow simulations on a variety of fluid bed designs

Besides the general optimization of the bioreactor's flow chamber, FEM computations are also a powerful predictive tool when systematically assessing mechanical parameters. For instance, the physical shear stress that primarily occurs on the scaffold surface is dictated by the height of the flow chamber above the scaffold membrane. Here, it is of main interest to characterize the magnitude of shear stress depending on the flow chamber geometry. To investigate this dependency, most FEM software tools offer the possibility to perform a sequential parametric sweep of one or more parameters of interest. In this case, the channel height is defined as geometric design parameter h (mm), and its value is altered throughout a set of otherwise unchanged subsequent flow simulations. The resulting shear stress pattern for a channel height of 1 mm, 2 mm, and 3 mm, respectively, is indicated by objective color code in **•** Fig. 10.13. Naturally, the parameter value resolution can be adjusted to the required amount. However, a higher resolution of the parameter leads to a proportional increase of simulations and is thus a time-consuming effort. It is therefore necessary to carefully consider the parameter sweep interval in order to achieve a good and time-efficient data readout.

The obvious strength of parametric sweeps lies in its unlimited flexibility of test values. In this example, only the channel height is defined as sweep parameter. However, additional parameters, e.g., inlet flow velocity, fluid temperature, and system pressure, can be defined, and every parameter combination will result in a separate solution of the fluid flow regime. Due to the convenient testing of multiparameter combinations, parametric sweeps are highly useful during designing and optimizing bioreactor vessels.

The result of a parametric sweep study is a readout factor in dependency of the respective design parameter (Fig. 10.14). The solution dimension is determined by the number of investigated parameters. stress



Fig. 10.14 Exemplary interpolation as a result of channel height h parametric sweep on shear stress τ inside the flow reactor at constant flow rate



Take-Home Message

Although cell culture and tissue engineering have a strong biological and medicinal focus, methods from engineering sciences have been proven valuable. The mathematical interpretation, e.g. by analytical or numerical modeling, offers answers to complex biological questions. Even advanced cultivation systems can be broken down to single components, which play their part in one or more control loops. Understanding the technical as well as the biological dynamics is crucial to the automation of bioprocesses.

References

- 1. Bhatti MA. Fundamental finite element analysis and applications. Hoboken: Wiley; 2005.
- 2. Brennan M, Carrella A, Waters T, Lopes V. On the dynamic behaviour of a mass supported by a parallel combination of a spring and an elastically connected damper. J Sound Vib. 2008;309(3):823–37.
- Cierpka K, Elseberg CL, Niss K, Kassem M, Salzig D, Czermak P. HMSC production in disposable bioreactors with regards to GMP and PAT. Chem Ing Tech. 2013;85:67–75.
- 4. Dhatt G, Lefrançois E, Touzot G. Finite element method: Wiley: London, UK; 2012.
- 5. Eibl R, Kaiser S, Lombriser R, Eibl D. Disposable bioreactors: the current state-of-the-art and recommended applications in biotechnology. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2010;86:41–9.
- 6. Goodwin GC, Graebe SF, Salgado ME. Control system design. Upper Saddle River: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2001.
- Hansmann J, Groeber F, Kahlig A, Kleinhans C, Walles H. Bioreactors in tissue engineering—principles, applications and commercial constraints. Biotechnol J. 2013;8(3):298–307.
- 8. Kaiser SC, Eibl R, Eibl D. Engineering characteristics of a single-use stirred bioreactor at bench-scale: the Mobius CellReady 3L bioreactor as a case study. Eng Life Sci. 2011;11:359–68.
- Kleinhans C, Mohan RR, Vacun G, Schwarz T, Haller B, Sun Y, Kahlig A, Kluger P, Finne-Wistrand A, Walles H. A perfusion bioreactor system efficiently generates cell-loaded bone substitute materials for addressing critical size bone defects. Biotechnol J. 2015;10(11):1727–38.
- Lechanteur C. Large-scale clinical expansion of mesenchymal stem cells in the GMP-compliant, closed automated quantum[®] cell expansion system: comparison with expansion in traditional T-flasks. J Stem Cell Res Ther. 2014;4:222.
- Rojewski MT, Fekete N, Baila S, Nguyen K, Fürst D, Antwiler D, Dausend J, Kreja L, Ignatius A, Sensebé L, et al. GMP-compliant isolation and expansion of bone marrow-derived MSCs in the closed, automated device quantum cell expansion system. Cell Transplant. 2013;22:1981–2000.
- 12. Singh V. Disposable bioreactor for cell culture using wave-induced agitation. Cytotechnology. 1999;30(1–3):149–58.
- 13. Smith CA, Corripio AB. Principles and practice of automatic process control. New York: Wiley; 1985.
- 14. Somerville RP, Devillier L, Parkhurst MR, Rosenberg SA, Dudley ME. Clinical scale rapid expansion of lymphocytes for adoptive cell transfer therapy in the WAVE[®] bioreactor. J Transl Med. 2012;10(1):1.